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CHARACTERISTICS OF GEM OF THE STOCK
EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG LIMITED (THE “STOCK
EXCHANGE")

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to accommodate small
and mid-sized companies to which a higher investment risk may be
attached than other companies listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange. Prospective investors should be aware of the potential
risks of investing in such companies and should make the decision to
invest only after due and careful consideration.

Given that the companies listed on GEM are generally small and
mid-sized companies, there is a risk that securities traded on GEM may
he more susceptible to high market volatility than securities traded on
the Main Board of the Stock Exchange and no assurance is given that
there will be a liquid market in the securities traded on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Stock Exchange take no
responsibility for the contents of this report, make no representation as to its
accuracy or completeness and expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever for
any loss howsoever arising from or in reliance upon the whole or any part of the
contents of this report.

This report, for which the directors (the “Directors”) of TREE Holdings Limited
(the “Company”) collectively and individually accept full responsibility,
includes particulars given in compliance with the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on GEM of the Stock Exchange (the “GEM Listing Rules”) for the
purpose of giving information with regard to the Company and its subsidiaries
(collectively, the “Group”). The Directors, having made all reasonable enquiries,
confirm that to the best of their knowledge and belief, the information
contained in this report is accurate and complete in all material respects and
not misleading or deceptive, and there are no other matters the omission of
which would make any statement herein or this report misleading.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
ERE®E

To our Shareholders

CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT

After sixteen years of being established in Hong Kong, our Group is one of the
leading lifestyle furniture and home furnishing companies in Hong Kong. In
Hong Kong, we operate under the brand name “TREE", and engage in (i) the sale
and distribution of furniture and home accessories; (i) the operation of TREE
Café at the Group's flagship store in Hong Kong; (iii) the provision of styling and
consulting services; and (iv) the provision of a furniture rental business. We
also operate sale and distribution through a licensing agreement in the People’s
Republic of China (the “PRC").

Our wholly-owned subsidiaries, Hong Kong lItaliving International Co. Limited
("HK Italiving”) and Shanghai Italiving International Co., Ltd. ("Shanghai
Italiving”) focus on the sourcing and distribution of high-end Italian furniture
made in Italy. HK Italiving and Shanghai Italiving have offices in Hong Kong,
Shanghai and ltaly to maintain a unique merchandising network with Italian
furniture manufacturers, and offer a wide variety of furniture products
to individuals and wholesale customers, as well as undertaking projects
throughout the PRC.

The general market conditions and the operating environment continued to be
challenging in 2020/2021, impacted by the COVID-19 pandemic. On behalf of
the Board of Directors (the “Board”), | am pleased to present the annual report
of TREE Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (together with
the Company (the “Group”)) for the year ended 31 March 2021.

FINANCIAL RESULTS

For the year ended 31 March 2021, the total revenue of the Company was
approximately HK$120.6 million, an increase of approximately HK$29.4 million,
mainly attributable to an increase in sales of furniture and home accessories
including via our online sales platform, and also revenue contributed by
Shanghai Italiving. The overall gross profit margin of the Group decreased
from approximately 71.6% to 61.6%. The decrease of margin was mainly due
to the highly competitive trading environment in the PRC particularly this year,
resulting in the margin level of Shanghai Italiving pulling down the overall gross
profit margin of the Group.

The growth of the Group’s furniture agency service revenue also slowed down,
impacted by the COVID-19 outbreak globally.

Amidst all these challenges, we are pleased to report that the Group has
recorded a profit for the year attributable to equity holders of HK$14.6 million,
which is HK$9.3 million or 179.1% higher than the last financial year of HK$5.2
million.

The Company has proposed a final dividend of HK0.8 cent per share for the
financial year ended 31 March 2021 (2020: Nil). The Company intended to make
a stable dividend return to reward its shareholders.

TREE HOLDINGS LIMITED Z& =2 8% 5 PR 4 7 Annual Report 4F % 2021
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THE FUTURE

While | am writing this statement we are still operating within a challenging
environment globally due to the uncertainty of the COVID-19 situation. It is
therefore difficult, given the uncertainty to predict the market sentiment, and
our industry continues to be challenged with highly competitive retail market
conditions with many retailers relying on heavy discounting to generate
retail sales. However, we remain positive that the pandemic situation will
improve and this will be reflected in a more positive retail sentiment. We will
continue to take advantage of growth opportunities to improve our competitive
positioning.

THE FINAL NOTE

The Group is proud of the TREE brand that was founded in Hong Kong and
has grown with heart and integrity over the last sixteen years. Now, as a
much loved and trusted source of beautiful, high quality furniture and home
furnishings in Hong Kong, we are pleased to have expanded our business
to include an increasingly successful online business, a broader portfolio
of products and services as well as continuing to identify and maximise
opportunities in the PRC.

On behalf of the Board, we would like to thank all TREE staff members, our
suppliers, partners and, of course, our customers for their continuous support of
TREE. We would also like to express our sincere thank you to all the scientists,
doctors, nurses and health-care professionals who have made incredible
sacrifices to fight against COVID-19.

Tong Tang Joseph
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
22 June 2021
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BUSINESS REVIEW

Headquartered in Hong Kong and operating under the brand name “TREE",
we engage in (i) the sale and distribution of furniture and home accessories;
(i) the distribution and licensing of our intellectual property rights; (iii) the
operation of TREE Café in our flagship store in Ap Lei Chau (the “Flagship
Store”); (iv) consignment sales of home accessories and furniture agency
services; (v) the provision of styling and consulting services and (vi) provision
of furniture rental business. We offer a variety of (a) furniture including tables,
chairs, storage solutions, sofas and beds; and (b) home accessories including
kitchenware, bed and bathroom related products, jars, cushions, mattresses,
utensils and baskets. In addition, we acquired, Hong Kong Italiving International
Co. Limited ("HK Italiving”) in December 2018, and it is principally engaged
in the provision of furniture agency service in Hong Kong. Furthermore, a
subsidiary, Shanghai Italiving International Co., Ltd. (“Shanghai Italiving”),
was incorporated in July 2019, and it is principally engaged in the sale and
distribution of furniture and home accessories, and the provision of styling and
consulting services in the People's Republic of China (the “PRC").

As at the date of this report, we operated two “TREE" retail stores in Hong
Kong namely, our Flagship Store and our Sha Tin store. Our Yuen Long store
ceased operation in March 2021. We have commercial online sales since May
2019.

During the year ended 31 March 2021, we generated revenue from the (i) sale
of furniture and home accessories; (i) distribution and license fee income;
(iii) operation of TREE Café; (iv) consignment sales of home accessories and
furniture agency service; (v) provision of styling and consulting services; and (vi)
provision of furniture rental service. The table below sets forth a breakdown of
our revenue for the years ended 31 March 2021 and 2020:

BEER WA

¥ EE
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BB JE ) A 48 % TREE Café : (iv) 5 JE B2 8 &7 & K2 R
BERIERE : VIRERET R A RE & (vi) 12 #
FEMEER - BHMREHEHZEQRE  BEX
B WA TR DBERK RIOREREH -
BREEEAR AKAERAZHEER ®TF - %
2R ZBARETF o I BIFIR2018F12
AREBESEZIHERBBESARAR(ES
BEHR) EFERERAEBRERERRE
RIS o boh B AR EBERERESHAR
Nl ([LEEEEN]) R2019F 783
ERENFEAREMNB(HEADHEER D #H
FERRERMIARRBERRARDBHRRS -

RAREBH  BHOR BB L EME[TREE] =&
JE - BNBEMEE R A MG o JTEBRE R2021F3 A
IFEE - HFR2019FAMEMLEHE -

REZE201F3ANALEFE  BAHKRERAIN
FRERRELAEE (1D HERFUEBRA:
(iii) 4% % TREE Café : (iv) R /& BL &8 &5 & R B2
AR7% : (VIR LR ET R A AR 75 ¢ K (vi) 1R R 1B
HERS o TRE| VI P8 £20214F 2202043
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Year ended 31 March

BZ3ANALEE
2021 2020
20215 20204F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FAET
Sale of furniture and home accessories HEXRELKER 97,321 70,721
Distribution and license fee income D REFREBEIRA 3,200 3,286
Food and beverage income B kSR mBA 2,964 2,611
Commission income Ak A 14,573 13,616
Consulting income RN 2,493 869
120,551 91,103

For the year ended 31 March 2021 (“FY2021"), our revenue amounted to
approximately HK$120.6 million, representing an increase of approximately
HK$29.4 million or 32.3% from approximately HK$91.1 million for year ended 31
March 2020 (“FY2020"). Such increase was mainly attributable to the increase
in sale of furniture and home accessories via our online sales platform and
Shanghai Italiving and the increase in consulting income.

B E2021F3A3H EFE (2021 RFEE]) - &
U 2= %) A12068 B8 7T - BE 2202093 A
3B IEFE (20208 BEFEE ) 499118 &8 T 1500
492948 BB T E323% TERBENFERK
ERMIES(EREAMNBELHEETFAR LE
BIEERETE)AMB WAL -
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEER WA

HERERXELE

TREEXFZERERE TINHBERMNTEENTER
FililEBRMANEBLEFETETENTS « /1
EENEEHEE  Ri)BRFAOFTRD#HE - /D
DHEEE - MRFR LEEEERAFTEE
FHEREZAFMRE - TERE#AT2021H B FE
K200 R FEMRERKERAEEHA

Sale of furniture and home accessories

TREE primarily sells its products to (i) retail customers who visited our retail
stores; and (i) customers who placed orders via our online platform being
the Direct Sales in Hong Kong; and {iii) our distributor in the PRC, being the
Distribution Sales. And during the year, Shanghai Italiving generate sales of
luxury Italian furniture to its customers in the PRC. The following table sets
forth a breakdown of our sale of furniture and home accessories for FY2021 and
FY2020, respectively.

2021 2020
20215 20204F
% of total % of total
revenue from revenue from
sale of furniture sale of furniture
and home and home
Revenue accessories Revenue accessories
HEERE 1 E RE
R RE & R R EBL &R
BN B =
W = Aok W & Bt
HK$°000 % HK$'000 %
TET Bk FET Bt
Direct Sales in Hong Kong EBNEEHE
Retail store!" TEEN 68,980 70.8 65,428 925
Online sales and non-retail sales 49 FHE N IETEEE 5,597 5.8 3,582 5.1
Sub-total NEE 14,571 76.6 69,010 97.6
Distribution Sales DEHEE 4,451 4.6 1,71 24
Sales via Shanghai ltaliving &R EBREXH
ETHE 18,293 18.8 — —
Total st 97,321 100.0 70,721 100.0
Note: M 5 -
) Our retail stores include our Flagship Store, Sha Tin store and Yuen Long store. (1) TEEREEEE - DBE/ERITEE - THE

Our Yuen Long store ceased operations in March 2021. RN FIAFILEE -
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEER WA

For FY2021, revenue generated from the Direct Sales was approximately
HK$74.6 million, representing an increase of approximately HK$5.6 million or
8.1% from approximately HK$69.0 million for FY2020.

For FY2021, revenue generated from the Distribution Sales amounted to
approximately HK$4.5 million, representing an increase of approximately 2.7
million or 160.1% from approximately HK$1.7 million for FY2020.

For FY2021, revenue generated from Shanghai Italiving amounted to HK$18.3
million for the sale of luxury Italian furniture to its PRC customers.

Distribution and license fee income

We entered into distribution agreements with our PRC distributor, and we are
entitled to receive annual non-refundable fees of HK$0.8 million and HK$2.4
million from our PRC distributor for the distribution of our products in Beijing
and Hainan province, the PRC, respectively. In June 2021, we received a notice
from our PRC distributor that they will not review the distribution agreement
upon the expiry on 30 June 2021. We are actively looking for a new partner to
be our PRC distributor.

We entered into license agreement with American Tree, Ltd. ("American
Tree”), pursuant to which, we granted an exclusive licence to American Tree
to use certain trademarks and intellectual property of our Group in the United
States and Canada for a term of three years from the Listing on 25 January
2018, for a license fee based on the revenue of American Tree. We served
notice to American Tree to terminate the license agreement in November 2020,
and hence there was no license fee income from American Tree for FY2021
(FY2020: HK$86,000).

QOur distribution and license fee income was approximately HK$3.2 million
for FY2021 and HK$3.3 million for FY2020, respectively, representing
approximately 2.7% and 3.6% of our total revenue for FY2021 and FY2020,
respectively.

Food and beverage income
Our food and beverage income generated from operating TREE Café in our
Flagship Store was approximately HK$3.0 million and HK$2.6 million for FY2021
and FY2020, respectively. The increase was mainly due to more customers
visited the Flagship Store for FY2021.

Commission income

Our commission income comprised income generated from (i) the furniture
agency service by HK Italiving and (i) the sales of consignment goods. The
increase of approximately HK$1.0 million was mainly contributed by HK
[taliving.

TREE HOLDINGS LIMITED Z& =2 8% 5 PR 4 7 Annual Report 4F % 2021
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Consulting income

Our consulting income comprised income generated from providing styling
ideas, advising on furniture to be used and conducting site visits and sourcing
trips for projects. During FY2021, the Group provided more styling and
consulting services to our PRC customers via Shanghai Italiving.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

The Group's revenue increased to approximately HK$120.6 million for FY2021
from approximately HK$91.1 million for FY2020, representing a growth of
approximately 32.3%. Such increase was mainly due to the sales of furniture
and home accessories via our online sales and Shanghai Italiving, and increase

in consulting income.

Gross profit and gross profit margin

Our overall gross profit increased to approximately HK$74.2 million for FY2021
from approximately HK$65.3 million for FY2020. Qur overall gross profit margin
dropped to approximately 61.6% for FY2021 from approximately 71.6% for
FY2020 mainly due to a lower gross profit margin of Shanghai Italiving due to
the highly competitive trading environment in the PRC.

Our gross profit margin for the sale of furniture and home accessories dropped
to approximately 53.3% for FY2021 and approximately 66.7% for FY2020. Our
gross profit margin for the Distribution Sales was approximately 50.0% for
FY2021 and approximately 50.1% for FY2020, which remained relatively stable.

Our gross profit margin for the sale of food and beverages increased to
approximately 69.7% for FY2021 and approximately 64.3% for FY2020.

Selling and marketing expenses

Our selling and marketing expenses comprise (i) rental payments and
depreciation of right-of-use assets; (ii) staff costs attributable to the salary of
our staff engaged in sales and marketing activities; (iii) marketing expenses; (iv)
payment gateway charges attributable to fees for our payment channels such
as credit cards or EPS; and (v) electricity and water expenses.

Our selling and marketing expenses amounted to approximately HK$37.8
million for FY2021, representing an increase of approximately HK$4.1 million
or approximately 12.3% from approximately HK$33.7 million for FY2020. Such
increase was mainly due to the increase of selling and marketing expenses in
Shanghai ltaliving to approximately HK$3.2 million for the promotion of the
business in the PRC.

BEER WA
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEER WA

Administrative expenses

Our administrative expenses comprised (i) staff costs for our administrative
staff and Directors’ emoluments; (i) professional fees which included legal
fees, consultancy fees and auditor’s remuneration; (iii) travel expenses; (iv)
office expenses; (v) depreciation of our property, plant and equipment, and
amortisation of our intangible assets; (vi) repairs and maintenance for our trucks
and retail stores; (vii) insurance expenses which included business insurance,
vehicle insurance and medical insurance; (viii) recruitment expenses which
included fees to the recruitment agents and advertisements on websites; (ix)
bank charges; (x) handling fee; and (xi) others which included motor vehicle
expenses, net foreign exchange losses and entertainment expenses.

For FY2021, our administrative expenses amounted to approximately HK$18.9
million, representing a slight decrease of approximately HK$0.4 million or
approximately 2.3% from approximately HK$19.4 million for FY2020.

Fair value change on contingent consideration payable
Fair value change on contingent consideration payable amounted to HK$2.6
million is the fair value recognised in profit or loss on contingent consideration
payable for FY2021.

The fair value of the contingent consideration payable may be affected by
the post-acquisition performance of the HK Italiving. The fair value was
determined by the management with reference to the valuation performed by
an independent external valuer. As the Company has already recorded a total
of HK$39.5 million purchase consideration for the acquisition of HK Italiving up
to 31 March 2021, and the maximum potential fair value loss on the contingent
consideration payable for FY2022 would be approximately HK$0.5 million.

Finance costs

Finance costs mainly comprised interest expenses on interest-bearing
borrowings and finance charges on lease liabilities. Finance costs increased to
approximately HK$1.3 million and as compared to approximately HK$0.7 million
for FY2021 and FY2020, respectively. The increase was due to the increase in
average bank borrowings.

Income tax expense

Income tax expense for the Group increased to approximately HK$3.3 million
for FY2021 from approximately HK$2.4 million for FY2020. The increase was
mainly due to the increase in estimated assessable profits.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Profit for the year

Our Group recorded an increase in profit by approximately 179.1% from
approximately HK$5.2 million for FY2020 to approximately HK$14.6 million for
FY2021.

KEY FINANCIAL POSITION ITEMS

Inventories

Our inventories consisted of finished goods and goods in transit which we
purchased from our suppliers. The inventories balance slightly increased to
HK$11.8 million as at 31 March 2021 from approximately HK$11.6 million as at
31 March 2020.

Trade and other receivables

Our trade receivables consisted of trade receivables from customers and
payment vendors. As at 31 March 2021 and 2020, our trade receivables
amounted to approximately HK$42.6 million and HK$43.1 million, respectively.
The decrease of approximately HK$0.5 million was mainly due to the increase in
ECL allowance.

Our other receivables consisted of rental deposits, utilities deposits, trade
deposits, prepayments, and prepayment to a related company. As at 31 March
2021 and 2020, our other receivables amounted to approximately HK$13.8
million and HK$9.4 million, respectively. The increase was mainly due to more
prepayments were made to our suppliers in order to secure the orders.

Bank balance and cash

Bank balance and cash include cash at bank and in hand. As at 31 March 2021
and 2020, our bank balance and cash amounted to approximately HK$29.1
million and HK$16.8 million, respectively. For the details of cash movement,
please refer to the consolidated statement of cash flows on page 69.

BEER WA

F R
7R % 81915 i ) 320208 B 4F [ 49508 B8 7T

EINA1791% 22021 B F ELH1U46EE BT °

ERBEMRRIEE
ﬁ»ﬂs
BN TERERMAEERBEENN R RE
BEM - FEE&%BE2020F3IANEN6EE S
TEHIE 20213 A3NBEMNSE &E T °

ESRHMEKRE
BMNEBESRRFBRERERELP R TR
Lm’%ﬁﬁ@%ﬁ%ﬁ%u&mlﬁ ° FA20214F [ 202043 A 31
B B5RWIES A RL268 &% T k431
BEBL B i@oﬁéﬁ%ﬂ};;ﬁamﬁﬁﬂ
EERBEEBELN -

%Fﬁm/ﬁtﬂﬂréuﬁz pEAeE: 2BARK

Bo5%e iﬁﬁ NI KRB —RE AR
,TAIE 202149 ) 202093 A318 » EAth EURFRIA
DRIKABBEEB T RIVEEST EEHRN
3 00 1 FE P TE A SRIE A RE(R BT & o

ﬁE {i— nA ﬁ'% &EE %
RITEBKRERSBERROTLFAENES - 1

2021 K 202093 A31H » SRITER KR E D RIL
B2NIBEEBLNSEESTTL  BEEESE
MR BHRHENENSEAREERER -

TREE HOLDINGS LIMITED 25 R#Z R BBR 2 & Annual Report £ 3R 2021



14

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEER WA

Trade and other payables

Our trade payables consisted of trade payables to suppliers in relation to the
purchase of goods. There were no credit periods granted by our suppliers. As
at 31 March 2021 and 2020, our trade payables amounted to approximately
HK$4.1 million and HK$7.3 million, respectively.

Our other payables comprised accrued charges, consideration payable which
represent the unpaid cash consideration for the acquisition of HK Italiving, and
provision for long service payments. As at 31 March 2021 and 2020, our other
payables amounted to approximately HK$21.5 million and HK$15.5 million,
respectively. The increase was mainly due to the redesignation of contingent
consideration payable as consideration payable of HK$17.3 million based on
the audited results of HK Italiving for FY2020 which remained unpaid as at 31
March 2021.

Contract liabilities

Our contract liabilities mainly represented unrecognised revenue from
customers where delivery of products is required and pending. As at 31 March
2021 and 2020, our contract liabilities amounted to approximately HK$12.1
million and HK$4.7 million, respectively. The increase was mainly due to the
increase of more advance payments made by customers.

Bank borrowings

As at 31 March 2021 and 2020, our Group recorded bank borrowings of
approximately HK$8.8 million and HK$5.7 million, respectively. The increase
in bank borrowings was mainly due to the drawdown of a new bank facility
granted to HK Italiving.

Lease liabilities

As at 31 March 2021 and 2020, our Group recorded lease liabilities of
approximately HK$13.8 million and HK$20.2 million, respectively. Such decrease
was due to the payments for lease liabilities. As at 31 March 2021, our Group
has entered into leases for warehouse, office, shop premises and motor
vehicles.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

As at 31 March 2021, the Group had total assets of approximately HK$138.3
million, which is financed by total liabilities and Shareholders’ equity of
approximately HK$67.9 million and HK$70.4 million, respectively. The
Group's current ratio at 31 March 2021 was approximately 1.7 compared to
approximately 1.8 at 31 March 2020.

Gearing ratio
The gearing ratio of the Group as at 31 March 2021 was approximately 32.1%
while as at 31 March 2020 was approximately 46.7%.

The gearing ratio is calculated based on the total borrowings and lease
liabilities, divided by total equity at each reporting date.

Capital expenditure

Total capital expenditure for FY2021 was approximately HK$0.4 million, which
was mainly used for the purchase of furniture and fixtures and leasehold
improvements.

Contingent liabilities
As at 31 March 2021, there were no significant contingent liabilities for the
Group.

Commitments
As at 31 March 2021, the Group has HK$0.1 million operating lease
commitments (2020: Nil).

As at 31 March 2021, there were no capital commitments of the Group related
to purchase of property, plant and equipment (2020 Nil).

Charges on Group assets
As at 31 March 2021, right of use assets with net book value of approximately
HK$13.9 million were held under lease arrangements (2020: HK$20.5 million).

Segment information
Segment information is presented for the Group as disclosed on Note 4 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEER WA

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

The shares of the Company were successfully listed on GEM of the Stock
Exchange on 25 January 2018. There has been no change in the capital
structure of the Group since then. The share capital of the Group only comprises
of ordinary shares.

As at 31 March 2021, the Company's issued share capital was HK$15,840,000
and the number of its issued ordinary shares was 1,584,000,000 of HK$0.01
each.

DIVIDENDS

The Directors recommend a final dividend of HK0.8 cent per share in cash. The
proposed final dividend is subject to shareholders approval at the forthcoming
annual general meeting of the Company. The proposed final dividend is
expected to be distributed on Wednesday, 25 August 2021 to shareholders
whose names appear on the Register of Members of the Company on
Wednesday, 11 August 2021.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The register of members of the Company will be closed during the following
periods:

(@) from Thursday, 29 July 2021 to Tuesday, 3 August 2021 (both days
inclusive), for the purpose of ascertaining shareholders’ entitlement to
attend and vote at the 2021 AGM. In order to be entitled to attend and
vote at the 2021 AGM, all completed transfer documents accompanied
by the relevant share certificates must be lodged with the Company's
branch share registrar in Hong Kong, Tricor Investor Services Limited of
Level 54, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong no later
than 4:30 p.m. (Hong Kong Time) on Wednesday, 28 July 2021; and

(b)  from Monday, 9 August 2021 to Wednesday, 11 August 2021 (both days
inclusive), for the purpose of ascertaining shareholders’ entitlement to
the proposed final dividend. In order to be qualified for the proposed
final dividend, all completed transfer documents accompanied by the
relevant share certificates must be lodged with the Company’s branch
share registrar in Hong Kong, Tricor Investor Services Limited at the
address as set out in subparagraph (a) above no later than 4:30 p.m.
(Hong Kong Time) on Friday, 6 August 2021.

During the periods mentioned in sub-paragraphs (a) and (b) above, no transfer of
shares will be registered.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS, MATERIAL
ACQUISITIONS OR DISPOSALS OF SUBSIDIARIES
AND ASSOCIATED COMPANIES

There was no significant investments, material acquisitions or disposals of
subsidiaries and associated companies during FY2021.

FUTURE PLAN FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS AND
CAPITAL ASSETS

Save as disclosed herein, the Group did not have any concrete plan for material
investments or capital assets for the coming year.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

In the course of conducting business, our Group is exposed to various types
of risks, including operational risks, credit risks, liquidity risk and interest
rate risks. Our Group has established a set of risk management policies and
measures to identify, evaluate and manage risks arising from our operations.

The followings set out some of the primary operational risks our Group faces
that may materially and adversely affect our Group's business, financial
condition and results of operation and our risk management measures:

1.  Risk of remaining competitive in a highly

fragmented and competitive market

The lifestyle furniture and home furnishing market is highly fragmented
and competitive with low barriers to entry, and there are no specific
market leaders. Our competitors may have greater financial, marketing,
personnel and other relevant resources compared to us. In particular, the
pricing strategies implemented by our competitors may affect the pricing
of our products. If our competitors significantly reduce their product
prices, we may have to reduce our selling prices or engage in further
marketing to remain competitive. This would likely reduce our revenue
and profitability.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEER WA

Risk of dependent on the shift in customer’s tastes
and preferences

Due to the nature of the furniture retail industry, the customers generally
purchase our products on an infrequent basis. Apart from the PRC
distributor, there is no purchase commitments from our customers and
there is no obligation for them to purchase any products from us in the
future. There is a risk that we may not be able to attract new customers
or existing customers to purchase our products if we fail to successfully
track changing customers tastes and preferences and market trends.

Risk of failure in expanding sales network to new
locations in Hong Kong or through online platform

It may take longer than expected for the new stores to reach breakeven
or achieve investment payback, if at all. There is no guarantee that we
will execute our expansion plans according to business strategies in the
prospectus of the Company dated 12 January 2018 (the “Prospectus”)
successfully, or that we will be able to attract more customers from our
expansion. If we fail to execute our expansion plans, our operations and
results of operations will be materially and adversely affected.

Risk of not entering into any long-term contracts
with our major suppliers

We rely on our major suppliers to supply products to us and we do not
have any long-term contracts with these suppliers. As such, we are
exposed to the risks such as unexpected price fluctuation, shortage of
supply of products, failure to meet our agreed delivery time and refusal
to supply products. In such case, we would have to look for alternative
suppliers and we may not be able to do so in a timely manner and/or
at a similar price with comparable quality. Further, if we fail to replace
our major suppliers when our business relationship is disrupted or
terminated, we may face a shortage in supply of certain products and
our business and results of operations may be adversely affected as a
result.

The Group is also exposed to a variety of financial risks which comprise credit
risk, liquidity risk and interest rate risk.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

FOREIGN CURRENCY RISK

As our Group’s revenue and expenses are mainly denominated in HK$ and
most of our Group’s assets and liabilities are denominated in HKS$, which is our
functional currency, except for certain overseas purchases, bank balances, bank
borrowings which are denominated in Euro or USD. During FY2021, the Group
has net exchange gain of approximately HK$0.7 million (FY2020: net exchange
loss of approximately HK$0.8 million).

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICY

As at 31 March 2021, the Group had a total of 79 employees. Total staff costs,
(including Directors” emoluments) of approximately HK$23.2 million for FY2021
(FY2020: approximately HK$21.9 million).

The Group's remuneration policies were determined with reference to the
performance, qualification and experience of individual employee, as well as
the results of the Group and the market conditions. We have also adopted the
share option scheme which is designed to provide incentives and rewards to our
employees.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS HELD

Except for investments in subsidiaries, the Group did not hold any significant
investments during FY2021.

FUTURE PROSPECTS

This forthcoming financial year will continue to be challenging as retail market
conditions remain competitive and weak consumer confidence and spending
in Hong Kong prevails while impacted by the outbreak of the COVID-19. These
factors will continue to impact our performance adversely for the forthcoming
year. We will continue to focus on running our two TREE retail stores and
also our e-commerce platform in Hong Kong. We will continue to consolidate
and invest to build on our existing revenue streams while identifying new
opportunities.

The Group has also strengthened its income base and expanded the products
offered within its portfolio by providing furniture agency services for furniture
imported from Italy, primarily to customers in the PRC. The Group continues to
look for ways to provide comprehensive services to customers in Hong Kong
and the PRC.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEER WA

USE OF PROCEEDS

The net proceeds from the Listing in January 2018, after deducting the
underwriting fees, the Stock Exchange trading fee and the Securities
and Futures Commission of Hong Kong (the “SFC") transaction levy and
other listing-related expenses in connection with the Share Offer, were
approximately HK$20.3 million.

The original allocation of proceeds from the Share Offer, the utilisation and
remaining balance of the proceeds as at 31 March 2021, are summarised
below:

Planned use of Date to 31 March

FREREFZE

RR20184F1 7 L1 & P 15 50 8 % B (R 4 5k 8 35
B BRXARZERBAESFRIESEHESR
ZES(RESDXIBBUNRBHERN BE
MEM ETEBRSR)NRN0IBEET -

Pt 3% 5 PR IS SRR R A 2 B 77 20 R 7R 20214
SANAWMBRIERBBER KRBT

Actual use of
Net Proceeds
from the Listing

Revised
allocation of the
unutilised Net

Unutilised
Net Proceeds up

Uses Net Proceeds 2021  to 31 March 2021 Proceeds
rHR#MZE
20214 HEZ2021F RBA
3ENAMH 3A318 FERE
FBRERE MEXRETFE ALWNXTA FENALHEBH
& STEAR ERAZR FBREFRE AEAR
HK$ million HK$ million HKS$ million HKS$ million
BEABT BEAT BEAT BE8AT
Expand our sales network BAEMOEERE 145 6.5 8.0 (8.0)
Promote and strengthen brand 12 F+ I b 58 & k2 7 % &
image and recognition MEZE 2.1 2.1
Enhance styling and consulting 2 2 1 89 2% 51 &
services and distribution R RE A K&
sales DHEETIE 18
Enhance operational RAEERR
efficiencies 1.9
Settlement of the future RUMBEBEASEZHR
consideration payable in SRR EMKE
relation to the acquisition of
HK ltaliving 8.0
Total @at 20.3 12.3 8.0

The Board having considered the business environment and the development
of the Group (in particular the political and social unrest in 2019 and the
outbreak of the COVID-19 in the PRC and Hong Kong), resolved to change the
use of the unutilised net proceeds of approximately HK$8.0 million for the
settlement of the future consideration payable in relation to the acquisition (the
“Acquisition”) of HK [taliving, which was completed on 31 December 2018,
as disclosed in the disclosable transaction acquisition announcement dated
17 December 2018. The Group expects to settle an amount of approximately
HK$17.3 million within one month from the date of the audited account of HK
Italiving for the year ending 31 December 2020 in relation to the Acquisition.
The settlement of the future consideration payable will be expected in the third
quarter of 2021, subject to the further approval by the Board of Directors.

The expected timeline for utilising the unutilised net proceeds is based on the

best estimation of the present market situations in Hong Kong made by the
Board.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Tong Tang Joseph (/& %), aged 61, is our Chairman, Chief Executive
Officer our Executive Director and the Chairman of the Nomination Committee.
He was appointed as our Director on 22 April 2016 and designated as our
Chairman and Non-Executive Director on 6 September 2016 and re-designated
as a Chairman, a Chief Executive Officer and Executive Director of the Company
on 1 August 2019. He is also a Director of TREE Limited. He is responsible for
supporting our Group on a strategic level.

Mr. Tong has more than 33 years of experience in the financial industry. Mr.
Tong was an Executive Director of Sun Hung Kai & Co. Limited (stock code: 86),
a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, from December
2003 to January 2016. He also held various senior positions at Sun Hung Kai &
Co. Limited from December 2004 to January 2016 such as the Chief Executive
Officer of its wealth management, brokerage and capital markets and the Chief
Executive Officer of its capital markets and institutional brokerage. Mr. Tong
was also a Director of Bali International Finance Limited (now known as Sun
Hung Kai Structured Finance Limited) from March 2004 to January 2016. From
July 2013 to July 2016, he was an Independent Non-Executive Director of Carry
Wealth Holdings Limited (stock code: 643), a company listed on the Main Board
of the Stock Exchange.

Mr. Tong was a Non-Executive Director and the Chairman of the Nomination
Committee of Mason Group Holdings Limited (stock code: 273), a company
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, from April 2016 to January
2018. He was Chairman of the Board of Directors of Mason Group Holdings
Limited from April 2016 to September 2016, and Joint Chairman from
September 2016 to January 2018. He was also a substantial shareholder of
Mason Group Holdings Limited from May 2016 to December 2017. Mr. Tong was
also an Independent Director of Jih Sun Financial Holdings Company Limited
(stock code: 5820), the shares of which are listed on the Taipei Exchange in
Taiwan, between 2009 and June 2019.

Mr. Tong obtained a degree of Bachelor of Social Sciences (Honours) from
the University of Hong Kong in November 1982 and a degree of Master of
Business Administration from The Chinese University of Hong Kong in October
1988. He was admitted as a member of the Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants in November 2000 and advanced to fellowship status in November
2005.
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Ms. Mary Kathleen Bahington, aged 50, is our Executive Director, Managing
Director and a member of our Nomination Committee. She was appointed as
one of our Directors on 9 March 2016, and designated as our Chief Executive
Officer and Executive Director on 6 September 2016. From 1 August 2019, Mr.
Tong Tang Joseph took over the Chief Executive Officer role on the board. She
joined our Group in February 2010 as the Managing Director of TREE Limited
and is also a Director of TREE Limited. Ms. Babington is responsible for the
strategy of TREE Limited and for the implementation on an operational level,
across all functions including but not limited to internal management, human
resources, marketing, merchandising, sales and delivery.

Ms. Babington has more than 25 years of experience in the retail industry.
From May 1993 to January 2010, Ms. Babington worked in The Body Shop
International PLC.

In February 1993, Ms. Babington graduated from the University of Central
Lancashire in the United Kingdom with a degree of Bachelor of Arts (Honours) in
Business and Finance. In November 1996, she obtained a Certificate in Applied
Professional Studies from the University of Brighton in the United Kingdom. She
obtained a degree of Master of Arts in Marketing from the Kingston University
in the United Kingdom in October 1998. In November 2003, Ms. Bahington
completed the social systems auditor/lead auditor training course provided by
SGS Hong Kong Limited.

Ms. Babington became an Associate (corporate) of the Chartered Institute of
Marketing in the United Kingdom in December 1996. She was also admitted
as a Member of the Chartered Institute of Marketing in the United Kingdom in
November 1998.
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Mr. Tsui Wing Tak (#& #4£), aged 39, is our Executive Director, a member
of our Remuneration Committee and our Compliance Officer. He was appointed
as our Director on 9 March 2016 and designated as our Executive Director
on 6 September 2016. He joined our Group in June 2015 as a Director of Tree
Limited. Mr. Tsui is responsible for managing the financial matters of our Group.

Mr. Tsui has more than 15 years of experience in the accounting and corporate
field. Mr. Tsui has been the Chief Executive Officer of AE Majoris Advisory
Company Limited which is principally engaged in the provision of corporate
advisory services, since January 2012. He was the Company Secretary of
Noble House (China) Holdings Limited (now known as Zhonghua Gas Holdings
Limited) (stock code: 8246), a company listed on GEM, from July 2013 to August
2014. From August 2004 to January 2012, Mr. Tsui worked in an international
accounting firm in Hong Kong with his last position as a Manager in auditing.
Mr. Tsui was a Non-Executive Director of CCT Land Holdings Limited (stock
code: 261), a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, from
January 2017 to April 2018. Mr. Tsui has been the Company Secretary of Ching
Lee Holdings Limited (stock code: 3728), a company listed on the Main Board of
the Stock Exchange, since 14 August 2017. Mr. Tsui has been the Non-Executive
Director and Company Secretary of Jiu Zun Digital Interactive Entertainment
Group Holdings Limited (stock code: 1961), a company listed on the Main Board
of the Stock Exchange, since February 2019.

Mr. Tsui was appointed by the Embassy of the Republic of the Uganda in Beijing
as Honorary Trade, Tourism and Investment Consultant/Adviser on China (Hong
Kong and Macau SAR) from November 2016 to June 2019.

Mr. Tsui was appointed as a member of the Chinese People’s Political
Consultative Conference of Qinzhou City in Guangxi Province in China since
December 2019.

Mr. Tsui was appointed by the Ministry of Foreign Affairs and Regional
Integration of the Republic of Ghana as Honorary Consul of Ghana in Hong Kong
in March 2020.

Mr. Tsui graduated from The Hong Kong University of Science and Technology
with a degree of Bachelor of Business Administration (Honours) in Accounting
in November 2004. He was admitted as a Certified Public Accountant and a
Certified Public Accountant (Practising) of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants in January 2009 and January 2012, respectively.
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NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. Bian Dahai (32 KX %), aged 46, was appointed as our Non-Executive
Director on 1 October 2020.

Mr. Bian has over 21 years’ experience in business management and project
investment. Mr. Bian is active in various industries, including but not limited to
the chain catering, hotel management, internet and technology, smart home
and smart elderly care industries. The Board believes that Mr. Bian's wide range
of experiences will bring new energy to the Board and therefore further improve
the business performance of the Group.

Mr. Bian is currently and has been the executive director and legal
representative of Beijing Savings Credit Investment Management Co., Ltd.
(St R fEEE R E EIEE R QA since November 2015, the director of
Shandong Bonds Silver City Network Technology Co., Ltd. (1L 52 1 &% 4R % 48
4 =L 5 A PR 72 7)) since September 2017, the director of Zibo Shizuyuangi
Hotel Management Co., Ltd. (3 1% tt & JR 25 )8 JE & 32 B BR 2 §)) since
December 2017 and the director of Zibo Subaosu Catering Management Co.,
Ltd. (36 1 & B 2 & 8k & 12 5 R 2 7)) since December 2017.

In September and October 2018, Mr. Bian passed the Licensing Examinations
for Fund Practitioners in respect of fund laws and regulations, professional
ethics and private equity investment funds organised by Asset Management
Assaociation of China.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Yeung Man Chung Charles (%5 32 &), aged 53, was appointed as
our Independent Non-Executive Director on 25 January 2018. He is also
the Chairman of our Audit Committee and a member of our Remuneration
Committee and Nomination Committee. He is responsible for giving
independent advice to our Board.

Mr. Yeung has over 25 years of experience in accounting, auditing and financial
management. Mr. Yeung has been the Chief Financial Officer and an Executive
Director of GCL-Paly Energy Holdings Limited (“GCL-Poly”) (stock code: 3800),
a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange since May and
September 2014, respectively, responsible for its financial management and
control. He has also been the Company Secretary of GCL-Poly since March 2017.
Since September 2015, Mr. Yeung has also been a Non-Executive Director of
GCL New Energy Holdings Limited (stock code: 451), a company listed on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange. He is also a director of Millennial Lithium
Corp., a company with its shares listed on the TSX Venture Exchange in
Canada.

From May 1994 to March 2014, Mr. Yeung worked at Deloitte China with his
last position being a Partner. From January 2008 to December 2008, Mr. Yeung
was a part-time member of the Central Policy Unit of the Government of Hong
Kong.

Mr. Yeung obtained a degree of Bachelor of Business with a major in
Accounting from Edith Cowan University in Australia in February 1992. He was
admitted as an associate and a certified practising accountant of the Australian
Society of Certified Practising Accountants in February 1992 and January 1996,
respectively. He was also admitted as a certified public accountant of the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants in June 1996.
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Mr. Tsang Wai Yin (& £ B), aged 60, was appointed as our Independent
Non-Executive Director on 25 January 2018. He is also a member of our
Audit Committee and Nomination committee. He is responsible for giving
independent advice to our Board.

Mr. Tsang has extensive expertise in commercial building and interior
architecture and has over 23 years of experience as a leader of design team in a
broad variety of projects. Mr. Tsang has been a Director of AGC Design Limited
since November 1999.

Mr. Tsang graduated from the University of Hong Kong with a degree of
Bachelor of Arts (Honours) in Architectural Studies in November 1982 and
a degree of Bachelor of Architecture in November 1985. He also obtained a
degree of Master of Business and Administration from the University of Toronto
in Canada in June 1992.

Mr. Tsang was admitted as a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Architects
and elected into membership of the Royal Institute of British Architects
in December 1986 and July 1987, respectively. He was also admitted as a
professional member of the Hong Kong Interior Design Association in 2001
and was a founding member of the World Association of Chinese Architects in
April 2004. Mr. Tsang was accredited a PRC Class 1 Registered Architect of the
National Administration Board of Architectural Registration (Qualification) in
August 2004, and admitted as an APEC Architect by the Central Council of the
Asia Pacific Economic Cooperation in December 2015. He currently holds the
Certificate of Registration of Authorised Person (list of architects) issued by the
Building Authority in Hong Kong and is a registered architect in Hong Kong.

Mr. Tsang is appointed by the Government of Hong Kong as a member of the
Architects Registration Board for the period from May 2016 to May 2020.
He was also appointed by the Government of Hong Kong as a member of the
Contractors Registration Committee Panel from January 2004 to December
2008. He was a member of the Authorised Persons Registration Committee
and the Authorised Persons Registration Committee Panel of the Buildings
Department from January 2006 to December 2011, and an alternate member
of the Advisory Committee of Barrier Free Access of the Buildings Department
from July 2007 to July 2009.
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Mr. Sit Hoi Wah Kenneth ( & & % ), aged 62, was appointed as our
Independent Non-Executive Director on 25 January 2018. He is also the
Chairman of our Remuneration Committee and a member of our Audit
Committee and Nomination Committee. He is responsible for giving
independent advice to our Board.

Mr. Sit has over 33 years of experience in the legal profession. He is a
practicing solicitor and Notary Public in Hong Kong. Mr. Sit was the sole-
proprietor of Kenneth Sit, Solicitors from October 2004 to October 2012,
and has been the Managing Partner of that firm since October 2012. Mr. Sit
has been an Independent Non-Executive Director of Pokfulam Development
Company Limited (stock code: 225), a company listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange, since October 2005 and Zijin Mining Group Co., Ltd. (stock
code: 2899 and 601899), a company dually listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange and the Shanghai Stock Exchange, during 2013 to 2019.

Mr. Sit graduated from the University of Hong Kong with a Bachelor of Laws
(Honours) in 1980 and was awarded the Postgraduate Certificate in Laws by the
University of Hong Kong in July 1981. He was admitted as a solicitor in Hong
Kong in March 1983.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT
Mr. Kong Chi Tong (3T 2{ E ), aged 39, is the Senior Merchandiser of TREE
Limited. He is responsible for product sourcing of TREE Limited.

Mr. Kong has over 11 years of experience in merchandising. Before joining
our Group in September 2011, he worked at a number of companies, including
(i) OVO Limited from April 2006 to February 2008 as a Merchandiser; and
(i) Impact Creation Limited from July 2004 to January 2006 as an Assistant
Merchandiser.

Mr. Kong obtained a degree of Associate of Arts in General Studies and
a degree of Bachelor of Business Administration (Honours) in Business
Management from the City University of Hong Kong in November 2003 and
November 2005, respectively.

Ms. Tang Wai Chun Annie (812 '), aged 53, is the Personnel Officer of
TREE Limited. She is responsible for the administration and human resources
affairs of TREE Limited.

Ms. Tang has over 16 years of experience in administration, human resources
and personnel management. Before joining our Group in March 2009, she
worked at a number of companies, including (i) Café O Limited from April 2008
to March 2009 as a human resources Assistant, primarily responsible for
human resources matters; (i) Stanley’s Restaurants for at least 6 years ending
December 1996 as a Personnel and Administration Officer and a Personal
Assistant to the Chief Executive and Directors, primarily responsible for
updating and improving the personnel policies of the company, and dealing with
all day-to-day personnel administration; and (iii) the Repulse Bay Restaurants
from May 1989 to April 1990 as an Administration Coordinator, primarily
responsible for all of the administration and personnel affairs of over 100
employees.

Ms. Tang obtained a Diploma in Hotel Management from Swiss Hotel &
Catering Colleges in Switzerland in April 1988.
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COMPANY SECRETARY
Mr. Lam Yiu Cho (#K#848), aged 39, is our Company Secretary. He joined our
Group in March 2016.

Mr. Lam has more than 15 years of experience in the accounting and corporate
industry. Since March 2016, Mr. Lam has been working for AE Majoris
Advisory Company Limited. From August 2008 to February 2016, Mr. Lam
worked at First Pacific Company Limited with his last position being Corporate
Development Manager in the corporate development department, responsible
for overseeing mergers and acquisitions projects of the company. From January
2006 to August 2008, Mr. Lam worked at Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu with his
last position being Senior in the Audit Department. From September 2004 to
January 2006, Mr. Lam worked at Ernst & Young as Staff Accountant in the
assurance and advisory business services department.

Mr. Lam graduated from The Hong Kong University of Science and Technology
with a degree of Bachelor of Business Administration (Honours) in Accounting
in November 2004. He was admitted as a Certified Public Accountant and a
Certified Public Accountant (Practicing) of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants in February 2008 and January 2018, respectively.

COMPLIANCE OFFICER

Mr. Tsui Wing Tak is our Compliance Officer. Details of the qualification and
experience of Mr. Tsui have been disclose in the paragraph headed “Executive
Directors” of this section.

AUTHORISED REPRESENTATIVES

Mr. Tsui Wing Tak and Mr. Lam Yiu Cho are the authorised representatives of
our Company.
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INTRODUCTION

We are committed to achieving and maintaining high standards of corporate
governance, as our Board believes that good and effective corporate
governance practices are key to obtaining and maintaining the trust of the
Shareholders of the Company and other stakeholders, and are essential for
encouraging accountability and transparency so as to sustain the success of the
Group and to create long-term value for the Shareholders of the Company.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company is committed to fulfilling its responsibilities to the Shareholders
and protecting and enhancing Shareholders’ value through good corporate
governance. Qur Directors recognise the importance of good corporate
governance in management and internal procedures so as to achieve effective
accountability.

The Company has applied the principles and code provisions in the Corporate
Governance Code (the “CG Code”) and Corporate Governance Report as set
out in Appendix 15 to the GEM Listing Rules. In the opinion of the Board, save
as Code Provision A.2.1 of the CG Code, the Company has complied with the CG
Code during FY2021.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the required standard of the code of conduct for
dealings in securities of the Company by the Directors as set out in Rules
5.46 to 5.68 of the GEM Listing Rules. Having made specific enquiries to
all Directors, all Directors confirmed that they have fully complied with the
required standard of dealings and the code of conduct regarding securities
transactions by Directors adopted by the Company, and there was no event of
non-compliance throughout FY2021.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Composition

The Company is committed to the view that the Board should include a
balanced composition of Executive, Non-Executive and Independent Non-
Executive Directors so that there is an independent element on the Board,
which can effectively exercise independent judgment.

As at the date of this Annual Report, the composition of the Board is set out as
follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. Tong Tang Joseph (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Ms. Mary Kathleen Babington

Mr. Tsui Wing Tak

Non-Executive Director
Mr. Bian Dahai (appointed on 1 October 2020)

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Mr. Yeung Man Chung Charles

Mr. Tsang Wai Yin

Mr. Sit Hoi Wah Kenneth

The biographical details of each of the Directors are set out in the section
headed "Directors and Senior Management” of this Annual Report.

Responsibilities and Functions of the Board

The Board is primarily responsible for overseeing and supervising the
management of the business affairs and the overall performance of the
Group. The Board sets the Group's mission and standards and ensures that the
requisite financial and human resources support are in place for the Group to
achieve its objectives.

The Board has established Board committees and has delegated to these
Board committees various responsibilities as set out in their respective terms
of reference which are published on the respective websites of GEM and
the Company. The Board may from time to time delegate certain functions
to senior management of the Group if and when considered appropriate.
The management of day-to-day operation of the Group’s businesses and
implementation of the business plans, strategies and policies adopted by the
Board has been delegated to the senior management of the Group.
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The functions performed by the Board include but are not limited to the
following matters:

° formulating the Group’s strategy and direction and monitoring the
implementation thereof;

° deciding all material contracts, acquisitions, investments, divestments,
disposals of assets or any significant capital expenditure;

. approving of the Group's consolidated financial statements, published
reports, price sensitive announcement and other disclosure required
under the GEM Listing Rules;

° developing, monitoring and reviewing the Group’s corporate governance
practices and the effectiveness of the Group's financial controls, internal
control and risk management systems;

° Board appointment and other major appointments or removal; and
° monitoring the performance of the management.

The Directors have full and timely access to information and accounts of the
Group and are entitled to seek independent professional advice in appropriate
circumstances at the Company's expense.

Independent Non-Executive Directors

In compliance with Rule 5.05(1), 5.05(2) and 5.05A of the GEM Listing Rules,
the Company has appointed three Independent Non-Executive Directors
representing more than one-third of the Board and at least one of whom has
appropriate professional qualifications, or accounting or related financial
management expertise.

The Company has received from each Independent Non-Executive Director an
annual confirmation of his independence, and the Company considers such
Directors to be independent in accordance with each and the various guidelines
set out in Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules.

Directors’ and Officers’ Insurance
Proper insurance coverage in respect of legal actions against the Directors’
liability has been arranged by the Company.

TREE HOLDINGS LIMITED Z& =2 8% 5 PR 4 7 Annual Report 4F % 2021

ELZeRTHRERKETRRATEE:

s HIEFREENRBRTE  AREREH

BEwER:

s REMBERAHN  WHE - KE HWE -
HEBEREMNEREAF:

s WMEASBENGEAMBIRE CETIHR
& REHERENGEM LR BRE R
HMHWE:

o  HIF EEERIAKRENLEERTR
ARAEENI R ARMEEREAR

EEBRARTAY:
s EFXEWNZOARHMEIBZRITHEL R
s HEREHEMRRA-

EENHMEIAEHNAEENENEERE 1
EREHEBRTSKBUYNEESER  EH
AR RQE EE -

BAUKHITEE

8 FRGEM _E T #8 Al 855.05(1) ~ 5.05(2) &2 5.05A 16 AT 32
FARRCEA-EZBUBITES  (hE
FeRBEABR=ZDZ— UL MEFEL—F
BEBEENEEER  NEAGBSHBENE
BEBEIENG -

ARRBRB GEBIERNTEESHEB LM
EH &) FEHER K » R IEGEM £ #7 A 85.091%
FE S EETRIES  ARARAZSES
BB AL -

EERGERAERR
ADREEERBRZH  RESERERTH
MR R GOEE R -



33

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

DIRECTORS’ TRAINING AND PROFESSIONAL
DEVELOPMENT

To assist Directors’ continuing professional development, the Company
recommends Directors to attend relevant seminars to develop and refresh their
knowledge and skills. Directors also participate in continuous professional
development programmes such as external seminars organised by qualified
professionals, to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills in relation to
their contribution to the Board. All Board members have received Directors’
training hosted by a law firm which was about, inter alias, the GEM Listing
Rules, Companies Ordinance and Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “"SFQ").

From time to time, the Company Secretary updates and provides written
training materials on the latest developments of applicable GEM Listing Rules
and regulations to the Directors.

All the Directors also understand the importance of continuous professional
development and are committed to participate any suitable training to develop
and refresh their knowledge and skills.
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MEETINGS OF BOARD AND DIRECTORS'
ATTENDANCE RECORDS

The Board will schedule to meet at least four times a year at approximately
quarterly intervals with notice given to the Directors at least 14 days in
advance. The Directors are allowed to include any other matters in the agenda
that is required for discussion and resolution at the meeting. To enable the
Directors to be properly briefed on issues arising at the Board meetings and
to make informed decisions, an agenda and the accompanying Board papers
together with all appropriate and relevant information in relation to the matters
of the meetings are sent to all Directors at least three days before the intended
date of each regular Board meeting and three days or such other period as
agreed before each other Board meeting.

The Company Secretary is responsible for keeping all Board meetings’ minutes.
Draft and final versions of the minutes will be circulated to the Directors
for comments and record within a reasonable time after each meeting and
the final version is open for the Directors’ inspection. According to the GEM
Listing Rules, any Directors and their associates (as defined in the GEM Listing
Rules) with a material interest in the transactions to be discussed at the Board
meetings will abstain from voting on resolutions approving such transactions
and are not counted in the quorum of the meetings.

During FY2021, five Board meetings and one Shareholders’ meeting (being the
annual general meeting (the "AGM") of the Company) were held. The individual
attendance record of the Board and Shareholders’ meetings is set out as
follows:
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R LIRENFEEREHABARE  #F1ER
EMEEEXMHERMEEERFERAMNE
ELHEBEN  BRECHEFEERNETE
AMEFRIO-ZBEEEMESE SRS
RHEFF =& BENEbMRAEZ 28
BF-

AREAMEAERTFHEEESEHCHK 23
EHRERRERBENEREZENAERENA
REFBHANEEERERRLH  EfRAH
E=EM - RIFEGEMETHRR - FARESS
ERLBIRAORSGTHREAEARGNESER
HEg AN(F& RGIM EMAR B ERBESR
MRXHGMRBRBERR  BABFAGEN
EEANBA e

RANFRFE  ARRERITHAREFEEH
R—RERRG (AARBNRRBFRE (TR
RBFAE) REFHFEFSTANMBRR
AREHREETIAT

Number of AGM Number of Board

attended/eligible to meetings attended/

attend eligible to attend

BHE GEREE BHE GEREE

Name of Directors EEME BRREFAGERH EEZEEEARE
Mr. Tong Tang Joseph BEELE 1/1 5/5
Ms. Mary Kathleen Babington Mary Kathleen Babington 2 == il 5/5
Mr. Tsui Wing Tak mARELE ”n 5/5
Mr. Bian Dahail! BAREEE N/AZ 3 2/2
Mr. Yeung Man Chung Charles 15 SRS HE 0/1 5/5
Mr. Tsang Wai Yin BRERELEE 0/1 5/5
Mr. Sit Hoi Wah Kenneth BB ESE ”n 5/5
1. Appointed as Non-Executive Director of the Company on 1 October 2020. 1. R2020F10RBEZEFAERRAIERITES -
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TERMS OF APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF
DIRECTORS

Each of our Executive Directors has entered into a service contract with our
Company on 25 January 2018 and we signed letters of appointment with each
of our Independent Non-Executive Directors on the same day. The service
contracts with our Executive Directors are for an initial term of three years
commencing from the listing date on 25 January 2018 (the “Listing Date") and
can be terminated by either party giving not less than three months’ notice in
writing. We signed a letter of appointment with our Non-Executive Director on
30 September 2020. The service contract with our Non-Executive Director is for
an initial term of three years commencing from 1 October 2020.

The service contracts and letters of appointment are subject to termination
in accordance with their respective terms. The service contracts can be
renewed in accordance with our articles of association (the “Articles”) and the
applicable GEM Listing Rules.

According to our Articles, one-third of the Directors for the time being shall
retire from office by rotation at every AGM of the Company, provided that
every Director shall retire from office by rotation and are subject to re-election
at AGM at least once every three years. Directors who are appointed to fill
casual vacancies shall hold office only until the next following general meeting
after their appointment, and are subject to re-election by Shareholders of the
Company.

The Company has taken out directors and officers liability insurance to cover
liabilities arising from legal action against the Directors.

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Board has adopted a policy of the Board diversity (the “Board Diversity
Policy”) which sets out the approach to achieve a sustainable and balanced
development of the Company and also enhance the quality of performance of
the Company.

The Company recognises and embraces the benefits of a diversity of Board
members. It endeavours to ensure that the Board has a balance of skills,
experience and diversity of perspectives that are required to support the
execution of its business strategy. All Board appointments will continue to
be made on a merit basis with due regard for the benefits of diversity of the
Board members. Selection of candidates will be based on a range of diversity
perspectives, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational
background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills and knowledge.

The Board Diversity Policy is available on the website of the Company at www.
treeholdings.com for public information.
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CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE

Pursuant to the Code Provision A.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles of the chairman
and the chief executive should be separate and performed by different
individuals.

Mr. Tong Tang Joseph currently assumes the role of both chairman of the
Company and chief executive of the Company. In view that Mr. Tong has been
assuming day-to-day responsibilities in operating and managing our Group and
the rapid development of our Group, the Board believes that with the support of
Mr. Tong's extensive experience and knowledge in the business of the Group,
vesting the roles of both Chairman and chief executive officer of our Company
in Mr. Tong strengthens the solid and consistent leadership and thereby allows
for efficient business planning and decision which is in the best interest to our
Group. Mr. Tong delegates the role and responsibilities including operations,
management, business development and strategy planning of the Group to
other Executive Directors. The Board will review the need of appointing suitable
candidate to assume the role of chief executive when necessary.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established three Board committees, namely the Audit
Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee to
oversee particular aspects of the Company’s affairs. The Board committees are
provided with sufficient resources to discharge their duties.

All Board committees are provided with sufficient resources to perform their
duties and, upon reasonable request, are able to seek independent professional
advice in appropriate circumstance, at the Company’s expense.

The Board is responsible for performing the corporate governance duties set
out in the CG Code which included developing and reviewing the Company’s
policies and practices on corporate governance, training and continuous
professional development of Directors, and reviewing the Company’s
compliance with the code provision in the CG Code and disclosures in this
report.
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Audit Committee

We established our Audit Committee with written terms of reference in
compliance with Rule 5.28 of the GEM Listing Rules and paragraph C3.2 and
(3.3 of the CG Code Practices pursuant to a resolution of our Directors passed
on 5 January 2018. The terms of reference were amended and restated on
4 January 2019, with respect to the update of the GEM Listing Rules. The
primary duties of our Audit Committee are, among other things, to make
recommendations to our Board on the appointment, reappointment and removal
of external auditor, review the financial statements and provide advice in
respect of financial reporting, oversee our financial reporting process, internal
control, risk management systems and audit process, and perform other duties
and responsibilities assigned by our Board.

At present, our Audit Committee comprises Mr. Yeung Man Chung Charles,
Mr. Tsang Wai Yin and Mr. Sit Hoi Wah Kenneth, all being Independent Non-
Executive Directors. Mr. Yeung Man Chung Charles is the Chairman of our Audit
Committee.

During FY2021, the Audit Committee held four meetings, at which the Audit
Committee has reviewed and discussed the Company’s consolidated financial
results, including the accounting principles and practice adopted by the Group,
the Company’s compliance with the CG Code, the effectiveness of the Group's
internal control and risk management systems and the Group's internal audit
function and recommended to the Board for consideration the same and the re-
appointment of Grant Thornton Hong Kong Limited (“Grant Thornton”) as the
Company's external independent auditor at the forthcoming AGM.

The terms of reference is available on the website of the Company at
www.treeholdings.com for public information.

During FY2021, the attendance of each member at the Audit Committee
meeting during FY2021 is as follows:

Name of Directors
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Remuneration Committee

We established our Remuneration Committee with written terms of reference
in compliance with Rule 5.34 of the GEM Listing Rules and paragraph B1.2 of
the Code on Corporate Governance Practices pursuant to a resolution of our
Directors passed on 5 January 2018. The primary duties of our Remuneration
Committee are to review and approve the management's remuneration
proposals, make recommendations to our Board on the remuneration package
of our Directors and senior management and ensure none of our Directors
determines his/her own remuneration.

The terms of reference is available on the website of the Company at
www.treeholdings.com for public information.

At present, our Remuneration Committee comprises Mr. Tsui Wing Tak, being
our Executive Director, and two of our Independent Non-Executive Directors,
Mr. Yeung Man Chung Charles and Mr. Sit Hoi Wah Kenneth. Mr. Sit Hoi Wah
Kenneth is the Chairman of our Remuneration Committee.

During FY2021, the committee met on 24 June 2020 and 25 September 2020
with 100% attendance by all Committee members.

Nomination Committee

We established our Nomination Committee with written terms of reference
in compliance with paragraph A5.2 of the Code on Corporate Governance
Practices pursuant to a resolution of our Directors passed on 5 January 2018.
The terms of reference were amended and restated on 4 January 2019, with
respect to the update of the GEM Listing Rules. The primary duties of our
Nomination Committee are to review the structure, size and composition of
our Board, and select or make recommendations on the selection of individuals
nominated for directorships.

At present, our Nomination Committee comprises Mr. Tong Tang Joseph, being
our Chairman and Executive Director, Ms. Mary Kathleen Babington, being our
Executive Director, and our three Independent Non-Executive Directors, Mr.
Yeung Man Chung Charles, Mr. Sit Hoi Wah Kenneth and Mr. Tsang Wai Yin.
Mr. Tong Tang Joseph is the Chairman of our Nomination Committee.

The terms of reference is available on the website of the Company at
www.treeholdings.com for public information.

During FY2021, the committee met once on 24 June 2020 and 25 September
2020 with 100% attendance by all Committee members.
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EXTERNAL AUDITOR

For FY2021, Grant Thornton was engaged as the Group's independent auditor.
Apart from the provision of annual audit services, Grant Thornton also provided
the non-audit services to the Company.

For FY2021, the remuneration paid or payable to Grant Thornton in respect of
audit and non-audit services provided is set out below:
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Category of services HK$"000
PR % %8 Bl FET
Audit services EZRE 700.0
Non-audit services EEZ AR 325

DIRECTORS’ AND AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES
FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The Board is committed to provide a balanced, clear and comprehensive
assessment of the Group's performance, position and prospects in annual,
interim and quarterly reports, and other financial disclosures required by the
GEM Listing Rules. The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements of the Group which give
a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and the Group's
results and cash flows for FY2021 and are properly prepared on a going concern
basis in accordance with the applicable statutory requirements and accounting
standards.

The management will provide the Board with monthly updates giving a
balanced and understandable assessment of the Group's performance, position
and prospects in sufficient detail to enable the Board as a whole and each
Director to discharge their duties under Rule 5.01 and Chapter 17 of the GEM
Listing Rules.

The Directors were not aware of any material uncertainties relating to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the Company’s ability to
continue as a going concern.

In addition, Grant Thornton has stated in the Independent Auditor's Report its
reporting responsibilities on the Company’s consolidated financial statements
for FY2021.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board is responsible for the establishment, maintenance and review of the
Group's system of internal controls and risk assessment. A review of internal
controls systems of different operations was conducted by an independent
external risk advisory firm to ensure the effectiveness and adequacy internal
controls system.

The Board considered the internal controls system of the Group to be adequate
and effective for FY2021. The Board also conducted a review of the adequacy of
resources, qualifications and experience of staff of the Group's accounting and
financial reporting function, and their training programs and budget which are
considered to be adequate for FY2021.

DISCLOSURE OF INSIDE INFORMATION

The Company acknowledges its responsibilities under the SFO and the GEM
Listing Rules and the overriding principle that inside information should be
announced immediately when it is the subject of a decision.

The Company has established and maintained the procedures and internal
controls for the handling and dissemination inside information. The Company
has adopted a code of conduct for dealing in securities of the Company by the
Directors in accordance with Rules 5.46 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules. Other
employees of the Group who are likely to be in possession of inside information
of the Company are also subject to dealing restrictions. The Group has strictly
prohibited unauthorised use of confidential or insider information or any use of
such information for the advantage of himself or others. Any inside information
and any information which may potentially constitute inside information is
promptly identified, assessed and escalated to the Board and for the Board
to decide on the need for disclosure. Inside information and other information
which is required to be disclosed pursuant to the GEM Listing Rules will be
announced on the respective websites of GEM and the Company in due course.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Lam Yiu Cho (#K#848), aged 39, is our Company Secretary. He joined our
Group in March 2016. The biographical details of Mr. Lam are set out under the
section headed “Directors and Senior Management”.

The primary duties of the Company Secretary include, but are not limited to, the
following: (i) to ensure the Board procedures are followed and that the activities
of the Board are carried out efficiently and effectively; (ii) to assist the
Chairman to prepare agendas and Board papers for meetings and disseminate
such documents to the Directors and Board committees in a timely manner; (iii)
to timely disseminate announcements and information relating to the Group;
and (iv) to maintain formal minutes of the Board meetings and other Board
committee meetings.

During FY2021, the Company Secretary of the Company had confirmed that he
had taken no less than 15 hours of relevant professional training the accordance
with Rule 5.15 of the GEM Listing Rules.

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

The general meetings of the Company provide an opportunity for
communication between the Shareholders and the Board. An AGM of the
Company shall be held in each year and at the place as may be determined
by the Board. Each general meeting, other than an AGM, shall be called an
extraordinary general meeting (the “"EGM").

Procedures for Shareholders to convene an
extraordinary general meeting

Pursuant to the Article 64 of the Articles, EGMs shall be convened on the
requisition of one or more Shareholders holding, at the date of deposit of the
requisition, not less than one tenth of the paid up capital of the Company
having the right of voting at general meetings. Such requisition shall be made
in writing to the Board or the Secretary for the purpose of requiring an EGM
to be called by the Board for the transaction of any business specified in such
requisition. Such meeting shall be held within two months after the deposit of
such requisition. If within 21 days of such deposit, the Board fails to proceed to
convene such meeting, the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may do so in
the same manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s)
as a result of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s)
by the Company.

The requisition must state clearly the name of the Shareholder(s) concerned,
his/her/their shareholding in the Company, the reason(s) to convene the EGM
and the proposed agenda.

Procedures for Shareholders to send enquires to the
Board

Shareholders may send their written enquiries and concerns to the Board by
addressing them to the principal place of business of the Company in Hong
Kong.
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Board has the overall responsibility to ensure that the Company maintains
on-going dialogue with Shareholders and in particular, use AGM or other
meetings to communicate with Shareholders and encourage their participation.

Information will be communicated to the Shareholders, investors and other
stakeholders through convening the AGM or general meetings, publication of
annual, interim and quarterly reports, notices, announcements, circulars as well
as all the disclosures submitted to the respective websites of GEM and the
Company.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

There was no change in the Company’s constitutional documents during
FY2021.

A copy of the Memorandum and Articles of Association of the Company is
posted on the website of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company's dividend policy aims to allow Shareholders to participate in the
Company's profit and for the Company to retain adequate reserves for the its
future growth. In proposing any dividend, the Company would consider various
factors including but not limited to (i) the Group’s financial results, {ii) the
financial condition of the Group, (iii) the Group’s working capital requirements,
capital expenditure requirements and future expansion plans. (iv) the Group's
liquidity position, (v) economic conditions and other internal or external factors
that may have an impact on the business or financial performance and position
of the Group and (vi) any other factors that our Board may consider appropriate.

There is no assurance that dividends will be paid in any particular amount for
any given period.

According to the Company’s Articles and the Companies Ordinance, dividends
must be paid in cash or be satisfied wholly or partly in the form of allotment of
shares of the Company. The Board may consider the issuance of bonus shares
on a basis permitted by the applicable laws and regulations.

The Board will continually review the dividend policy and reserves the right in

its sole and absolute discretion to update, amend, modify and/or cancel the
dividend policy at any time.
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The Board is pleased to present its report and the audited consolidated
financial statements of the Group for FY2021.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

Headquartered in Hong Kong and operating under the brand name “TREE",
we engage in (i) the sale and distribution of furniture and home accessories;
(i) distribution and licence fee income; (iii) operation of TREE Café; (iv)
consignment sales of home accessories and furniture agency services, (v)
provision of styling and consulting services and (vi) provision of furniture rental
business. We offer a variety of furniture including tables, chairs, storage
solutions, sofas and beds; and home accessories including kitchenware,
bed and bathroom related products, jars, cushions, mattresses, utensils and
baskets.

At the date of this Annual Report, we operated two “TREE" retail stores in
Hong Kong namely, our Flagship Store and our Sha Tin store. Our Yuen Long
store which we ceased operation in March 2021. We have commercial online
sales since May 2019.

In addition, we acquired, Hong Kong ltaliving International Co., Limited ("HK
Italiving”) in December 2018, and it is principally engaged in the provision
of furniture agency service in Hong Kong. Furthermore, a subsidiary Shanghai
Italiving International Co., Ltd ("Shanghai Italiving”), was incorporated in July
2019, and it is principally engaged in the sale and distribution of furniture and
home accessories, and the provision of styling and consulting services in the
People’s Republic of China (the “PRC").

BUSINESS REVIEW

The business review of the Group for FY2021 is set out in the “Management
Discussion and Analysis” of this Annual Report.

FINANCIAL RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The results of the Group for FY2021 and the financial position of the Company
and the Group as at 31 March 2021 are set forth in the consolidated financial
statements on pages 66 to 155 of this Annual Report.

The Directors recommend a final dividend of HK0.8 cent per share in cash. The
proposed final dividend is subject to shareholders’ approval at the forthcoming
annual general meeting of the Company. The proposed final dividend is
expected to be distributed on Wednesday, 25 August 2021 to shareholders
whose names appear on the Register of Members of the Company on
Wednesday, 11 August 2021.

SHARE CAPITAL

As at 31 March 2021, the Company's issued share capital was HK$15,840,000
and the number of its issued ordinary shares was 1,584,000,000 of HK$0.01
each.

Details of the Company’s share capital are set out in note 26 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s Articles or
the laws of the Cayman Islands, which would oblige the Company to offer new
shares on a pro-rata basis to existing Shareholders.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

Details of movements in the distributable reserves of the Company and
of the Group during FY2021 are set out in note 27 to the consolidated
financial statements and in the consolidated statement of changes in equity,
respectively.

DONATIONS

Charitable and other donations made by the Group during FY2021 amounted to
approximately HK$10,000 (FY2020: HK$10,000).

DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS LIABILITY INSURANCE

The Company has taken out directors and officers liability insurance to cover
liabilities arising from legal action against the Directors.

USE OF PROCEEDS FROM THE COMPANY’S SHARE
OFFERING

The net proceeds from the Listing in January 2018, after deducting the
underwriting fees, the Stock Exchange trading fee and SFC transaction levy and
other listing expenses in connection with the Share Offer, were approximately
HK$20.3 million.

For details, please refer to the section headed “Management Discussion and
Analysis” on page 20 of this annual report.

SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of the published results and assets and liabilities of the Group, as
extracted from the Prospectus and the consolidated financial statements of the
Company for the years ended 31 March 2017, 2018, 2019, 2020 and 2021 is set
out on page 156 of the annual report. This summary does not form part of the
audited consolidated financial statements.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company adopted a share option scheme on 5 January 2018 (the “Share
Option Scheme”). The terms of the Share Option Scheme are in accordance
with the provisions of Chapter 23 of the GEM Listing Rules and set out below.

(a)

(b)

Purpose of the Share Option Scheme

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to enable our Group to grant
options to the eligible participants as incentives or rewards for their
contribution to our Group and/or to enable our Group to recruit and retain
high-calibre employees and attract human resources that are valuable
to our Group or any entity in which any member of our Group holds any
equity interest (the “Invested Entity”).

Participants

Our Directors shall, in accordance with the provisions of the Share
Option Scheme and the GEM Listing Rules, be entitled but shall not be
bound at any time within a period of 10 years commencing from the date
of the adoption of the Share Option Scheme to make an offer for the
grant of an option to any person belonging to the following classes:

(a)  any employee (whether full time or part time, including the
Directors (including any Non-Executive Director and Independent
Non-Executive Director)) of our Company, any of our subsidiaries
(within the meaning of Companies Ordinance) or any Invested
Entity (an "Eligible Employee”);

(b)  any supplier of goods or services to any member of our Group or
any Invested Entity;

(c)  any customer of any member of our Group or any Invested Entity;

(d) any person or entity that provides research, development or
other technological support to any member of our Group or any
Invested Entity;

(e} any Shareholder of any member of our Group or any Invested
Entity or any holder of any securities issued by any member of our
Group or any Invested Entity;

(f) any adviser (professional or otherwise), consultant, individual or
equity who in the opinion of our Directors has contributed or will
contribute to the growth and development of our Group; and
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(c)

(g any other groups or classes of participants who have contributed
or may contribute by way of joint venture, business alliance or
other business arrangement to the development and growth of
our Group,

and, for the purpose of the Share Option Scheme, the offer for the grant
of an option may be made to any company wholly-owned by one or more
eligible participants.

For the avoidance of doubt, the grant of any options by our Company for
the subscription of shares or other securities of our Group to any person
who falls within any of the above classes of eligible participants shall
not, by itself, unless our Directors otherwise determine, be construed as
a grant of option under the Share Option Scheme.

The eligibility of any of the eligible participants to an offer under
the Share Option Scheme shall be determined by our Directors from
time to time on the basis of our Directors’ opinion as to such eligible
participant’s contribution to the development and growth of our Group.

Maximum number of shares

(a)  The maximum number of shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet to be
exercised under the Share Option Scheme and any other share
option schemes adopted by our Group shall not exceed 30% of
our share capital in issue from time to time. No options may be
granted under the Share Option Scheme or any other share option
schemes adopted by our Group if the grant of such options will
result in the limit referred herein being exceeded.

(b)  The total number of shares which may be issued upon exercise of
all options (excluding, for this purpose, options which have lapsed
in accordance with the terms of the Share Option Scheme and
any other share option schemes of our Group) to be granted under
the Share Option Scheme and any other share option schemes of
our Group shall not in aggregate exceed 10% of our share capital
in issue as at the date on which dealings in our shares first
commence on the Stock Exchange, being 158,400,000 shares (the
“General Scheme Limit").
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(d)

(c) Subject to (a) above and without prejudice to (d) below, our
Company may seek approval of our Shareholders in general
meeting to refresh the General Scheme Limit provided that the
total number of shares which may be issued upon exercise of all
options to be granted under the Share Option Scheme and any
other share option schemes of our Group shall not exceed 10% of
our share capital in issue as at the date of approval of the limit
and for the purpose of calculating the limit, options (including
those outstanding, cancelled, lapsed or exercised in accordance
with the Share Option Scheme and any other share option
schemes of our Group) previously granted under the Share Option
Scheme and any other share option schemes of our Group will not
be counted.

(d) Subject to (a) above and without prejudice to (c) above, our
Company may seek separate Shareholders” approval in general
meeting to grant options under the Share Option Scheme
beyond the General Scheme Limit or, if applicable, the extended
limit referred to in (c) above to eligible participants specifically
identified by our Company before such approval is sought.

Maximum entitlement of each eligible participant

Subject to (v) below, the total number of shares issued and which
may fall to be issued upon exercise of the options granted under the
Share Option Scheme and any other share option schemes of our
Group (including both exercised or outstanding options) to each eligible
participant who accepts the offer for the grant of an option under the
Share Option Scheme (a “grantee”) in any 12-month period shall not
exceed 1% of our issued share capital for the time being. Where any
further grant of options under the Share Option Scheme to a grantee
would result in our shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of all
options granted and proposed to be granted to such person (including
exercised, cancelled and outstanding options) under the Share Option
Scheme and any other share option schemes of our Group in the
12-month period up to and including the date of such further grant
representing in aggregate over 1% of our share capital in issue, such
further grant shall be separately approved by our Shareholders in
general meeting with such grantee and his close associates (or his
associates if the grantee is a connected person) abstaining from voting.
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(e) Grant of options to core connected persons

(a)  Without prejudice to (b) below, the making of an offer under the
Share Option Scheme to any of our Director, chief executive or
substantial Shareholder, or any of their respective associates
shall be approved by our Independent Non-Executive Directors
(excluding any Independent Non-Executive Director who or
whose close associate is the proposed grantee of an option under
the Share Option Scheme).

(b)  Without prejudice to (a) above, where any grant of options under
the Share Option Scheme to a substantial Shareholder or our
Independent Non-Executive Director or any of their respective
associates, would result in our shares issued and to be issued
upon exercise of all options under the Share Option Scheme
already granted and to be granted (including options exercised,
cancelled and outstanding) to such person in the 12-month period
up to and including the date of such grant:

(1) representing in aggregate over 0.1% of our share capital
in issue; and

(2) having an aggregate value, based on the closing price of
our shares at the offer date of each offer, in excess of
HK$5 million;

such further grant of options shall be approved by our
Shareholders in general meeting. The proposed grantee, his
associates and all our core connected persons shall abstain from
voting in favour at such general meeting.

For the purpose of seeking the approval of our Shareholders under
paragraphs (iii), (iv) and (v) above, our Company shall send a circular to
our Shareholders containing the information required under the GEM
Listing Rules and where the GEM Listing Rules shall so require, the vote
at the Shareholders’ meeting convened to obtain the requisite approval
shall be taken on a poll with those persons required under the GEM
Listing Rules abstaining from voting.
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(f)

Time of acceptance and exercise of an option

An offer under the Share Option Scheme shall remain open for
acceptance by the eligible participant concerned (and by no other
person) for a period of up to 21 days from the date, which shall be a
business day, on which the offer is made to the eligible participant.

An offer shall have been accepted by an eligible participant in respect
of all shares which are offered to such eligible participant when the
duplicate letter comprising acceptance of the offer duly signed by the
eligible participant together with a remittance in favour of our Company
of HK$1.00 by way of consideration for the grant thereof is received by
our Company within such time as may be specified in the offer (which
shall not be later than 21 days from the offer date). Such remittance
shall in no circumstances be refundable.

Any offer may be accepted by an eligible participant in respect of less
than the number of shares which are offered provided that it is accepted
in respect of a board lot for dealings in our shares on GEM or an integral
multiple thereof and such number is clearly stated in the duplicate
letter comprising acceptance of the offer duly signed by such eligible
participant and received by our Company together with a remittance in
favour of our Company of HK$1.00 by way of consideration for the grant
thereof within such time as may be specified in the offer (which shall not
be later than 21 days from the offer date). Such remittance shall in no
circumstances be refundable.

An option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of the Share
Option Scheme at any time during a period to be determined and notified
by our Directors to the grantee thereof (provided always that such period
shall not be more than 10 years from the offer date of that option), and
in the absence of such determination, from the date of the grant of such
option to the earlier of (aa) the date on which such option lapses under
the relevant provisions of the Share Option Scheme; and (bb) the date
falling 10 years from the offer date of that option.

No share option has been granted since the adoption of the Share
Option Scheme and there was no share option outstanding as at 31
March 2021.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Other than the Share Option Scheme of the Company as disclosed above, there
is no equity-linked agreement that will or may result in the Company issuing
shares or require the Company to enter into any agreements that will or may
result in the Company issuing shares were entered into by the Company during
FY2021 or subsisted at the end of FY2021.
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PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF THE LISTED
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

The Company's shares were successfully listed on GEM on 25 January 2018.
Save as the Listing, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had
purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during
FY2021.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During FY2021, the five largest suppliers of the Group accounted for about
39.9% of the Group's cost of materials and the largest supplier accounted for
about 10.6% of the cost of materials.

During FY2021, the five largest customers of the Group accounted for about
15.0% of the Group's total revenue and the largest customer accounted for
about 7.1% of the total revenue.

Based on the information publicly available to the Company and to the best
knowledge of the Directors, none of the Directors, their respective close
associates (as defined in the GEM Listing Rules) or any Shareholders (which,
to the best knowledge of the Directors, own more than 5% of the shares) had
any beneficial interest in any of the Group's five largest customers or suppliers
referred to above.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISIONS

The Articles provides that the Directors, Secretary and other officers and every
auditor for the time being of the Company shall be entitled to be indemnified
and secured harmless out of the assets of the Company from and against all
actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses which they or any of
them shall or may incur or sustain by or by reason of any act done, concurred in
or omitted in or about the execution of their duty.

The Company has arranged for appropriate insurance cover for Directors’ and
officers’ liabilities in respect of legal actions against its Directors and senior
management arising out of corporate activities.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

To the best of the Directors’ knowledge, information and belief, having made
all reasonable enquiries, the Group has complied in material respects with the
relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the business
and operation of the Company and its subsidiaries during FY2021.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors during FY2021 and up to the date of this report were as follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. Tong Tang Joseph (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Ms. Mary Kathleen Babington

Mr. Tsui Wing Tak

Non-Executive Director
Mr. Bian Dahai (appointed on 1 October 2020)

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Mr. Yeung Man Chung Charles

Mr. Tsang Wai Yin

Mr. Sit Hoi Wah Kenneth

Brief biographical details of Directors are set out under the section headed
“Directors and Senior Management”.

Article 112 of the Articles provides that any Director appointed by the Board
to fill a casual vacancy shall hold office until the first general meeting of the
Company after his/her appointment and be subject to re-election at such
meeting. Any Director appointed by the Board as an addition to the existing
Board shall hold office only until the next following AGM of the Company and
shall then be eligible for re-election.

Article 108(a) to 108(c) of the Articles provides that (1) one-third of the Directors
for the time being (or, if their number is a not multiple of three, the number
nearest to but not less than one-third) shall retire from office by rotation at
each AGM, provided that every Director shall be subject to retirement by
rotation at least once every three years; (2) A retiring Director shall be eligible
for re-election and shall continue to act as a Director throughout the meeting
at which he retires. The Directors to retire by rotation shall include (so far
as necessary to ascertain the number of Directors to retire by rotation) any
Director who wishes to retire and not to offer himself for re-election.

Mr. Bian Dahai, Mr. Yeung Man Chung Charles, Mr. Tsang Wai Yin and Mr. Sit
Hoi Wah Kenneth will retire at the AGM and all of them, being eligible, will
offer themselves for re-election at the AGM.

The Company has received written confirmations of independence from each
of the Independent Non-Executive Directors, namely Mr. Yeung Man Chung
Charles, Mr. Tsang Wai Yin and Mr. Sit Hoi Wah Kenneth, pursuant to Rule 5.09
of the GEM Listing Rules. As at the date of this Annual Report, the Company
still considers the Independent Non-Executive Directors to be independent.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

Saved as disclosed in note 31 to the consolidated financial statements, no
transactions, arrangements or contracts of significance to which any of the
Company, or any of its holding companies or fellow subsidiaries or subsidiaries
was a party and in which a Director of the Company or his or her connected
entity had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the
end of FY2021 or at any time during FY2021.

COMPLIANCE AND ENFORCEMENT OF THE
NON-COMPETITION UNDERTAKING FROM

CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS

As disclosed in the Prospectus, each of Mr. Tong Tang Joseph (“Mr. Tong") and
Tiptop Honour Limited (“Tiptop”) (the “Controlling Shareholders”) have entered
into the deed of non-competition undertakings (the “Deed of Non-Competition
Undertakings”) in favour of the Company (for its own and on behalf of all members
of the Group) on 5 January 2018, pursuant to which each of the Controlling
Shareholders, irrevocably and unconditionally, undertakes and covenants with the
Company that during the period that the Deed of Non-Competition Undertakings
remains effective, each of the Controlling Shareholders shall not, and shall procure
that none of his/her/its associates (except any member of the Group), directly
or indirectly (other than through the Group) carry on, participate, hold, engage,
being interested in, acquire or operate, directly or indirectly, or provide any form of
assistance to any person, firm or company to conduct any business in competition
with or likely to be in competition with the Group's existing business activity and
any business activities which may be undertaken by the Group from time to time.
Details of the Deed of Non-Competition Undertakings have been set out in the
section headed “Relationship with Controlling Shareholders — Non-Competition
Undertakings™ in the Prospectus.

The Company has received the annual declaration from each of the Controlling
Shareholders in respect of their respective compliance with the terms of
the Deed of Non-Competition Undertakings during FY2021. The independent
non-executive Directors, having reviewed the annual declarations and made
reasonable enquiry, were satisfied that the Controlling Shareholders have
complied with the terms of the Deed of Non-Competition Undertakings during
FY2021 and up to the date of this Annual Report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of our Executive Directors has entered into a service contract with our
Company for a term of three years commencing from the Listing Date, which
may be terminated by not less than three months’ notice in writing served by
either party on the other.

Our Non-Executive Director has entered into a letter of appointment with our
Company for a term of three years commencing from 1 October 2020, which
may terminated by not less than three months’ notice in writing served by
either party on the other.

TREE HOLDINGS LIMITED Z& =2 8% 5 PR 4 7 Annual Report 4F % 2021

EERXS  ZHFIEHNER

BRpER S BT R M AT BB & Hh - 7202184
B 2 48 R 3R 2021 8 R S AR (AT B A AR
AT ] /R AN 2 R 3 B AR T 4 R R R 3k R & I B
RAEMB ARG LAXRRREEHHEBEE
BEERIHEREAEARENEARS T
HEMNTFE -

ERBRRETEABFATAES
i

BB ERARE  BEEEE(BEEDRE
BARAR(EBEDIERRR) DS B1X2018
FIASBRARRI(RERGRRAKREAEBEHRE
FRERRD RS @ AFTA 5 F G RiE (TR
FERERZRE]D B SERRRTAHELD
No S AGR A 3 [A) AR B R R 3 BT A G IR
FAHAZBRERHE  SEBRBERTER KR
EEBBATERERAREEAKERE)TE
BEEXRAECEEAKRERINET 28 5
BoRE WBEIRETMEBRESAER
BRAEECFAAL BRI AFREREAEAN
BBV AETTEM RS - MAMRF R AR
AEBEREERBEHRAEE R ENEFETH
ERERBEBSHEF - THFAFBRBNFEH
R ER [ 47 I B R B R — T3 3 AqA |

— & e

ARAFDEESZERBRRABSE S B R20218
BEEEBTIBEFARRBERELNFER
B BUFATEETRNENFEBRARELS
BEHRE ERAERBERRODVNMBFEES
ANE R A E T T F A RIBRIRRK -

EERBEN
ERTEFCRARNTLRB AN BLD
AEEtAS=F  ThEf—HHaS T
FORZEABEBARIL -

FEITEEE EARAGI LR IER - 82020910
A1BRBiAH=F AHEWN—FARB—FHE
ERLORZEAZEEB ML -



Each of our Independent Non-Executive Directors has entered into a letter of
appointment with our Company for a term of three years commencing from the
Listing Date, which may terminated by not less than three months’ notice in
writing served by either party on the other.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATIONS

Details of the remuneration of Directors are set out in note 12 to the
consolidated financial statements.

DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENT POLICY

The Remuneration Committee was established for reviewing and determining
the remuneration and compensation packages of the Directors and senior
management with reference to salaries paid by comparable companies, time
commitment and responsibilities of the Directors and performance of the Group.

Interests and short positions of the Company's
Directors and chief executives in the Company'’s
shares, underlying shares and debentures and the
Company’s associated corporations

As at 31 March 2021, the interests or short positions of the Company's
Directors in the Company’s shares, underlying shares or debentures which were
required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to
Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions
in which they are taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFQ),
or which were required, pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in
the register as referred to therein, or which were required to be notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the “required standard of
dealings” as contained in Chapter 5 of the GEM Listing Rules, were as follows:

(i)  Long position in the Company’s shares
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Name of Director Nature of interest shares held™ shareholding
BEEnA EatE FERGEHEE REBDL
Mr. Tong (Note 4) Interest in a controlled corporation (Note 2) 965,100,000 (L) 60.93%
J& & 5 A (Bt 514) PR A B R (F5E2)
Ms. Mary Kathleen Babington Interest in a controlled corporation 59,400,000 (L) 3.75%

("Ms. Babington"”) (Note 3)
Mary Kathleen Babington 22 & P S 5 B R R 2 (B E3)

([Babington Z 1)
Mr. Bian Dahai (“Mr. Bian”) Beneficial Owner 8,000,000 (L) 0.51%
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Notes:

1. The letter “L" denotes a person’s “long position” (as defined under Part
XV of the SFQ) in such shares.

2. The Company is owned as to 60.93% by Tiptop. Tiptop is wholly-owned
by Mr. Tong. Under the SFO, Mr. Tong is deemed to be interested in the
same number of shares held by Tiptop.

3. The Company is owned as to 3.75% by Rothley Investment Limited
(“Rothley”). Rothley is wholly-owned by Ms. Babington. Under the SFO,
Ms. Babington is deemed to be interested in the same number of shares
held by Rothley.

4. Mr. Tong was re-designated as an executive director and chief executive
officer of the Company with effect from 1 August 2019.

Saved as disclosed above, as of 31 March 2021, none of the Company’s
Directors and chief executives and their respective associates had or is deemed
to have any interest or short positions in the Company’s shares, underlying
shares or debentures or the Company's associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which were required to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV
of the SFO (including interests and short positions which they were taken or
deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO), or which were required,
pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register as referred
to herein, or which were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the “required standard of dealing” as contained in
Chapter 5 of the GEM Listing Rules.
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Interests and short positions of substantial
Shareholders in the Company’s shares, underlying
shares and debentures and the Company’s associated
corporations

As at 31 March 2021, so far as the Company's Directors are aware, the
following persons (other than the Directors and chief executive of the Company)
had, or were deemed to have, interests or short positions in the Company’s
shares or underlying shares which were required to be notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or
who, directly or indirectly, were interested in 10% or more of the issued voting
shares of any class of share capital carrying rights to vote in all circumstances
at general meetings of any member of the Company:

(i) Long position in the Company's shares
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Interests in Percentage of

Name of Shareholder Nature of interest shares" shareholding
BREWEEE EEME BRHER REBDL
Tiptop Beneficial owner (Note 2) 965,100,000 (L) 60.93%
=278 EmEA A2

Ms. Shum Yuet Wah Anna Interest of spouse (Note 3) 965,100,000 (L) 60.93%
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Notes: M 2

1. The letter “L” denotes a person’s “long position” (as defined under Part 1. FEUEZALTRZEROGFHTE]

XV of the SFO) in such shares.
2. The Company is owned as to 60.93% by Tiptop.

3. Tiptop is wholly-owned by Mr. Tong, the Company’s Chairman, one of the
Company’s Executive Directors and Controlling Shareholders. Under the
SFO, Mr. Tong is deemed to be interested in the same number of shares
held by Tiptop. Ms. Shum Yuet Wah Anna is the spouse of Mr. Tong.
Under the SFO, Ms. Shum Yuet Wah Anna is deemed to be interested in
all the Company's shares in which Mr. Tong is interested.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2021, the Directors were not aware
of any other persons/entities (other than the Directors and chief executives of
the Company) who had interests or short positions in the shares or underlying
shares of the Company which would fall to be disclosed to the Company
under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or which were
recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company under Section 336
of the SFO, or who was directly or indirectly interested in 10% or more of the
issued voting shares of any class of share capital carrying rights to vote in all
circumstances at general meetings of any member of the Company.
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DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

At no time during FY2021 was the Company or its subsidiaries a party to
any arrangement to enable the Directors to acquire benefits by means of
the acquisition of shares in or debentures of the Company or any other body
corporate.

COMPETING BUSINESS AND CONFLICT OF
INTEREST

As confirmed by the Directors, Controlling Shareholders and their respective
close associates do not have any interests in any business, apart from the
business operated by members of the Group, which competes or is likely to
compete, directly or indirectly, with the business of the Group during FY2021.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and within
the knowledge of the Directors as at the date of this report, the Directors
confirm that the Company maintained the public float as required under the
GEM Listing Rules.

CONNECTED TRANSACTION AND CONTINUING
CONNECTED TRANSACTION

During FY2021, the Group had not entered into any connected transactions or
continuing connected transactions that are not exempted under Rule 20.71 of
the GEM Listing Rules.

Details of the significant related party transactions carried in the ordinary

course of business are set out in note 31 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company's Corporate Governance Report is set out on pages 30 to 42 of
this report.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

There is no significant event after the reporting period of the Group.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements for FY2021 were audited by Grant
Thornton Hong Kong Limited, the independent auditor, who shall retire and,
being eligible, offer itself for re-appointment at the forthcoming AGM. A
resolution will be proposed at the forthcoming AGM to re-appoint Grant
Thornton Hong Kong Limited as auditor and to authorise the Directors to fix its
remuneration.

On behalf of the Board
TREE Holdings Limited

Tong Tang Joseph
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

22 June 2021
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
B RBERE

Grant Thornton
2 [5]

To the members of Tree Holdings Limited
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Tree Holdings Limited
(the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) set out on pages 66 to 155,
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 March
2021, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated
financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view
of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 March 2021, and of
its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
("HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(“"HKICPA") and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Qur responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the
Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are
independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other
ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our opinion.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were
of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of
the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit
of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion

thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

B R BARE

B EFTEH
MREAFHEERBERMANERHE  RAY
AHREEMBRRNEAZRA/EENEE - &
LERARERMEAERGAVBHRRLER
ERRETREN HMTSHELEREH
BERENER -

Key Audit Matters How our audit addressed the key audit matters
ERENEE BN ERNNEEBEREENSEE
Impairment assessment of goodwill

AR E L

Refer to Notes 2.19, 3 and 16 to the consolidated financial
statements.
2HRA

iR A B IS R M 52219 - 316 ©

As at 31 March 2021, the Group had goodwill of approximately
HK$23,426,000 arising from the acquisition of a subsidiary.
R2013A3H - EEERKE -—RNBARMmESLS
75 4 #923,426,0005% T °

The Group is required to perform impairment assessment of goodwill
at least annually. For the purpose of impairment assessment, goodwill
has been allocated to the cash-generating unit (“CGU") of furniture
agency service. The management had made an assessment of the
recoverable amount of the underlying CGU, with reference to an
independent external valuation conducted at the end of the reporting
period. Management concluded that the goodwill was not impaired as
at 31 March 2021.
EEBEAE L FHBHEETRENG - RETHE
A AEESEZEHRERERBOREGELENL - B
BEES RN IE B REITH B LN B L (E T (4 18
ReELEUNAKESRE - ERENERF/N2021F
SAR - AN EIRE -

We identified the impairment assessment of goodwill as a key audit
matter as the calculation of recoverable amount of the underlying
CGU involves significant estimates and judgements about future
market conditions, including the growth rate of revenue and discount
rate applied in the calculation.

MR EEERSEL SRR RESE TR ERKT R
WERMETRAE  REFEPAEANDKSERER
FERE  WBEMEHEREF GBI RERENEE -

Our audit procedures in relation to impairment assessment of goodwill
included the following:

BHEEREREFENEZRFEENTEEA:

Evaluating the competence, capabilities, objectivity and
independence of the external valuer;
FEE SN IR E AT A KT - B

VA

=]
BT

EHREEE

Assessing the appropriateness of the valuation methodology
used in the impairment assessment;

AHARNREFENEESTERETHEE

Assessing the reasonableness of the key assumptions adopted
by the management in calculating the recoverable amount based
on our knowledge of the business and industry;
ERBMEEBRITENRANEEREEAER
WEGHENRANEIERREEAE

Testing, on a sample basis, the accuracy and reliability of the
input data used; and

MEASE TR A BB ESE® RIS &
Testing management sensitivity analysis of the key assumptions
to ascertain that selected adverse changes to key assumptions
would not cause the carrying amount of goodwill to exceed the
recoverable amount of the underlying CGU.
RAHEEEHEZRB[OGUREDN - AT FTE
FERJIOIMNBLEIGEEFENREHEBEB
HAREEEEMMNAIHE S -
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

B ZBERE

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key Audit Matters
BEETTER

BREIASEH®
How our audit addressed the key audit matters

RMNERNAEERREAER

Valuation of contingent consideration payable arising from acquisition of a subsidiary

WE-HNBARFMELENENRRARENEE

Refer to Notes 2.9, 3 and 32 to the consolidated financial statements.
2GR AM BRI T29  3%32 °

As at 31 March 2021, the Group had contingent consideration payable
of approximately HK$3,362,000 arising from the acquisition of a
subsidiary, which are due to be payable in 2022.

R2021F3A318 - EEERRKRE-—FMHEBARMES
B FE < 2k SRR (B 49 /53,362,00058 7T - 5% (B 15 7420224 2|
HARE S o

The Group recognised contingent consideration arrangement for
acquisition at fair value at the date of acquisition and is remeasured
at fair value at each reporting date. Any resulting gain or loss is
recognised in profit or loss. For the year ended 31 March 2021, a loss
of HK$2,633,000 was recognised.
EEERKEARRAABERRKEFTENRARE
ZH - WREREARAABEENZE - ERHLE
ERREXEERERER - EEBECERHZE202
F3H31E IEFE 6 E5182,633,00078 7T °

Fair value measurement of contingent consideration payable
requires management’s estimation and significant judgement
on post-acquisition performance of the acquired business and
the discount rate used. The fair value was determined by the
management with reference to the valuation performed by an
independent external valuer.

ERNSARBHNAAEEF ERTEETEREHE WBEXED
W ERERBARAATREELGEARERAE - 20

BEREREE2RBLIIDLEMETHHEESE -

We identified the valuation of contingent consideration payable
as a key audit matter as the assessment made by management
involved significant estimates and judgements in relation to the
post-acquisition performance of the acquired business and discount
rate applied, which may be affected by unexpected changes in
future market and economic conditions or significant events and
circumstances related to the acquired business.

HREREMELOIE IR EERBEEBNLER
FKEARPIEMITE X BB E XAt R E - thrATee
X B R R 5 R 4 AR O B B B 5 R B W B 2

BEBNEREMHREATE  MAASENHIAKE

MEEBR SR ETEE -

Our audit procedures in relation to the valuation of contingent
consideration payable included the following:

BPARRNAARENGENEZEFEEATSE:

Evaluating the competence, capabilities, objectivity and
independence of the external valuer;
STEINBIEERMA KTE - 88

A

REEBREDHE

Checking the contingent consideration payable calculation
prepared by management against the terms as set out in the
sales and purchase agreement;
2REERZHINGTREEEERBENEN L
AREFHEZE:

Evaluating the reasonableness of the assumptions adopted in
the performance forecasts for the contingent consideration
payable calculation; and

HERABAFRKANBREENRXAREFTEE

256818 X

Testing the mathematical accuracy of the underlying calculation
of contingent consideration payable and agreeing them to the
performance forecasts prepared by management for the specific
financial period stipulated by the sales and purchase agreement.

— AEENHAREEEAEEZNBBERE 1K
ZHEEEREEHEMIENTEMEMEGR

B3R IR R R S — 2 e
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

B R BARE

BERETEE®

Key Audit Matters How our audit addressed the key audit matters
ERETEE BN ERUNEEBREETSE
Allowance of inventories

FEBE

Refer to Notes 2.11, 3 and 18 to the consolidated financial
statements.

2H&EA

B R R AE211 - 3/18 ¢

As at 31 March 2021, the Group had inventories of approximately
HK$11,818,000. Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or net
realisable value.

20214637318 - BEEENFEL/R118180008 T © 77
BEUKARSAIERFEMETRNREETNER -

Allowance for inventories requires management to make significant
accounting estimates and judgements. These include identification
of damaged, slow moving and obsolete inventories and assessing
the level of allowance required by estimating the net realisable value
of inventories, which is the actual or estimated selling price in the
ordinary course of business, less the estimated costs necessary to
make the sale.
FEBEEREEEEHERSH BT RAE 815
BAER FHEHEMREGEURERMAFENEE
FEEINATESTNERSA TS ERIELHEESH
Ak BT A BT PR B K o

We identified the allowance of inventories as a key audit matter as
the estimation of the net realisable value of inventories involved
significant estimates and judgements made by management. These
estimations are also subject to uncertainty as a result of change of
competitor actions and market condition.
HREFFETZRFESRBAEREEELENE R G
TR MERMEEEEESNABEREEGTSEE - F
A IRBERFETARTAE T RO EEEARY
% o

Our audit procedures in relation to allowance of inventories included
the following:

BMBAEFERENEZEFERBATSE:

Assessing the reasonableness of the basis used by management
in identifying damaged, slow moving and obsolete inventories;
FHEEREREANESR FHEAREFEREAY
EERTARE:

Attending the year-end inventory count to observe the physical
conditions of inventories and identify damaged or obsolete
inventories;

ERERFELYE UBRFENEEREMRRLHT
BREAREFE

Testing the accuracy of the inventory ageing report, on a sample
basis, by checking to the purchase source documents;
FERREBEIRXY  mEASNFERR®RE
TR

Testing the net realisable value of inventory items, on a sample
basis, to the selling price subsequent to the year end; and
MEAAGFEHARER FERFABREE R

Evaluating the appropriateness of management's assessment
of the estimated future utilisation of inventory items
without subsequent sales with reference to their ageing and
marketability of the relevant inventory items.
2EFBEENERIEHET  FEEEERNIL
BEBHESNBEATHBEFEHEBEN MG RAKER
BERAEENFEETHE -
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

B ZBERE

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key Audit Matters
BEETTER

How our audit addressed the key audit matters

RMNERNAEERREAER

Provision for impairment of trade and other receivables

BEZRAMBERRARERE

Refer to Notes 2.10, 3 and 19 to the consolidated financial
statements.

28486 M ISR E M 7210 ~ 3%19 o

As at 31 March 2021, the Group had trade and other receivables of
approximately HK$49,662,000 (net of ECL allowance of approximately
HK$900,000), which falls within the scope of expected credit losses
("ECL") model for impairment assessment.

R2211E3A3NE - EEENEZIRAMERRIENR
49,662,0007% 7T (2 41k 78 HA {5 & B 1B &5 49900,000/8 7T)
HHENEMEENTEREEEEERSEER -

The Group recognises ECL allowance based on assumptions about
risk of default and expected loss rates. The Group uses judgement in
making these assumptions and selecting the inputs to the impairment
calculation based on the Group’ past history, existing market
condition and forward-looking estimates at the end of each reporting
period.
EEEEANBYRRBRRLERSEXHEREREE
BEEE - ERENEERJRLERREFEMAH
ABER AR BE5EEERR ROMAKERS
HACR & A IS (k5T 8o 38 A BT o

We identified the provision for impairment of trade and other
receivables as a key audit matter due to its significance to the
consolidated financial statements and significant degree of
management’s estimation and judgement are involved in assessing
the credit risk under the ECL model.

HRES Rk EMEWRRIENRERGHES B RE
BREE AREEHEEBERLFIEEERR YR
HRERBELDERNGRALE  HRMEE SR EME
WA RERE#RNAERESEIE -

Our audit procedures in relation to provision for impairment of trade and
other receivables included the following:

BMEEES R EMERFIEREBENEZIETEE
AT &8

Understanding management's assessment of ECL allowance on
trade and other receivables;
THREEBYHBSLHMERFERBEEBEG
H ey T A

Assessing the reasonableness of estimates and judgement
made by management on ECL allowance by examining the
information used by management to form such judgements and
evaluating whether the loss rates are appropriately adjusted
based on current economic conditions and forward-looking
information;
FRECEIRENRIELREEERBEED A
RERHER  ULTEERXRETERBTRE
RARAEEERZARAE THEREREHE
EEREBEEFENGFTRABES S

Testing on a sample basis the ageing report by comparing with
the relevant invoices and other supporting documents; and
78 BOME B B 5 B E M BB A S - ORI B BR B
WwE R

Checking, on a sample basis, the accuracy of ECL allowance
using the ECL rates adopted by the Group.

A SE£EMRANEREEEES Mkt
RHEEEEBIES T LR -
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information
comprises all the information in the 2021 annual report of the Company, but
does not include the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other
information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether
the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude
that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required
to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued
by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary
to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern,
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the
Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors assisted by the Audit Committee are responsible for overseeing
the Group's financial reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report
that includes our opinion. We report our opinion solely to you, as a body, in
accordance with our agreed terms of engagement and for no other purpose. We
do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for
the contents of this report.

B R BARE
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B ZBERE

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Continued)

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that
an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error
and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on
the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design
and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from
fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the
override of internal control.

obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but
not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group’s internal control.

evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made
by the directors.

conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained,
whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions
that may cast significant doubt on the Group's ability to continue as
a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists,
we are required to draw attention in our auditor’'s report to the
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor's
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to
cease to continue as a going concern.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Continued)

° evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

° obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other matters,
the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings,
including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during
our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to
communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably
be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, actions taken to
eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we determine
those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit
matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely
rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in
our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be
expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

Grant Thornton Hong Kong Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Level 12

28 Hennessy Road

Wanchai

Hong Kong

22 June 2021

Kwok Siu Kwan, Sylvia
Practising Certificate No.: P06616
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
SGEREREMEZERBER

For the year ended 31 March 2021 & = 202143 A318 It F /€

2021 2020
20214 2020%F
Notes HKS$'000 HK$ 000
M & FET FE T
Revenue Wz 4 120,551 91,103
Cost of sales 85 & B A (46,330) (25,842)
Gross profit EF 74,221 65,261
Other income H A g A 5 4,538 155
Selling and marketing expenses & R i5HEE X2 (37,791) (33,652)
Administrative expenses THRAX (18,921) (19,361)
Fair value change on contingent ERARENRAEBEE
consideration payable (2,633) (3,385)
Provision for impairment of trade receivables & 5 Ji& 48 3 T8 5 B B & (200) (700)
Finance costs B 75 B 7R 6 (1,310) (741)
Profit before income tax FR B 18 Bt Al % F 7 17,904 7577
Income tax expense Fris Fi 5 2 9 (3,345) (2,361)
Profit for the year attributable to AARERBFEAELFERER
equity holders of the Company 14,559 5216
Other comprehensive income FREMEZEKZE
for the year
Items that will be reclassified subsequently — E & #52 %7 77 48 2 18 25 A9 A H
to profit or loss
Exchange gain on translation of financial MEGINEBIEWMRAE R
statements of foreign operations I = 291 —
Total comprehensive income AR FEAERL
for the year attributable to equity FREZEWRBEEHE
holders of the Company 14,850 5,216
Earnings per share attributable to AR FBEAENL
equity holders of the Company BRER
(expressed in HK cents per share) (AT R B R)
— Basic and diluted —HEARREE 11 0.92 0.33
The notes on pages 70 to 155 are an integral part of these consolidated — £A70ZE 1558 BT & fif 5% Th AN 4R & B 765 3R 3R A9 40 K
financial statements. o o
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

e BRI R

As at31 March 2021  720214E3A31H

2021 2020
20215 20204
Notes HKS$ 000 HK$'000
N3 FET FE T
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EEREE
Non-current assets ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment L S 13 14,948 22,320
Intangible assets BVEE 14 180 332
Goodwill SES 16 23,426 23,426
Cash surrender value of life insurance ASRENBOHRSEE 17 1,847 1,789
Deferred tax assets IR T IR & E 25 522 416
40,923 48,283
Current assets REBEE
Inventories FE 18 11,818 11,602
Trade and other receivables B 5 & H b e W sk I8 19 56,389 52,470
Bank balances and cash RITEHRER S 20 29,140 16,773
97,347 80,845
Current liabilities RBEE
Trade and other payables B 5 Kk H MR 21 25,617 22,779
Contract liabilities AHNamE 22 12,138 4,680
Tax payable JE A B 18 4,19 2177
Bank borrowings RITEE 23 8,757 5,704
Lease liabilities HEBE 24 8,153 10,785
58,861 46,125
Net current assets RBEERE 38,486 34,720
Total assets less current liabilities HEERARBER 79,409 83,003
Non-current liabilities kRBEE
Lease liabilities HEaE 24 5,652 9,425
Contingent consideration payable JERSARE 32 3,362 18,033
9,014 27,458
Net assets FEE 70,395 55,545
EQUITY =
Share capital f& A 26 15,840 15,840
Reserves G 27 54,555 39,705
Total equity B RE 70,395 55,545
Tong Tang Joseph Tsui Wing Tak
B HmERE
Director Director
EF EF

The notes on pages 70 to 155 are an integral part of these consolidated

financial statements.

EIOEEEFE M E AR A M MRMAK

o e
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

For the year ended 31 March 2021 & = 202143 A318 It F /€
(Accumulated
losses)/
Share Share Capital Exchange Retained Total
capital premium* reserve® reserve® profits* equity
(BtER)/
BREA  RHEE* EBEARE EXRSE RKREORA HER
HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000
FET FHET FET FHET FHET FET
Balance at 1 April 2019 RA9ELAIE B8 15,840 31,564 5474 - (2.549) 50,329
Profit and total comprehensive income ~ F & Bl & 2 AW &
for the year B — — - - 5216 5216
Balance at 31 March 2020 and R2020F38318 R
1 April 2020 WNEIRIRRLE S 15,840 31,564 5474 - 2667 55,545
Profit for the year FREA — — — - 14,559 14,559
Other comprehensive income A2 Al
— Exchange gain on translation of —REBNEBNE
financial statements of foreign HEME LWz
operations — — — 291 — 291
Total comprehensive income FR2ENELE
for the year — — — 291 14,559 14,850
Balance at 31 March 2021 RNNFIANAME 8 15,840 31,564 5,474 291 17,226 70,395

*

The reserves accounts comprise the Group’s reserves of HK$54,555,000 (2020:

HK$39,705,000) in the consolidated statement of financial position.

The notes on pages 70 to 155 are an integral part of these consolidated

financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
IE@/)ILE%%

me

For the year ended 31 March 2021 & £202143A31H It F &
2021 2020
20215 20204
HKS$ 000 HK$ 000
FET FEr
Cash flows from operating activities RETEMBEERE
Profit before income tax B FIT 15 B4 A S A 17,904 1577
Adjustment for: BTFNIBEELEAAE:
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment ME - BEREZETE 13,359 9,443
Amortisation of intangible assets BB E 152 160
Interest income MEHKA (49) (12)
Interest expenses R ERMX 1,310 741
COVID-19-related rent concessions COVID-194H 78 1 & &= &k (91) —
Provision for impairment of trade receivables B SN ERERE 200 700
Fair value change on contingent consideration ERHARENAABEE
payable 2,633 3,385
Fair value gain on cash surrender value of life )\7% CHBORESEARN
insurance AEEN = (58) (34)
Operating profit before working capital changes EEECEHAIMNEE R 35,360 21,960
(Increasel/Decrease in inventories GEGEM B (19) 2,161
Increase in trade and other receivables B 5 I E b FE U IR 18 N (4,015) (17,515)
(Decrease)/Increase in trade and other payables B R EMEARIECORLD), N (2,184) 2,094
Increase/(Decrease) in contract liabilities a EHBaERMN k) 7,458 (5,912)
Cash generated from operations KEFRBRS 36,600 2,788
Income tax paid B (1,432) (317)
Interest received BT 8 49 12
Net cash from operating activities AEE T ;fﬂﬁﬁ 1R H L FEE 35217 2,483
Cash flows from investing activities RETEHFBRERNE
Purchase of property, plant and equipment BEWE BELEZE (442) (561)
Additions of intangible assets RNEEBWEE - (270)
Subsequent payment for acquisition of a subsidiary U &% — 51 BT B 2 A1 Y
(Note 32) Hig MR 7232) (12,339) (3,500)
Net cash used in investing activities KEZBFAHE S FHE (12,781) (4,331)
Cash flows from financing activities RMETBRESRESRE
Proceeds from bank borrowings RITEEGHIE 39,209 14,760
Repayment of bank borrowings EERTEER (36,156) (9,525)
Capital element of lease liabilities HESEMER 4|§ 92 (11,859) (8,668)
Interest element of lease liabilities HEBENFNEH D (900) (645)
Interest paid 2T F & (410) (96)
Net cash used in financing activities BETEHE L FHE (10,116) (4,174)
Net Increase/(Decrease) in cash and cash ReRASEEY
equivalents ®hORD) B 12,320 (6,022)
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes INETERE BN E 47 —
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the ~ ¥ & KB L% f’i )
year 16,773 22,795
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year, FRESRESEEY
represented by bank balances and cash LERTHEBRESAK 29,140 16,773

The notes on pages 70 to 155 are an integral part of these consolidated

financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2021 & = 202143 A318 It F /€

1. GENERAL INFORMATION

Tree Holdings Limited (the “Company”) was incorporated in the
Cayman lIslands as an exempted company with limited liability under
the Companies Law (as revised) of the Cayman Islands. The address
of the Company's registered office has changed from P.0. Box 1350,
Clifton House, 75 Fort Street, Grand Cayman KY1-1108, Cayman Islands
to Windward 3, Regatta Office Park, P.0. Box 1350, Grand Cayman KY1-
1108, Cayman Islands effective from 16 December 2020. The address of
its principal place of business is 28/F., Horizon Plaza, 2 Lee Wing Street,

Ap Lei Chau, Hong Kong.

The Company is an investment holding company and its subsidiaries
(collectively, the “Group”) are principally engaged in the sale and
distribution of furniture and home accessories, distribution and licensing
of intellectual property rights, the provision of styling, consulting and

furniture agency services and the operation of a café.

The directors consider the immediate and ultimate holding company
of the Company to be Tiptop Honour Limited (“Tiptop”), a company

incorporated in Samoa.

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2021

were approved for issue by the board of directors on 22 June 2021.

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES
2.1 Basis of preparation

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(“HKFRSs") which collective term includes all applicable
individual Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong
Accounting Standards ("HKASs") and Interpretations issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
("HKICPA") and the accounting principles generally accepted in

Hong Kong.

The consolidated financial statements also comply with the
applicable requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance
and include the applicable disclosure requirements of the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM (the “GEM Listing
Rules”) of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the

“Stock Exchange”).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2021

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

21

Basis of preparation (Continved)

The significant accounting policies that have been used in the
preparation of these consolidated financial statements are
summarised below. These policies have been consistently applied
to all the years presented unless otherwise stated. The adoption
of new and amended HKFRSs and the impacts on the Group's
consolidated financial statements, if any, are disclosed in Note
2.2.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on
the historical cost basis, except for cash surrender value of
life insurance and contingent consideration payable which are
carried at fair value. The measurement bases are fully described
in the accounting policies below.

It should be noted that accounting estimates and assumptions
are used in preparation of the consolidated financial statements.
Although these estimates are based on the management’s
best knowledge and judgement of current events and actions,
actual results may ultimately differ from those estimates. The
areas involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or
areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the
consolidated financial statements are disclosed in Note 3.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ra MR

For the year ended 31 March 2021

HE2021F3A3NHIEFE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)
2.2 Changes in accounting policy and disclosures

(a)

Amended HKFRSs that are effective for annual
periods beginning on or after 1 April 2020

In the current year, the Group has applied for the first
time the following new and amended HKFRSs issued by
the HKICPA, which are relevant to the Group’s operations
and effective for the Group’s consolidated financial
statements for the annual period beginning on 1 April
2020:

Amendments to Definition of a Business
HKFRS 3

Amendments to
HKFRS 9, HKAS 39

and HKFRS 7

Interest Rate Benchmark Reform

Amendments to Definition of Material
HKAS 1 and

HKAS 8

In addition, on 1 April 2020, the Group has early applied
the Amendments to HKFRS 16 “Covid-19-Related Rent
Concessions” which will be effective for the Group for
financial year beginning on or after 1 June 2020.

Other than as noted below, the adoption of the new and
amended HKFRSs had no material impact on how the
results and financial position for the current and prior
periods have been prepared and presented.

TREE HOLDINGS LIMITED Z& =2 8% 5 PR 4 7 Annual Report 4F % 2021

2.

FTESHEREBE )
22 EXBEXRBEESH
(a) 202048 1B HEEBBEH

FENEMERNEBIES
B S SR 5 22l

RAFEE AEEEERER
EEQHMASHEmEASE
B R2020F4 8 1B RBNFEE
HEMEEREERAEED
REMBREMEERBUT
FEI BRI BB REE
Al

BB REER
EIRMEBIT R

ERAUBREEL
F9% - ABG
B 395 &
EBUBRE
B 7560
BT A

BB GRS
kBB EFER
ERE ORI

EBNTR

MEZERE

EAMTR

It AN 20204818 - AR &
ECiRFEASERAEER
2020F6 R1E IR M B BRF [Z
ERNEBM RS ERE6
8% H) {& 57 A [COVID-1948 B 7 &

BT XRERES - WA R
RIEFTHE BB RS LAY
R 25 A HIRE KA HIE
RERBBMRRN T AL &
EAFE-



/3

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2021

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)
2.2 Changes in accounting policy and disclosures
(Continued)

(a)

Amended HKFRSs that are effective for annual
periods beginning on or after 1 April 2020 (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKAS 8 “Definition of
Material”

The amendments clarify the definition of material and
state that “information is material if omitting, misstating
or obscuring it could reasonably be expected to influence
the decisions that the primary users of general purpose
financial statements make on the basis of those financial
statements, which provide financial information about a
specific reporting entity”. Materiality depends on nature
or magnitude of information or both.

The amendments also:

° introduce the concept of obscuring information
when considering materiality and provide some
examples of circumstances that may result in
material information being obscured;

o clarify that materiality assessment will need
to take into account how primary users could
reasonably be expected to be influenced in making
economic decisions by replacing the threshold
“could influence” with “could reasonably be
expected to influence” in the definition of material;
and

° clarify that materiality assessment will need
to take into account of information provided
to primary users of general purpose financial
statements (i.e. existing and potential investors,
lenders and other creditors that rely on general
purpose financial statements for much of the
financial information they need).

The application of these amendments has had no impact
on the Group's consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ra MR

For the year ended 31 March 2021

HE2021F3A3NHIEFE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continved)

2.2 Changes in accounting policy and disclosures
(Continued)
(a)  Amended HKFRSs that are effective for annual

periods beginning on or after 1 April 2020 (Continued)
Amendments to HKFRS 16 “Covid-19-Related Rent
Concessions”

Amendments to HKFRS 16 only apply to lessee accounting
and have no effect on lessor accounting. The amendments
provide a practical expedient that allows a lessee to
by-pass the need to evaluate whether certain qualifying
rent concessions occurring as a direct consequence of the
COVID-19 ("COVID-19-Related Rent Concessions”) are
lease modification and, instead, account for those rent
concessions as if they were not lease modifications.

The practical expedient is only applicable to
COVID-19-Related Rent Concessions and only if all of the
following conditions are met:

a) the change in lease payments results in revised
consideration for the lease that is substantially
the same as, or less than, the consideration for the
lease immediately preceding the change;

b) any reduction in lease payments affects only
payments originally due on or before 30 June 2021
(for example, a rent concession would meet this
condition if it results in reduced lease payments
on or before 30 June 2021 and increased lease
payments that extend beyond 30 June 2021); and

c) there is no substantive change to other terms and
conditions of the lease.

The Group has elected to early adopt the amendments
and applies the practical expedient to all qualifying
COVID-19-Related Rent Concessions granted to the Group
during the year.

Consequently, rent concessions received have been
recognised in “Other income” in profit or loss in the
period in which the event or condition that triggers those
payments occurred.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
i a MR

For the year ended 31 March 2021

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continved)

2.2 Changes in accounting policy and disclosures
(Continued)
(b)  Issued but not yet effective HKFRSs

At the date of authorisation of these consolidated
financial statements, certain new and amended HKFRSs
have been published but are not yet effective, and have
not been adopted early by the Group:

HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts and
related amendments?

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual
Framework®

Interest Rate Benchmark

Reform — Phase 2!

Amendments to HKFRS
9, HKAS 39, HKFRS 7,
HKFRS 4 and HKFRS
16

Amendments to HKFRS
10 and HKAS 28

Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture*

Covid-19-Related Rent
Concessions beyond 30
June 2021¢

Classification of Liabilities
as Current or Non-current
and related amendments to
Hong Kong Interpretation 5
(2020)3

Amendments to
HKFRS 16

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 1
and HKFRS Practice
Statement 2

Disclosure of Accounting
Policies?

Amendments to HKAS 8  Definition of Accounting
Estimates®

Amendments to HKAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment
— Proceeds before
Intended Use?

Amendments to HKAS 37 Onerous Contracts — Cost of
Fulfilling a Contract?

Amendments to HKFRSs ~ Annual Improvements to
HKFRS Standards 2018—
20202

Accounting Guideline 5
(Revised)

Merger Accounting for
Common Control
Combination®
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2021 & = 202143 A318 It F /€

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

2.2 Changes in accounting policy and disclosures

(Continued)
(b)  Issued but not yet effective HKFRSs (Continued)

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January

2021

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2022

3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2023

4 Effective date not yet determined

5 Effective for business combination/common control
combination for which the acquisition/combination date
is on or after the beginning of the first annual period
beginning on or after 1 January 2022

6 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 April
2021

The directors anticipate that all of the pronouncements
will be adopted in the Group’s accounting policy for the
first period beginning on or after the effective date of
the pronouncement. The new and amended HKFRSs are
not expected to have a material impact on the Group's
financial statements.

2.3 Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries made up to 31
March each year.

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The Group
controls an entity when the Group is exposed to, or has rights to,
variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the
ability to affect those returns through its power over the entity.
When assessing whether the Group has power over the entity,
only substantive rights relating to the entity (held by the Group
and others) are considered.

The Group includes the income and expenses of a subsidiary
in the consolidated financial statements from the date it gains
control until the date when the Group ceases to control the
subsidiary.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2021

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)
2.3 Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Intra-group transactions, balances and unrealised gains and
losses on transactions between group companies are eliminated
in preparing the consolidated financial statements. Where
unrealised losses on sales of intra-group asset are reversed on
consolidation, the underlying asset is also tested for impairment
from the Group's perspective. Amounts reported in the financial
statements of subsidiaries have been adjusted where necessary
to ensure consistency with the accounting policies adopted by
the Group.

In the Company’s statement of financial position, subsidiaries
are carried at cost less any impairment loss unless the subsidiary
is held for sale or included in a disposal group. Cost is adjusted
to reflect changes in consideration arising from contingent
consideration amendments. Cost also includes direct attributable
costs of investment.

The results of subsidiaries are accounted for by the Company on
the basis of dividends received and receivable at the reporting
date. All dividends whether received out of the investee's pre or
post-acquisition profits are recognised in the Company's profit or
loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ra MR

For the year ended 31 March 2021

2.

HE201F3ANBILEE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)
2.4 Business combinations

Acquisitions of subsidiaries and businesses are accounted for
using the acquisition method. The consideration transferred
in a business combination is measured at fair value, which is
calculated as the sum of the acquisition-date fair values of the
assets transferred by the Group, liabilities incurred by the Group
to the former owners of the acquiree and the equity interests
issued by the Group in exchange for control of the acquiree.
Acquisition-related costs are recognised in profit or loss as

incurred.

Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent
liabilities assumed in a business combination are measured

initially at their fair values at the acquisition date.

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the
consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling
interests in the acquiree, and the fair value of the acquirer’s
previously held equity in the acquiree (if any) over the net of the
acquisition—date amounts of the identifiable assets acquired
and liabilities assumed. If, after assessment, the net of the
acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable assets acquired
and liabilities assumed exceeds the sum of the consideration
transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interests in
the acquiree and the fair value on the acquirer’s previously
held interest in the acquiree (if any), the excess is recognised

immediately in profit or loss as bargain purchase gain.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2021

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

24

Business combinations (Continued)

Where the consideration the Group transfers in a business
combination includes assets or liabilities resulting from
a contingent consideration arrangement, the contingent
consideration is measured at its acquisition-date fair value
and considered as part of the consideration transferred in a
business combination. Changes in the fair value of the contingent
consideration that qualify as measurement period adjustments
are adjusted retrospectively, with the corresponding adjustments
being made against goodwill or gain on bargain purchase.
Measurement period adjustments are adjustments that arise
from additional information obtained during the measurement
period about facts and circumstances that existed as of the
acquisition date. Measurement period does not exceed one
year from the acquisition date. The subsequent accounting for
changes in the fair value of the contingent consideration that
do not qualify as measurement period adjustments depends
on how the contingent consideration is classified. Contingent
consideration that is classified as equity is not remeasured at
subsequent reporting dates and its subsequent settlement is
accounting for within equity. Contingent consideration that is
classified as a financial liability is remeasured at subsequent
reporting dates at fair value with corresponding gain or loss
being recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ra MR

For the year ended 31 March 2021

2.

HE2021F3A3NHIEFE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)
2.5 Foreign currency translation

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollar (“HK$"), which is also the functional currency of the
Company and all values are rounded to the nearest thousands
("HK$°000"), except when otherwise indicated.

In the individual financial statements of the consolidated entities,
foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional
currency of the individual entity using the exchange rates
prevailing at the dates of the transactions. At the reporting date,
monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies
are translated at the foreign exchange rates ruling at that date.
Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement
of such transactions and from the reporting date retranslation of
monetary assets and liabilities are recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost
in a foreign currency are not retranslated (i.e. only translated
using the exchange rates at the transaction date).

In the consolidated financial statements, all individual financial
statements of foreign operations, originally presented in a
currency different from the Group’s presentation currency,
have been converted into HK$. Assets and liabilities have been
translated into HK$ at the closing rates at the reporting date.
Income and expenses have been converted into the HK$ at the
exchange rates ruling at the transaction dates, or at the average
rates over the reporting period provided that the exchange rates
do not fluctuate significantly. Any differences arising from this
procedure have been recognised in other comprehensive income
and accumulated separately in the exchange reserve in equity.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2021

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)
2.6 Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment (other than cost of right-of-use
assets as described in Note 2.14) are initially recognised at
acquisition cost. They are subsequently stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses, if
any.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of assets
less their residual values over their estimated useful lives, using
the straight-line method, at the following rates per annum:

Leasehold improvements Over the lease term

Furniture and fixtures and office equipment 20%-30%

Motor vehicles 30%

Accounting policy for depreciation of right-of-use assets is set
out in Note 2.14.

Estimates of residual value and useful life are reviewed, and
adjusted if appropriate, at each reporting date.

Gain or loss arising on retirement or disposal is determined as the
difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount
of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount
or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when
it is probable that future economic benefits associated with
the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be
measured reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part is
derecognised. All other costs, such as repairs and maintenance
are charged to profit or loss during the financial period in which
they are incurred.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ra MR

For the year ended 31 March 2021

2.

HE201F3ANBILEE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.1

Goodwill

Goodwill arising in a business combination is recognised as an
asset at the date that control is acquired (the acquisition date).
Goodwill is measured as the excess of the aggregate of the
fair value of the consideration transferred, the amount of any
non-controlling interests in the acquiree, and the fair value of the
acquirer’s previously held equity interest in the acquiree (if any)
over the Group's interest in the net fair value of the acquiree’s
identifiable assets and liabilities measured as at the acquisition
date.

If, after reassessment, the Group's interest in the fair value of
the acquiree’s identifiable net assets exceeds the sum of the
consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling
interests in the acquiree and the fair value of the acquirer’s
previously held equity interest in the acquiree (if any), the excess
is recognised immediately in profit or loss as a bargain purchase
gain.

Goodwill is stated at cost less accumulated impairment losses.
Goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units and is tested
annually for impairment (Note 2.19).

On subsequent disposal of a subsidiary, the attributable amount
of goodwill capitalised is included in the determination of the
amount of gain or loss on disposal.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2021 & £202143A31H It F &

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.8

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)
Website development costs

Costs that are directly attributable to development of specific
websites, which include external direct costs of materials and
services consumed in developing the website are recognised
as intangible assets provided they meet all of the following
recognition requirements:

(i) demonstration of technical feasibility of the prospective
product for internal use or sale;

(ii) there is intention to complete the intangible asset and use
or sell it;

(i)~ the Group's ability to use or sell the intangible asset is
demonstrated;

(iv)  the intangible asset will generate probable economic
benefits through internal use or sale;

(v) sufficient technical, financial and other resources are
available for completion; and

(vi)  the expenditure attributable to the intangible asset can be
reliably measured.

Capitalised website development costs are carried at cost less
accumulated amortisation and any accumulated impairment
losses. Amortisation is provided on straight-line basis over
their estimated useful lives of 5 years. Research and other
development costs relating to website development and website
maintenance costs are expensed as incurred.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ra MR

For the year ended 31 March 2021

2.

HE2021F3A3NHIEFE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continved)

2.8 Intangible assets (other than goodwill)
(Continued)
Trademarks

2.9

Trademarks are recognised initially at cost. After initial
recognition, the trademarks with finite useful lives are carried
at cost less accumulated amortisation and any accumulated
impairment losses. Amortisation is provided on straight-line
basis over their estimated useful lives of 10 years. Amortisation
commences when the trademarks are available for use.

The amortisation methods and useful lives are reviewed, and
adjusted if appropriate, at each reporting date.

Trademarks are tested for impairment as described below in Note
2.19.

Financial instruments

Recognition and derecognition

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when
the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
financial instrument.

Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual rights
to the cash flows from the financial asset expire, or when the
financial asset and substantially all of its risks and rewards
are transferred. A financial liability is derecognised when it is
extinguished, discharged, cancelled or expires.

(a)  Financial assets

Classification and initial measurement of financial assets
Except for those trade receivables that do not contain
a significant financing component and are measured at
the transaction price in accordance with HKFRS 15, all
financial assets are initially measured at fair value, in case
of a financial asset not at fair value through profit or loss,
plus transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition of the financial asset. Transaction costs of
financial assets carried at fair value through profit or loss
are expensed in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
i a MR

For the year ended 31 March 2021

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)
2.9 Financial instruments (Continved)

(a)

Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and initial measurement of financial assets
(Continued)

Financial assets, other than those designated and
effective as hedging instruments, are classified into the
following categories:

—  amortised cost;

—  fairvalue through profit or loss; or

—  fairvalue through other comprehensive income.

The classification is determined by both:

— the entity’s business model for managing the
financial asset; and

—  the contractual cash flow characteristics of the
financial asset.

All income and expenses relating to financial assets
that are recognised in profit or loss are presented within
“finance costs”, “other income” or other financial items,
except for expected credit losses ("ECL") of trade and
other receivables which is presented as a separate line
item in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ra MR

For the year ended 31 March 2021

2.

HE201F3ANBILEE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)
2.9 Financial instruments (Continved)

(a)

Financial assets (Continued)

Subsequent measurement of financial assets

Debt instruments

Financial assets at amortised cost

Financial assets are measured at amortised cost if
the assets meet the following conditions (and are not
designated as fair value through profit or loss):

—  they are held within a business model whose
objective is to hold the financial assets and collect
its contractual cash flows; and

— the contractual terms of the financial assets give
rise to cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and interest on the principal amount
outstanding.

After initial recognition, these are measured at amortised
cost using the effective interest method. Interest income
from these financial assets is included in “other income”
in profit or loss. Discounting is omitted where the effect
of discounting is immaterial. The Group's trade and other
receivables and bank balances and cash fall into this
category of financial assets.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets that are held within a different business
model other than “hold to collect” or “hold to collect and
sell” are categorised at fair value through profit or loss.
Further, irrespective of business model, financial assets
whose contractual cash flows are not solely payments
of principal and interest are accounted for at fair value
through profit or loss. The Group's cash surrender value of
life insurance falls into this category of financial assets.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
i a MR

For the year ended 31 March 2021

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)
2.9 Financial instruments (Continved)

(b)

Financial liabilities

Classification and measurement of financial liabilities
The Group’s financial liabilities include trade and
other payables, bank borrowings, lease liabilities and
contingent consideration payable.

Financial liabilities (other than lease liabilities) are initially
measured at fair value, and, where applicable, adjusted
for transaction costs unless the Group designated a
financial liability at fair value through profit or loss.

Subsequently, financial liabilities (other than lease
liabilities) are measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method except for derivatives which
are not designated as hedging instruments in hedge
relationships and financial liabilities designated at
fair value through profit or loss, which are carried
subsequently at fair value with gains or losses recognised
in profit or loss.

All interest-related charges and, if applicable, changes
in an instrument'’s fair value that are reported in profit or
loss are included within finance costs.

Accounting policies of lease liabilities are set out in Note
214,
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ra MR

For the year ended 31 March 2021

2.

HE2021F3A3NHIEFE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)
2.9 Financial instruments (Continved)

(b)

Financial liabilities (Continued)

Classification and measurement of financial liabilities
(Continued)

Bank borrowings

Bank borrowings are recognised initially at fair value,
net of transaction costs incurred. Bank borrowings are
subsequently stated at amortised cost; any difference
between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the
redemption value is recognised in profit or loss over the
period of the bank borrowings using the effective interest
method.

Bank barrowings are classified as current liabilities unless
the Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement
of the liability for at least twelve months after the
reporting date.

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are recognised initially at their
fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost,
using the effective interest method.

Contingent consideration payable

Contingent consideration payable is recognised at fair
value at the end of each reporting period with gain or loss
on remeasurement to fair value is recognised immediately
in profit or loss.

2.10 Impairment of financial assets
HKFRS 9's impairment requirements use more forward-looking
information to recognise ECL — the “ECL model”. Instruments
within the scope included loans and other debt-type financial
assets measured at amortised cost and trade receivables.

The Group considers a broader range of information when
assessing credit risk and measuring ECL, including past events,
current conditions, reasonable and supportable forecasts that
affect the expected collectability of the future cash flows of the
instrument.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
i a MR

For the year ended 31 March 2021 & £202143A31H It F &

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. FEBTHEHBEw)
POLICIES (Continued)
2.10 Impairment of financial assets (Continved)

210 EREEREE)

In applying this forward-looking approach, a distinction is made
between:

—  financial instruments that have not deteriorated
significantly in credit quality since initial recognition or
that have low credit risk (“Stage 1"); and

— financial instruments that have deteriorated significantly
in credit quality since initial recognition and whose credit
risk is not low (“Stage 2").

“Stage 3" would cover financial assets that have objective
evidence of impairment at the reporting date.

“12-month ECL" are recognised for the Stage 1 category while
“lifetime ECL" are recognised for the Stage 2 category.

Measurement of the ECL is determined by a probability-weighted
estimate of credit losses over the expected life of the financial
instrument.

Trade receivables

For trade receivables, the Group applies a simplified approach
in calculating ECL and recognises a loss allowance based on
lifetime ECL at each reporting date. These are the expected
shortfalls in contractual cash flows, considering the potential
for default at any point during the life of the financial assets. In
calculating the ECL, the Group has established a provision matrix
that is based on its historical credit loss experience and external
indicators, adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to the
debtors and the economic environment.

To measure the ECL, trade receivables are assessed individually
or have been grouped based on shared credit risk characteristics
and the days past due.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ra MR

For the year ended 31 March 2021 & = 202143 A318 It F /€

2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)
2.10 Impairment of financial assets (Continved)

Other financial assets measured at amortised cost

The Group measures the loss allowance for other receivables
equal to 12-month ECL, unless when there has been a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition, the Group
recognises lifetime ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime
ECL should be recognised is based on significant increase in the
likelihood or risk of default occurring since initial recognition.

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased significantly
since initial recognition, the Group compares the risk of a default
occurring on the financial assets at the reporting date with
the risk of default occurring on the financial assets at the date
of initial recognition. In making this assessment, the Group
considers both quantitative and qualitative information that is
reasonable and supportable, including historical experience and
forward-looking information that is available without undue cost
or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into account
when assessing whether credit risk has increased significantly:

— an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
financial instrument’s external (if available) or internal
credit rating;

— significant deterioration in external market indicators of
credit risk, e.g. a significant increase in the credit spread,
the credit default swap prices for the debtor;

—  existing or forecast adverse changes in regulatory,
business, financial, economic conditions, or technological
environment that are expected to cause a significant
decrease in the debtor's ability to meet its debt
obligations; and

— an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
operating results of the debtor.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2021

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

210

21

212

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Other financial assets measured at amortised cost
(Continued)

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the Group
presumes that the credit risk has increased significantly since
initial recognition when contractual payments are more than 90
days past due, unless the Group has reasonable and supportable
information that demonstrates otherwise.

Despite the aforegoing, the Group assumes that the credit risk
on a debt instrument has not increased significantly since initial
recognition if the debt instrument is determined to have low
credit risk at the end of each reporting period. A debt instrument
is determined to have low credit risk if it has a low risk of
default, the borrower has strong capacity to meet its contractual
cash flow obligations in the near term and adverse changes in
economic and business conditions in the longer term may, but
will not necessarily, reduce the ability of the borrower to fulfill its
contractual cash flow obligations.

For internal credit risk management, the Group considers an
event of default occurs when (i) information developed internally
or obtained from external sources indicates that the debtor is
unlikely to pay its creditors, including the Group, in full (without
taking into account any collateral held by the Group).

Detailed analysis of the ECL assessment of trade receivables and
other financial assets measured at amortised cost are set out in
Note 34.2.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is determined using the weighted average basis. Net
realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary
course of business less applicable selling expenses.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents include cash at banks and in hand.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2021 & = 202143 A318 It F /€

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)
213 Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when the customer pays
consideration before the Group recognises the related revenue
(Note 2.17). A contract liability would also be recognised if the
Group has an unconditional right to receive consideration before
the Group recognises the related revenue. In such cases, a
corresponding receivable would also be recognised (Note 2.9).

For a single contract with the customer, either a net contract
asset or a net contract liability is presented. For multiple
contracts, contract assets and contract liabilities of unrelated

contracts are not presented on a net basis.

214 Leases

Definition of a lease and the Group as a lessee

At inception of a contract, the Group considers whether a
contract is, or contains a lease. A lease is defined as ‘a contract,
or part of a contract, that conveys the right to use an identified
asset (the underlying asset) for a period of time in exchange for

consideration’.

To apply this definition, the Group assesses whether the contract

meets three key evaluations which are whether:

° the contracts contains an identified asset, which is either
explicitly identified in the contract or implicitly specified
by being identified at the time the asset is made available

to the Group;

° the Group has the right to obtain substantially all of
the economic benefits from use of the identified asset
throughout the period of use, considering its rights within

the defined scope of the contract; and

° the Group has the right to direct the use of the identified
asset throughout the period of use. The Group assess
whether it has the right to direct ‘how and for what
purpose’ the asset is used throughout the period of use.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
i a MR

For the year ended 31 March 2021 & £202143A31H It F &

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. FTESHTHEME )
POLICIES (Continued)

2.14 Leases (Continued) 214 HE(#)

Definition of a lease and the Group as a lessee (Continued)
For contracts that contains a lease component and one or more
additional lease or non-lease components, the Group allocates
the consideration in the contract to each lease and non-lease
component on the basis of their relative stand-alone prices.
However, for leases of warehouse, office and shop premises in
which the Group is a lessee, the Group elected not to separate
non-lease components and will instead account for the lease and
non-lease components as a single lease component.

Measurement and recognition of leases as a lessee

At lease commencement date, the Group recognises a
right-of-use asset and a lease liability on the consolidated
statement of financial position. The right-of-use asset is
measured at cost, which is made up of the initial measurement of
the lease liability, any initial direct costs incurred by the Group,
an estimate of any costs to dismantle and remove the underlying
asset at the end of the lease, and any lease payments made
in advance of the lease commencement date (net of any lease
incentives received).

The Group depreciates the right-of-use assets on a straight-line
basis from the lease commencement date to the earlier of the
end of the useful life of the right-of-use assets or the end of
the lease term unless the Group is reasonably certain to obtain
ownership at the end of the lease term. The Group also assesses
the right-of-use assets for impairment when such indicator
exists.

At the commencement date, the Group measures the lease
liability at the present value of the lease payments unpaid at that
date, discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if
that rate cannot be readily determined, the Group's incremental
borrowing rate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ra MR

For the year ended 31 March 2021 & = 202143 A318 It F /€

2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)
2.14 Leases (Continued)

Definition of a lease and the Group as a lessee (Continued)

Measurement and recognition of leases as a lessee (Continued)

Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease
liability are made up of fixed payments (including in-substance
fixed payments) less any lease incentives receivable, variable
payments based on an index or rate, and amounts expected to be
payable under a residual value guarantee. The lease payments
also include the exercise price of a purchase option reasonably
certain to be exercised by the Group and payment of penalties
for terminating a lease, if the lease term reflects the Group
exercising the option to terminate.

Subsequent to initial measurement, the liability will be reduced
for lease payments made and increased for interest cost on the
lease liability. It is remeasured to reflect any reassessment or
lease modification, or if there are changes in in-substance fixed
payments. The variable lease payments that do not depend on an
index or a rate are recognised as expense in the period on which
the event or condition that triggers the payment occurs.

The Group remeasures lease liabilities whenever:

° there are changes in lease term or in the assessment of
exercise of a purchase option, in which case the related
lease liability is remeasured by discounting the revised
lease payments using a revised discount rate at the date
of reassessment.

° the lease payments changes due to changes in market
rental rates following a market rent review, in which
cases the related lease liability is remeasured by
discounting the revised lease payments using the initial
discount rate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
i a MR

For the year ended 31 March 2021 & £202143A31H It F &

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. FTESHTHEME )
POLICIES (Continued)

2.14 Leases (Continued) 214 HE(#)

Definition of a lease and the Group as a lessee (Continued)

Measurement and recognition of leases as a lessee (Continued)

For lease modification that is not accounted for as a separate
lease, the Group remeasures the lease liability based on the
lease term of the modified lease by discounting the revised lease
payments using a revised discount rate at the effective date of
modification. The only exception is any rent concessions which
arose as a direct consequence of the COVID-19 pandemic and
which satisfied the conditions set out in paragraph 46B of HKFRS
16 “Leases”. In such cases, the Group took advantage of the
practical expedient set out in paragraph 46A of HKFRS 16 and
recognised the change in consideration as if it were not a lease
modification.

When the lease is remeasured, the corresponding adjustment
is reflected in the right-of-use asset, or profit and loss if the
right-of-use asset is already reduced to zero.

The Group has elected to account for short-term leases using the
practical expedients. Instead of recognising a right-of-use asset
and lease liability, the payments in relation to these leases are
recognised as an expense in profit or loss on a straight-line basis
over the lease term. Short-term leases are leases with a lease
term of 12 months or less.

On the consolidated statement of financial position, right-of-use
assets have been included in property, plant and equipment.

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted for under HKFRS
9 and initially measured at fair value. Adjustments to fair value
at initial recognition are considered as additional lease payments
and included in the cost of right-of-use assets.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ra MR

For the year ended 31 March 2021

HE2021F3A3NHIEFE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

215

2.16

217

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present
obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, and it
is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required
to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate of the amount
of the obligation can be made. Where the time value of money
is material, provisions are stated at the present value of the
expenditure expected to settle the obligation.

All provisions are reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted
to reflect the current best estimate.

Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Share capital is
determined using the nominal value of shares that have been
issued. Any transaction costs associated with the issuing of
shares are deduction from share premium (net of any related
income tax benefit) to the extent they are incremental costs
directly attributable to the equity transaction.

Revenue recognition

Revenue arises mainly from the sale and distribution of furniture
and home accessories, distribution and licensing of intellectual
property rights, the provision of styling, consulting and furniture
agency services and the operation of a café.

To determine whether to recognise revenue, the Group follows a
5-step process:

Identifying the contract with a customer

Identifying the performance obligations

Determining the transaction price

Allocating the transaction price to the performance
obligations

5. Recognising revenue when/as performance obligation(s)
are satisfied

LN

In all cases, the total transaction price for a contract is allocated
amongst the various performance obligations based on their
relative stand-alone selling prices. The transaction price for
a contract excludes any amounts collected on behalf of third
parties.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
i a MR

For the year ended 31 March 2021 & £202143A31H It F &

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. FESHHEREBER)
POLICIES (Continued)
2.17 Revenue recognition (Continued)

217 WEBR )

Revenue is recognised either at a point in time or over time,
when (or as) the Group satisfies performance obligations by
transferring the promised goods or services to its customers.

Further details of the Group's revenue and other income
recognition policies are as follows:

Sale of furniture and home accessories

Revenue from the sale of furniture and home accessories is
recognised at a point in time when the Group transfers the
control of the assets to the customers upon delivery.

Distribution and license fee income

Fixed upfront distribution and license fee is recognised over time
on a straight-line basis over the terms of distribution agreement
and license period. License fee income from the licensing
arrangement is recognised over time on an accrual basis in
accordance with the terms of agreements.

Food and beverage income

Food and beverage income from the operation of a café is
recognised at a point in time when the related services are
rendered to the customers.

Commission income

Commission income from (i) consignment sales are recognised
at a point in time when the goods are sold by the Group; and {ii)
furniture agency service is recognised at a point in time when the
services are performed.

Consulting income
Consulting income is recognised at a point in time when the
services are performed.

Interest income

Interest income is recognised on a time proportion basis using
the effective interest method. For financial assets measured at
amortised cost that are not credit-impaired, the effective interest
rate is applied to the gross carrying amount of the asset. For
credit-impaired financial assets, the effective interest rate is
applied to the amortised cost (i.e. gross carrying amount net of
ECL allowance) of the asset.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ra MR

For the year ended 31 March 2021

2.

HE2021F3A3NHIEFE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

218

219

Government grants

Grants from the government are recognised at their fair value
where there is a reasonable assurance that the grant will be
received and the Group will comply with all attached conditions.

Government grants relating to income is presented in gross under
“Other income” in the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Goodwill arising on acquisition of a subsidiary, other intangible
assets, property, plant and equipment (including right-of-use
assets) and the Company's investment in a subsidiary are subject
to impairment testing.

Goodwill and other intangible assets with indefinite useful life
or those not yet available for use are tested for impairment at
least annually, irrespective of whether there is any indication
that they are impaired. All other assets are tested for impairment
whenever there are indications that the asset’s carrying amount
may not be recoverable.

An impairment loss is recognised as an expense immediately
for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds
its recoverable amount. Recoverable amount is the higher of
fair value, reflecting market conditions less costs of disposal,
and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future
cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax
discount rate that reflects current market assessment of time
value of money and the risk specific to the asset.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
i a MR

For the year ended 31 March 2021 & £202143A31H It F &

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. FESTHEHBEw)
POLICIES (Continued)
2.19 Impairment of non-financial assets (Continued)

219 FemEERER

For the purposes of assessing impairment, where an asset
does not generate cash inflows largely independent from
those from other assets, the recoverable amount is determined
for the smallest group of assets that generate cash inflows
independently (i.e. a cash-generating unit). As a result, some
assets are tested individually for impairment and some are tested
at cash-generating unit level. Corporate assets are allocated
to individual cash-generating units, when a reasonable and
consistent basis of allocation can be identified, or otherwise
they are allocated to the smallest group of cash-generating
units for which a reasonable and consistent allocation basis
can be identified. Goodwill in particular is allocated to those
cash-generating units that are expected to benefit from
synergies of the related business combination and represent the
lowest level within the Group at which the goodwill is monitored
for internal management purpose and not be larger than an
operating segment.

Impairment losses recognised for cash-generating units, to which
goodwill has been allocated, are credited initially to the carrying
amount of goodwill. Any remaining impairment loss is charged
pro rata to the other assets in the cash-generating unit, except
that the carrying value of an asset will not be reduced below
its individual fair value less cost of disposal, or value in use, if
determinable.

An impairment loss on goodwill is not reversed in subsequent
periods. In respect of other assets, an impairment loss is
reversed if there has been a favourable change in the estimates
used to determine the asset’s recoverable amount and only to
the extent that the asset's carrying amount does not exceed
the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of
depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment loss had been
recognised.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2021 & = 202143 A318 It F /€

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)
2.20 Employee benefits

Retirement benefit
Retirement benefits to employees are provided through defined
contribution plans.

The Group operates a defined contribution retirement benefit
plan under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance
(the “MPF Scheme”), for all of its employees who are eligible to
participate in the MPF Scheme. Contributions are made based on
a percentage of the employees’ basic salaries.

Contributions are recognised as an expense in profit or loss
as employees render services during the year. The Group's
obligations under these plans are limited to the fixed percentage
contributions payable.

Short-term employee benefits

Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised when
they accrue to employees. A provision is made for the estimated
liability for annual leave as a result of services rendered by
employees up to the reporting date.

Non-accumulative compensated absences such as sick leave and
maternity leave are not recognised until the time of leave.

Equity-settled share-based compensation

In January 2018, the Group adopted a Share Option Scheme (as
defined in Note 28) under which the Group receives services from
employees as consideration for equity instruments (options) of
the Group. The fair value of the services received in exchange for
the grant of the equity instruments is recognised as expense.

The total amount to be expensed is determined by reference
to the fair value of options granted including any market
performance conditions; excluding the impact of any service and
non-market performance vesting conditions; and including the
impact of any non-vesting conditions.

The total expense is recognised over the vesting period over
which all of the specified vesting conditions are to be satisfied.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2021

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)
2.20 Employee henefits (continued)

2.2

Equity-settled share-based compensation (Continued)

At the end of each reporting period, the Group revises its
estimates of the number of options that are expected to vest
based on the non-market vesting and service conditions. The
Group recognises the impact of the revision to original estimates,
if any, in profit or loss, with a corresponding adjustment to
equity.

When the options are exercised, the Company issues new shares.
The proceeds received net of any directly attributable transaction
costs are credited to share capital (nominal value) and share
premium.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs incurred, net of any investment income earned
on the temporary investment of the specific borrowings, for the
acquisition, construction or production of any qualifying asset are
capitalised during the period of time that is required to complete
and prepare the asset for its intended use. A qualifying asset is
an asset which necessarily takes a substantial period of time to
get ready for its intended use or sale. Other borrowing costs are
expensed when incurred.

2.22 Accounting for income tax

Income tax comprises current tax and deferred tax.

Current income tax assets and/or liabilities comprise those
obligations to, or claims from, fiscal authorities relating to the
current or prior reporting period, that are unpaid at the reporting
date. They are calculated according to the tax rates and tax laws
applicable to the fiscal periods to which they relate, based on the
taxable profit for the year. All changes to current tax assets or
liabilities are recognised as a component of tax expense in profit
or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ra MR

For the year ended 31 March 2021 & = 202143 A318 It F /€

2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)
2.22 Accounting for income tax (Continved)

Deferred tax is calculated using the liability method on temporary
differences at the reporting date between the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities in the financial statements and their
respective tax bases. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax
assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences,
tax losses available to be carried forward as well as other
unused tax credits, to the extent that it is probable that taxable
profit, including existing taxable temporary differences, will be
available against which the deductible temporary differences,
unused tax losses and unused tax credits can be utilised.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the
temporary difference arises from goodwill or from initial
recognition (other than in a business combination) of assets
and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither taxable nor
accounting profit or loss.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences arising on investments in subsidiaries, except
where the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary
differences and it is probable that the temporary differences will
not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax is calculated, without discounting, at tax rates
that are expected to apply in the period the liability is settled or
the asset realised, provided they are enacted or substantively
enacted at the reporting date.

Changes in deferred tax assets or liabilities are recognised in
profit or loss, or in other comprehensive income or directly in
equity if they relate to items that are charged or credited to other
comprehensive income or directly in equity.

When different tax rates apply to different levels of taxable
income, deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using
the average tax rates that are expected to apply to the taxable
income of the periods in which the temporary differences are
expected to reverse.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
i a MR

For the year ended 31 March 2021 & £202143A31H It F &

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. FESHTHEHME )
POLICIES (Continued)

2.22 Accounting for income tax (Continued) 222 FRB BBt EE %)

The determination of the average tax rates requires an
estimation of (1) when the existing temporary differences will
reverse and (2) the amount of future taxable profit in those years.
The estimate of future taxable profit includes:

— income or loss excluding reversals of temporary
differences; and

—  reversals of existing temporary differences.

Current tax assets and current tax liabilities are presented in net
if, and only if,

(@) the Group has the legally enforceable right to set off the
recognised amounts; and

(b) intends either to settle on a net basis, or to realise the
asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

The Group presents deferred tax assets and deferred tax
liabilities in net if, and only if,

(@) the entity has a legally enforceable right to set off current
tax assets against current tax liabilities; and

(b) the deferred tax assets and the deferred tax liabilities
relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation
authority on either:

(i) the same taxable entity; or

(ii) different taxable entities which intend either
to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a
net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the
liabilities simultaneously, in each future period
in which significant amounts of deferred tax
liahilities or assets are expected to be settled or
recovered.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2021 #{ £2021F3A31H tF &

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

2.23 Segment reporting
Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent
with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating
decision-makers (the “CODM"). The CODM, who are responsible
for allocating resources and assessing performance of the
operating segments, has been identified as the executive
directors that make strategic decisions.

2.24 Related parties

For the purpose of these consolidated financial statements, a
party in considered to be related to the Group if:

(a) the party is a person or a close member of that person’s
family and if that person:
(i) has control or joint control over the Group;

(ii) has significant influence over the Group; or

(i) is a member of the key management personnel of
the Group or of a parent of the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
i a MR

For the year ended 31 March 2021

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.24 Related parties (continued)
(b)  the party is an entity and if any of the following conditions
applies:

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

the entity and the Group are members of the same
group.

one entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a
member of a group of which the other entity is a
member).

the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the
same third party.

one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and
the other entity is an associate of the third entity.

the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of employees of either the Group or an
entity related to the Group.

the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a).

a person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the key
management personnel of the entity (or of a parent
of the entity).

the entity, or any member of a group of which it
is a part, provides key management personnel
services to the Group or to the parent of the Group.

Close members of the family of a person are those family
members who may be expected to influence, or be influenced by,
that person in their dealings with the entity.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2021 & = 202143 A318 It F /€

TREEH

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on
historical experience and other factors, including expectations of future
events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

Estimation uncertainty

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future.
The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition, seldom equal
the related actual results. The estimates and assumptions that have a
significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are discussed
below:

Estimation of goodwill impairment

The Group tests annually whether goodwill has suffered any impairment
in accordance with the accounting policy stated in Note 2.19. The
recoverable amounts of cash-generating units have been determined
based on value in use calculations. These calculations require the
use of estimates about future cash flows and discount rates. In the
process of estimating expected future cash flows, management makes
assumptions about future revenues and profits. These assumptions
relate to future events and circumstances. The actual results may vary
and may cause a material adjustment to the carrying amount of goodwill
within the next financial year. Determining the appropriate discount rate
involves estimating the appropriate adjustment for market risk and for
asset specific risk factors. Details of the estimates of the recoverable
amounts of cash-generating units containing goodwill are disclosed in
Note 16.

Valuation of contingent consideration payable

For acquisitions accounted for under HKFRS 3, future anticipated
payments to vendors in respect of earnouts are based on the
management’s best estimates of future obligations, which are
dependent on future performance of the interests acquired and assume
the operating companies improve profits in line with management's
estimates and are included in liabilities greater or less than one year as
appropriate. These estimates will likely differ from future actual results
of operations and cash flows, and it is possible that these differences
could be material. Changes to earnouts are recorded in the profit or loss.
Details of contingent consideration payable are set out in Notes 32 and
34.6.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2021

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (continved)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Allowance for inventories

Net realisable value of inventories is the actual or estimated selling
price in the ordinary course of business, less the estimated costs
necessary to make the sale. These estimates are based on the current
market condition and the historical experience of selling products of
similar nature. It could change significantly as a result of competitor
actions in response to changes in market condition. Management
reassesses these estimations at the end of each reporting period.
The carrying amount of inventories as at 31 March 2021 and 2020 are
disclosed in Note 18.

Estimation of impairment of trade receivables and other
financial assets at amortised cost within the scope of ECL under
HKFRS 9

The Group makes allowances on items subjects to ECL (including trade
and other receivables) based on assumptions about risk of default
and expected loss rates. The Group uses judgement in making these
assumptions and selecting the inputs to the impairment calculation,
based on the Group’s past history, existing market conditions as well
as forward-looking estimates at the end of each reporting period as
set out in Note 2.10. As at 31 March 2021, the carrying amount of
trade and other receivables amounted to HK$49,662,000 (net of ECL
allowance of HK$900,000) (2020: HK$47,901,000 (net of ECL allowance
of HK$700,000)).

When the actual future cash flows are different from expected,
such difference will impact the carrying amount of trade and other
receivables within the scope of ECL under HKFRS 9 and credit losses in
the periods in which such estimate has been changed.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2021 & = 202143 A318 It F /€

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group identifies operating segments and prepares segment
information based on the regular internal financial information reported
to the executive directors for their decisions about resources allocation
to the Group's business components and for their review of the
performance of those components. The business components in the
internal financial information reported to the executive directors are
determined following the Group's major product and service lines.

The Group has identified the following reportable segments:

o Furniture sale and consultancy services: the sale and distribution
of furniture and home accessories, distribution and licensing
of intellectual property rights, the provision of styling and
consulting services and the operation of a café

o Furniture agency service: the provision of furniture agency
services

Each of these operating segments is managed separately as each of
the product and service lines requires different resources as well as
marketing approaches.

The measurement policies the Group used for reporting segment results
under HKFRS 8 are the same as those used in its financial statements
prepared under HKFRSs, except that certain finance costs, income tax
expense and corporate income and expenses which are not directly
attributable to the business activities of any operating segment are not
included in arriving at the operating results of the operating segment.

Reportable segment assets exclude cash surrender value of life
insurance, deferred tax assets, tax recoverable, bank balances and cash
and unallocated corporate assets (mainly include certain intangible
assets and certain other receivables).

Reportable segment liabilities exclude tax payable and unallocated
corporate liabilities (mainly include certain other payables and certain
bank borrowings).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2021 & £202143A31H It F &

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 4.

(Continued)
The Group's principal activities are disclosed in note 1 to the
consolidated financial statements.

The Group's revenue during the year is as follows:

WEEDEHER @

AEENIBEDNRE B ERME
B -

AEBREFANM T

2021 2020
20215 20204F
HKS$000 HK$'000
FET FET

Revenue from contracts with customers EEAHNKE
Sale of furniture and home accessories RERRELREMHIEES 97,321 70,721
Distribution and license fee income DM EF A B A 3,200 3,286
Food and beverage income B &R A 2,964 2,611
Commission income e A 14,573 13,616
Consulting income BRI A 2,493 869
120,551 91,103

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with

customers within the scope of HKFRS 15
The Group derives revenue from the transfer of goods and services over
time and at a point in time in the following geographical market:

FoERMEREEREISR
HEANEFAARE

7 52 B ) Mt R 0 T 1 558 R
R E— BRI &R R -

2021 2020
20214 20204F
HKS$ 000 HK$'000
FET FE T

Timing of revenue recognition W 25 FE R S
At a point in time 7 — B 5 24 117,351 87,817
QOver time & B [ 3,200 3,286
120,551 91,103

Geographical markets ih & 5

— Hong Kong —&E 100,656 91,103
— The People’s Republic of China (the “PRC")  — R EEA R KA E ([ E 1) 19,895 —
120,551 91,103

The geographical location of customers is based on the location at
which the services were provided or the goods delivered.

During the year ended 31 March 2021, no single customer contributed
10% or more of the Group's revenue. During the year ended 31 March
2020, HK$9,100,000 or 10% of the Group's revenues depended on a
single customer in the furniture agency service segment.

As at 31 March 2021, 84.3% (2020: 70.2%) of the Group's gross trade
receivables was due from this customer.

EFMMEBEUEARERBIINE M
B 4 B A BT e

REZE2021F383NHIEFE > HEE—F
PEAREBERK 0% A £ o BE £2020
FIANE IEFE - A& E U % 19,100,000
BILHI0%FERERERERE S BA—F
B-RPF -

202138318 - BRI R P A AL A
SEE S FIE B FEH84.3% (20204 ¢
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR M EE

HE2021F3A3NHIEFE

For the

4.

year ended 31 March 2021

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 4. WHEERDEBER =)
(Continued)
Furniture sale Furniture
and consultancy agency
services service Total
RKEAHER
BHARYE KREKRKERS @t
HKS$ 000 HKS$ 000 HKS$ 000
FET FET FET
2021 20214
Reportable segment revenue from 2R H4MN I F RY A 2 3R
external customers 7 E W = 106,386 14,165 120,551
Reportable segment profit B8 9,362 9,993 19,355
Reportable segment assets AIZ2{HDAEE 40,465 66,039 106,504
Reportable segment liabilities E2HmoEasE 32,148 30,989 63,137
Depreciation e 13,359 — 13,359
Amortisation B i 152 — 152
Finance costs BT A R 1,005 305 1,310
Additions to non-current segment FRARNEEREDE
assets (other than financial EEGERIAR
instruments and deferred tax EIEFIEEERIN
assets) during the year 5,987 — 5,987
Provision for impairment of trade E 5 EBGRIB R E R
receivables — 200 200
2020 20205
Reportable segment revenue from 2R 4N F BY A 2 3R
external customers 7 E W = 77,706 13,397 91,103
Reportable segment profit A] 2 3] 5 7565 F 6,651 4,673 11,324
Reportable segment assets AIZFHDEEE 41,621 66,743 108,364
Reportable segment liabilities FE2HoMaE 27,459 43,142 70,601
Depreciation & 9,443 — 9,443
Amortisation 55 160 — 160
Finance costs B 15 A AR 645 83 728
Additions to non-current segment FARBEERBDDE
assets (other than financial EE(GEGRIAR
instruments and deferred tax EEFEE ERIN
assets) during the year 19,499 — 19,499
Provision for impairment of trade B 5 e WS IR R B
receivables — 700 700
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 & £202143A31H It F &

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 4. WHEERDEBER =)
(Continued)
Reportable segment profit, assets and liabilities are reconciled to results AIZEWmHEar BERBEHERAEEH

and total assets and total liabilities of the Group as follows:

EEUNNREENBBEYHRNET

2021 2020
20214 20204
HKS$ 000 HK$'000
FET FET
Reportable segment profit Al 23 5 &6 19,355 11,324
Unallocated amounts: RO B FIE
— Finance costs — B Ak AR — (13)
— Corporate income and expense — AR ARRAX (1,451) (3,734)
Profit before income tax B BT 18 B4 A& A 17,904 7577
Reportable segment assets AZ|OoEAEE 106,504 108,364
Unallocated assets: RAPOBEE:
— Cash surrender value of life insurance — AERBNBHRSEE 1,847 1,789
— Deferred tax assets —IREFIAE E 522 416
— Bank balances and cash —RITEHRER 29,140 16,773
— Unallocated corporate assets —RKDBERAIEE 257 1,786
Total assets HEE 138,270 129,128
Reportable segment liabilities AZ%koMBaE 63,137 70,601
Unallocated liabilities: Ao BE:
— Tax payable — ERIE 4,196 2177
— Bank borrowings —RITIEE — 200
— Unallocated corporate liabilities — RN BERRIAE 542 605
Total liabilities HmaE 67,875 73,583
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ra MR

For the

4. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION WazkoBER =)
(Continued)
The transaction price allocated to the remaining unsatisfied or partially 20214 K% 20209F3 8318 * D EEEH TR

year ended 31 March 2021 8 202138318 IF F /&

satisfied performance obligations as at 31 March 2021 and 2020 are as
follows:

BHARERIBHOEBNZZERNT

2021 2020

20215 2020%F

HKS$ 000 HK$'000

FAET FHET

Within one year —FR 800 3,200
Over one year —F 1% — 800
800 4,000

As permitted by HKFRS 15, the transaction price allocated to unsatisfied
contracts for periods of one year or less is not disclosed.

The non-current segment assets (other than financial instruments
and deferred tax assets) of the Group are divided into the following
geographical areas:

EBVEREERBSHEAAFT - HEC
ERM—FRUANKRBETANNZZER

AT EE -

AEBERFERBNDMEE (R TARE
R IBEEERINEI D /A THE

2021 2020
20214 20204

HK$ 000 HK$000

FET FE T

— Hong Kong — &3 37,304 46,078
—PRC — 1,250 —
38,554 46,078

FEMBEEMMIEALE LAE EME R
HOER EEVEERBENERTA
NEFBEEN I RER -

The geographical location of the non-current assets is based on the
physical location of the asset and the location of the operations to which
they are allocated in the case of the intangible assets and goodwill.
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A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2021 & = 20213 A31H Lt FE

OTHER INCOME 5, Hfyg A
2021 2020
20214 20204
HKS$ 000 HK$ 000
FET FE T
Government grant (note) B S #8 B) (B %) 3,543 —
Exchange gain P H e 659 —
COVID-19-related rent concessions received 2 1 COVID-1948 B8 7 & &= sk 91 —
Bank interest income RITH B A 49 12
Sundry income FHIEMA 196 143
4,538 155

Note: The amount represents government grant in respect of COVID-19 related
subsidies, which includes subsidies under Employment Support Scheme
and Retail Sector Subsidy Scheme and one-off subsidy for Transport

BaE - e wiEARECOVID-19IEEE B (BIE R
MEFBRTEZEYFAEEYD AR
[ ) SRR — IR E BY) O BUR

Trades. e o
FINANCE COSTS 6. BFFERKA
2021 2020
20215 20204
HKS$ 000 HK$'000
FET FHETL
Interest expenses on bank borrowings RITEEFERX 410 %
Finance charges on lease liabilities HEABENYBZ D 900 645
1,310 741
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A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2021

7. PROFIT BEFORE INCOME TAX

HE2021F3A3NHIEFE

Profit before income tax has been arrived at after charging/(crediting):

BR Pt 15 Bt A1 i A
B AT BRI R D B GEA LT &
B 1 B

2021 2020
20214 202048
HKS$'000 HK$ 000
FET FHET
Auditor's remuneration 1% A B & 700 630
Cost of inventories recognised as expense WRAERZNFEKAR 45,183 24,933
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment ME - MELREETE
— Owned assets —BEEE 1,140 1,239
— Right-of-use assets —(HAEEE 12,219 8,204
Amortisation of intangible assets BB E 152 160
Lease charges: MEXH:
— Short term leases and leases with lease term —EEAERRYIBER
shorter than 12 months as at initial application BB B HREER
of HKFRS 16 581655 i 1H HA %2 712
BANEE 72 4,144
— Variable lease payments —AEHENK — 19
— COVID-19-related rent concessions received — B Yz COVID-19t8 1 &

(note) B (KT AT) (91) —
Provision for impairment of trade receivables B 5 WA R E R E 200 700
Net exchange (gain)/loss BN (k) BEFE (659) 822
Fair value gain on cash surrender value of life ASRBIEANREEER

insurance NAEE W &= (58) (34)
Fair value change on contingent consideration EREIARBHNAARBE

payable e=) 2,633 3,385
Note: As disclosed in note 2.2, the Group has early adopted Amendments to Mat: BMWE22MMBE AEBERER

HKFRS 16 “Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions” and applies the practical
expedients introduced by the amendments to all eligible rent concessions
received by the Group during the year. During the year ended 31 March
2021, the rent concessions received by the Group are in the form of a
discount on fixed payments during the period of severe social distancing
and travel restriction measures introduced to prevent the spread of

COVID-19.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
i a MR

HE01F3ANBIEFE

For the year ended 31 March 2021

EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSE (INCLUDING 8. EERAFXX(BRES

DIRECTORS' EMOLUMENTS) <)
2021 2020
20214 20204
HK$ 000 HK$ 000
FET FET
Salaries, bonus and allowances e TEAL R ERL 22,339 21,118
Retirement benefit scheme contributions RIKREFIET &t 818 823
23,157 21,941
INCOME TAX EXPENSE 9. FEFHEX
2021 2020
20214 20204F
Note HKS$'000 HK$ 000
g3 FET FE T
Current tax — Hong Kong BEsE 58
Current year KEE 341 2,511
Over provision in respect of prior years BAFEBERMG (20) (20)
3,451 2491
Deferred tax IE fE B 18
Current year KEE 25 (106) (130)
Income tax expense FriS M 3,345 2,361

Reconciliation between tax expense and accounting profit at applicable

MBS B ERR KRG EN S

tax rates is as follow: HERRNT -
2021 2020
20214 20204
HKS$ 000 HK$'000
FET FET
Profit before income tax BR BT 18 B Al % A 17,904 7,577
Tax on profit before income tax, calculated at the B AT 5 B0 A1 g A B9 B 18 (3%
rates applicable to profits in the tax jurisdictions HAMERERRERR
concerned = AR R EE) 4,081 2,450
Tax effect of non-taxable income AR AT 72 (654) (7)
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses TR HBAIOB T E 103 103
Tax effect of two-tiered tax regime HREmAHHENRETE (165) (165)
Over provision in respect of prior years BAEFEBERE (20) (20)
Income tax expense R 3,345 2,361
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ra MR

For the year ended 31 March 2021

10.

1.

HE2021F3A3NHIEFE

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continved) 9. Fﬁ' ﬁ, Xz
Notes:
(a)  Cayman Islands income tax (a) HEHREMSBH
The Company is incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an exempted ARRBBEFAERESRARERNHASHS
company with limited liability under the Companies Law of the Cayman AR AEREERAR - Bt ER
Islands and accordingly, is exempted from Cayman Islands income tax. RHMNASHSHEE -
(b)  British Virgin Islands (“BVI”) income tax (b) XBABERBRBEMESH N
The Company’s direct subsidiary in BVl was incorporated under the BVI ARARABEBREESNEENER
Business Companies Act, 2004 and accordingly, is exempted from BVI AIDIRIE2000F EBHERRHEEEELR
income tax. AEEMAY Bt ER BN RELE
MAESHER -
(¢)  Hong Kong Profits Tax (c) EBANEBH
The provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax for the years ended 31 March Eﬁz12021¢)§22020¢3ﬁ]31 HIEFERNEE
2021 and 2020 is calculated at 16.5% of the estimated assessable profits IEE Tﬁﬁé‘ ﬁ TiiR & AT E R BE FI A
for the year, except for one subsidiary of the Group which is a qualifying 16.5% FHE - EAEE KB ARREF
entity under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime. Under the two-tiered BRMREIEETRE? ﬁ BE R 57\‘ °
profits tax rates regime, the first HK$2,000,000 of assessable profits Z—Eﬂ SBRAGIHET - & ﬁ%ﬁ EN=Y)
of qualifying entities are taxed at 8.25%, and assessable profits above AEBTERT &M AT X R8.25% - 1
HK$2,000,000 are taxed at 16.5%. H2E 88 e R BOm M T X 2316 5% o
(d)  PRC enterprise income tax (d) FESERBH
No provision for PRC enterprise income tax has been made as the 53] MR A B" AR R B A R R B
Company's indirect subsidiary in PRC did not generate any estimated 20215 K 20205 3A31A 1L = I M E A
assessable profit for the years ended 31 March 2021 and 2020. F fa] f u‘I'JZE REEF B AT IR
REISHEME -
DIVIDENDS 10. &
(a) Dividends attributable to the year (a) XFEERMLKRE
2021 2020
20215 2020%F
HKS$ 000 HK$ 000
FET FET
Proposed final dividend of HK0.8 cents per BEAREAKRE L)
ordinary share (2020: nil) 0.878 11l (2020% : ﬁ) 12,672 —

(b)

Dividends attributable to the previous
financial year, approved and paid during the

year
No dividend was paid by the Group during the years ended 31
March 2021 and 2020.

EARNINGS PER SHARE

The calculation of basic earnings per share is based on the profit
attributable to equity holders of the Company of HK$14,559,000 (2020:
HK$5,216,000) and on the weighted average number of 1,584,000,000
(2020: 1,584,000,000) ordinary shares in issue during the year ended 31
March 2021.

Diluted earnings per share equals to the basic earnings per share as
there were no dilutive potential ordinary shares in existence during the
years ended 31 March 2021 and 2020.
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BRER
FREABFTIEREE2021F38318 1

FEARRERS

¥ 8 A FE{h i 714,559,000

7 7T (20204F : 5,216,000/ 7T) & B 3 17 &
i A% Hn #E SF 5 $1,584,000,000% (20204 :
1,584,000,000/%) 5T & o
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HE01F3ANBIEFE

12. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION AND FIVE

HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS' EMOLUMENTS

(a)

Directors’ remuneration
Directors’ emoluments, disclosed pursuant to the GEM Listing
Rules, section 383(1) of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance
and Part 2 of the Companies (Disclosure of Information about
Benefits of Directors) Regulation, is as follows:

For the year ended 31 March 2021

12. ESEFMHREBESHFMAL

(a)

[k

EEHM
RIECEM ETIARAL - BADF I HIE
38N ERAT (HEEEFHER)
ROIEIMBENESHE W T

Retirement
Salariesand  benefit scheme
Fees allowances contributions Total
WER  BHEA
He =413 SHEfR @it
Notes HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000
et FET FET FET FET
Year ended 31 March 2021 BZUNFIANALFE
Executive directors: HTES:
Ms. Babington Babington & = i 120 212 18 2,264
Mr. Tong Tang Joseph BEELAE (i) 120 — = 120
Mr. Tsui Wing Tak hEELE 120 = = 120
Non-executive director: FEUTES:
Mr. Bian Dahai BREEE (iv) 60 — - 60
Independent non-executive BUFHTES:
directors:
Mr. Sit Hoi Wah Kenneth BEELE 144 = = 144
Mr. Tsang Wai Yin TEELE 144 = = 144
Mr. Yeung Man Chung Charles BXREE 144 — — 144
852 2126 18 2,996
Year ended 31 March 2020 BZNW0F3IANALFE
Executive directors: HITES:
Ms. Babington Babington 2 = (il 120 2,064 18 2,202
Mr. Tong Tang Joseph BELAE (i 120 — — 120
Mr. Tsui Wing Tak BrEETE 120 — — 120
Non-executive director: FUTES:
Ms. Haslock Haslock 2 = (i) 4 — — 40
Independent non-executive BUFHTES:
directors:
Mr. Sit Hoi Wah Kenneth BEELE 14 — — 144
Mr. Tsang Wai Yin TEELE 144 — — 144
Mr. Yeung Man Chung Charles BXAREE 14 — — 144
832 2,064 18 2914
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A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2021 #{ £2021F3A31H tF &

12. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION AND FIVE 12. EEFMREERESFMAL
HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS' EMOLUMENTS < 2)
(Continued)
(a) Directors’ remuneration (Continved) (@) EEFHM =)
Notes: B it -
(i) Ms. Babington resigned as the chief executive officer on 1 (i) Babington = £ 720198 A1H &% T

August 2019.

(i) Mr. Tong Tang Joseph was re-designated as an executive director
and the chief executive officer on 1 August 2019.

(iii) Ms. Haslock resigned as a non-executive director on 1 August
2019.

(iv) Mr. Bian Dahai was appointed as a non-executive director on 1
October 2020.

There were no arrangements under which a director of the
Company waived or agreed to waive any remuneration during the
years ended 31 March 2021 and 2020.

(b) Five highest paid individuals
For the years ended 31 March 2021, the five individuals whose
emoluments were the highest in the Group include one (2020:
one) director, whose emoluments are reflected in the analysis
presented above. Details of the emoluments of the remaining
four (2020: four) highest paid individuals are as follows:

(b)

TTHRARE -

(ii) BB A R201968 18 AT #h 17T
EERTHRAH -

(i)~ Haslock Z 4 74201948 518 B 1T 3F
WITESE -

liv) BAEEEN2020F1001BERE
BIENTES -

R A 220214 &202053A318 1E F
B YTEEBEARREZEZEREXR
ERETLWHFINOLHE -

TEEEHFMAL

HENFIANBLEFE - ALER
HEmMe AT eE—R (20204F :
—B)EF HMEeRN EXE2NHH
MR - B BT A (20204 - T
Z)EEFMALTOBEFEBOT

2021 2020
20214 20204
HKS$ 000 HK$'000
FET FET
Salaries and allowances e KERM 1,713 1,768
Discretionary bonus By 15 e 4L 82 123
Retirement benefit scheme contributions IRK R F T & 3R 69 71
1,864 1,962

The emoluments fell within the following bands: e N FLATHE:
2021 2020
20214 20204

Emolument bands B & &8 =

Nil — HK$1,000,000 Z—1,000,0007 JT 4 4

For the years ended 31 March 2021 and 2020, no emoluments
were paid by the Group to any of the directors or the five highest
paid individuals as an inducement to join or upon joining the
Group or as compensation for loss of office.
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HE01F3ANBIEFE

13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

For the year ended 31 March 2021

13. ¥ BERRZRE

Furniture and
Leasehold fixtures and Motor Right-of-use
improvements  office equipment vehicles assets Total
HBEREE
HE RENR
NELE BARE "E  RAREE At
HKS 000 H$ 000 HKS000 HKS 000 HKS000
FET FET TET FET FHETL
At1 April 2019 R201954A1A
Cost KA 8,161 3421 1938 - 13520
Accumulated depreciation ZiHE (6.221) (2,939) (814) — (9.974)
Net book amountas at 1 April 2019 R2019F 4518 #1 iR H % 5 1,940 i 1124 - 3,546
Adjustment from the adoption of ARAEETBREED
HKFRS 16 FIOF M= LRRE
— Cost —BA - - (1,389) 16,380 14991
— Accumulated depreciation —EifFE - — 313 (6,316) (6,003)
Net book amount as at 1 April 2019,  R201954 51BN RE
restated BE BB 1940 482 18 10,064 125%
Year ended 31 March 2020 BENNFIANALEE
Opening net book amount FNEREE 1,940 18 18 10,064 12534
Additions AE 254 307 — 18,668 19229
Depreciation & (891) (312) (36) (8,204) (9.443)
Closing net book amount EXREFE 1303 an 12 20528 2300
At 31 March 2020 #2020F3A318
Cost A 8415 3,728 549 35,048 47,740
Accumulated depreciation 2iHE (7112) (3,251) (537) (14520) (25420]
Net book amount FEFE 1303 an 12 20528 230
Year ended 31 March 2021 HEZANEIANALEE
Opening net book amount FNERTFE 1,303 i 12 20528 230
Additions NE 81 355 — 1542 1,984
Modification of lease term ERHEERR — — - 4,003 4,003
Depreciation e (842) (290) (8) (12219) (13359)
Closing net hook amount EXEEFE 548 542 4 13,854 14,948
At 31 March 2021 R2021F38318
Cost KA 1,552 3918 549 40,593 52,6712
Accumulated depreciation ZitE (7,004) (3,436) (545 (26,739) (37,72)
Net hook amount RERE 548 542 4 13854 14,948
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ra MR

For the year ended 31 March 2021 & = 202143 A318 It F /€

13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continves)  13. ¥13% - BER R HEH (2

As at 31 March 2021 and 2020, included in the net carrying amount of 20214 ) 2020F3A31H W% - BE &
property, plant and equipment are right-of-use assets as follows: REERDFETREFEREEEN T :

Carrying amount Depreciation

RELSE weE

As at As at For the year

31 March 1April  ended 31 March

2021 2020 2021

H20215F 720205 BZ21F

3A31A 4818 3ANBLEE

HK$000 HK$000 HK$ 000

FET FET FE T

Buildings B¥ 13,560 19,868 11,853

Motor vehicles qEHE 294 660 366

Total et 13,854 20,528 12,219

Carrying amount Depreciation

RELSE weE

As at As at For the year

31 March 1April  ended 31 March

2020 2019 2020

720205 H2019F B 220206

3A31A8 4818 3ANBLEE

HK$°000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000

FET FET FET

Buildings BF 19,868 8,988 7,788

Motor vehicles TEHE 660 1,076 416

Total st 20,528 10,064 8,204
During the year ended 31 March 2021, the total additions to right-of- REE2021F3ANBIEFE W BE
use assets included in property, plant and equipment amounting to LERETBRECRAREEENEFTRES

HK$1,542,000 (2020: HK$18,668,000) which is attributable to buildings. A1,542,0007% 7t (20204F : 18,668,000/ 7T) °
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 & £202143A31H It F &
INTANGIBLE ASSETS 14. BEEE
Website
development
costs  Trademarks Total
4 uk B a8
2% [k st
HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$'000
FET FET FET
At1 April 2019 R2019F 4818
Cost B AR 530 5 535
Accumulated amortisation RET 8 (311) (2) (313)
Net book amount REFH 219 3 222
Year ended 31 March 2020 B E2020F3A3MA L FE
Opening net book amount FYREFRE 219 3 222
Additions nNE 270 — 270
Amortisation B oH (160) — (160)
Closing net book amount FREEFE 329 3 332
At 31 March 2020 7202053 831H
Cost (DN 800 5 805
Accumulated amortisation R (471) (2) (473)
Net book amount RHEFHE 329 3 332
Year ended 31 March 2021 BZ201F3A3MB L EE
Opening net book amount FYIREFRE 329 3 332
Amortisation 5 (151) (1) (152)
Closing net book amount FREEFH 178 2 180
At 31 March 2021 R2021E3H31H
Cost (BN 800 5 805
Accumulated amortisation ESg: 3 (622) (3) (625)
Net book amount REFSE 178 2 180
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For the year ended 31 March 2021

15. SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries as at 31 March 2021 and 2020

were as follows:

HE2021F3A3NHIEFE

15.

B B X F]

20214 K 202053 A31H ) = E [t B A A
3R NN

Country/Place of
incorporation/ Issued and paid- Equity interest held by
Name of company establishment up capital the Company Principal activities
ERAL/ BEITR
NAER RYIER/ % BRBRA KARREHRE TEEH
pi1Al 2020
01F 2005

Directly held by the Company

KARNEERE

Tree Investment Group Limited (“Tree Investment’) ~ BVI US$t 100% 100%  Investment holding

Tree Investment Group Limited ([ Tree Investment)) X B4 & 7 E0 100% 0% RAZR

S

Indirectly held by the Company

EAAMERE

Tree Limited Hong Kong HK§2 100% 100%  Sale and distribution of furniture and

home accessories, consignment sales,
distribution and licensing of intellectual
property rights, the provision of styling and
consulting services and the operation of a
café

REERAF B BT 100% 0% HERAIEEERZREES FEH

& DHRFTRRAAER R
fREF R ARBA REE AN
WE

Hong Kong Italiving International Co., Limited Hong Kong HK$500,000 100% 100%  Provision of furniture agency service
'Italiving")

EEEZUFERESERAA R 5000007 7T 100% 0% REFERERS
(ERBEHER)

TBERERESERAT PRC Renminbi ("RMB') 100% 100%  Sale and distribution of furniture and home
Shanghai Italiving International Co., Ltd 500,000 accessories, and the provision of styling
("Shanghai Italiving) (Note) (2020: nil) and consulting services

LEEEZHESZAERRA k! AR #500,0007 100% 0% HERHEEKBRZERHURRES
(-5 3 S)l{ik:) (2020% - &) EGPEE]L

Note:  Shanghai ltaliving was incorporated on 11 July 2019 as a limited liability Brat: EBEEEIAR2019F7AMBEMA L

company and as at 31 March 2021, the registered capital of RMB500,000

(2020: RMB1,000,000) has not yet been paid by Italiving.

All of the above subsidiaries are limited liability companies. The
financial years of the above subsidiaries are coterminous with that
of the Group, except for Italiving and Shanghai Italiving which have
a financial year ending 31 December. The consolidated financial
statements are adjusted for significant transactions or events, including
those between Italiving and Shanghai Italiving and group companies,

between 1 January and 31 March.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2021

GOODWILL

The net carrying amount of goodwill can be analysed as follows:

A ISR M EE

HE01F3ANBIEFE

16. HE

RENREFEITNOT

2021 2020
20214 20204
HKS$ 000 HK$'000
FET FET
Gross carrying amount and net carrying amount: REAERIREFEE:
At the beginning of year and the end of year RENRFER 23,426 23,426

The carrying amount of goodwill, net of any impairment loss, is allocated
to the cash-generating unit of furniture agency service.

The recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit was determined
from value in use calculations based on cash flow projections from
formally approved financial budgets and forecasts covering a five-
year period with an average growth rate of 5.6% (2020: 4.0%). The
cash flows for the subsequent years are extrapolated from the fifth
year using 3% (2020: 3%) growth rate, and discounted using a pre-tax
discount rate of 20.5% (2020: 21.5%).

CASH SURRENDER VALUE OF LIFE
INSURANCE

The Group has invested in an insurance policy for Ms. Haslock, a director
and a key management personnel of the Company. On 15 January 2020,
the life insurance was changed from Ms. Haslock to Ms. Babington, an
executive director and a key management personnel of the Company.
The Group is the beneficiary of such investment. The carrying amount
represented the cash surrender value of the policy and approximates
its fair value at the end of the reporting date. As at 31 March 2020, the
life insurance was pledged to a bank to secure banking facilities of the
Group (Note 23). Details of fair value measurement are set out in Note
34.6.

17.

HENRELE(CHRRERE NEE
RERERBOBRSELFEM -

ReELEMMATRE S EEBEES
BrET TERBEEXMLENTEE
BEERRIE SRR ERE RF BN
(T3 R X /556% (20205F < 4.0%)) ° Hig
FEMIBSRIZE F AFRKEA3% (2020
F3% MIEREEE - WFABATNE
#&20.5% (20204F : 21.5%) IR °

ABRBRNBHURESEE

REBEEABARBEEHRETEEEASR
Haslock 22 T 1% 8 — 9 tR &2 © PA20205F1 715
H @ R <R A HHaslockzz + F 2 A AR A
BMITE SR T EEIE A BBabingtonZ £ °
AEBEAZERENZHZA - RESEHE
REMNBHORSEE HBRBEAERNAD
AEBEMAE - R2020F3A318 » Z AFF
BEERTFRT  WEAREERITHRE
(PF3E23) IR -« AAREENEFEH
KT FE346 ©
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 #{ £2021F3A31H tF &

18. INVENTORIES 18. &
2021 2020
20214 20204
HKS$'000 HK$ 000
FET FET
Finished goods X G 9,555 11,099
Goods in transit EBREm 2,263 503
11,818 11,602
19. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 19. ESREMEWRFIE
2021 2020
20214 20204F
Notes HKS$'000 HK$ 000
N3 F#E T FET
Trade receivables ESERRIE
From third parties JEWE=7 43,535 43,811
Less: ECL allowance B TEHEEBERE (900) (700)
Trade receivables — net BESEWRIE —F5 (a) 42,635 43,111
Other receivables Hfth FE U FRIE
Deposits, prepayments and other e - FEMRIEREMER
receivables IE 8,365 6,566
Prepayment to suppliers TE T e SR IE 5,389 1,579
Prepayment to a related company BT — IR B A B 3R 31(c) — 1,200
Amount due from a related company JE Y — FEI A B A Bl 5RIB 31(c) — 14
(b) 13,754 9,359
56,389 52,470
The directors of the Group considered that the fair value of trade AEBEERA ARNESH R EMERK
and other receivables are not materially different from their carrying HEREAROIBRHRRE  WEQAAE
amounts because these amounts have short maturity periods on their EEHEHEASBIEERAER -
inception.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2021

19. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued)

(a)

Trade receivables

Majority of the Group's sale of furniture and home accessories to
its customers are settled by cash, credit cards, or by other forms
of electronic payments (such as EPS). There was no credit term
granted to the customers and distributors, but the Group allows
credit period of 2 to 7 days to the payment vendors and up to 120
days to customers of furniture agency service. The Group seeks
to maintain strict control over its outstanding trade receivables
to minimise credit risk. Overdue balances are reviewed regularly
by senior management. Further details on the Group's credit
policy are set out in Note 34.2.

The ageing analysis based on revenue recognition date of the
trade receivables, net of ECL allowance, is as follows:

A ISR M EE

HE01F3ANBIEFE

19. ESREMEVRIRIE R

(a)

B 5 RWRE

AEERFPIELHARBD HRE R
RERMEHEDARS  FARK
HEFNREA(MBME) AT -
AEEYERNEFPEDHARLE
BH MR TR R RE
BERERBEFPDIMNEIARKS
0BEMEEY - NREESREBRE
il 18 K U [ #Y ' 5 e WK IR - A
FERRRERE BHEHHED
LREEEBERRN - BREAKERE
ERRAE— S F TR 342

BORKFIE(HREBEEEERE
) AR = R BB RER S0
T

2021 2020
20214 20204
HKS$ 000 HK$ 000
FET FET
0-30 days 0-30H 6,187 6,787
31-90 days 31-90H 1,262 12,626
91-180 days 91-180H 17,830 23,698
180-365 days 180-365H 11,356 —
42,635 43111

The movement in the ECL allowance of trade receivables is as BHRWFENBEBEEBERGR

follows: FHT

2021 2020
20214 20204
HKS$ 000 HK$ 000
FET FET
Balance at 1 April RAF1H R & & 700 —
Recognised during the year FARER 200 700
Balance at 31 March MIANB M & 900 700
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2021 #{ £2021F3A31H tF &

19. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued) 19.

(b) Other receivables
Included in the Group's deposits, prepayments and other
receivables as at 31 March 2021 was rental and other deposits
of HK$4,055,000 (2020: HK$4,190,000) and prepayments for
operating expenses of HK$1,574,000 (2020: HK$1,548,000).

As at 31 March 2021 and 2020, no ECL allowance was
recognised.

20. BANK BALANCES AND CASH 20.

Bank balances earn interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit

EZRkHAMEWRNKE®

(b) HthEWRKE
R20211F3A38  AEENZ S
ERNREREMERRERERS
N H b ¥ 464,055,000 7T (20204F :
4,190,000 7T) LA Je 48 & A S B 3K
181,574,000/ 7T (20204F : 1,548,000
JT) e

7R20214F )2 20204F3 4310 - I EFER
FHEEBRER -

RITEBHRRREE
BABBERNEARTERAERZD

rates. FIEEHE -
21. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 2. ESRHMESRIE

2021 2020
20215 20204F
Note HKS$'000 HK$'000
b et FET FET

Trade payables B S BN RE
To third parties ENE=F (a) 4147 7,300

Other payables Hfth S RE
Accrued charges and other payables ErrERkEMENSRE B 4,136 3,044
Amount due to a related party FEF— 2B 5 5k E 31c) 30 %
Consideration payable ERRE (c) 17,304 12,339
21,470 15,479
25,617 22,779

All amounts are short-term and hence the carrying values of the
Group's trade and other payables as at 31 March 2021 and 2020 were
considered to be a reasonable approximation of their fair values.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2021 & £202143A31H It F &

TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (continved) 21 ESRHMEMSTE 2
(a) Trade payables (a) EZENNRIE
There was no credit period granted by the suppliers of the Group. AEEHHERTERLEES -
The ageing analysis of trade payables based on invoice date is as EHRNFIEBENEZABMRE
follows: DT
2021 2020
20215 2020%F
HKS$'000 HK$ 000
FET FHET
0-30 days 0-30H 3.412 6,522
31-90 days 31-90H 590 285
Over 90 days 908 M £ 145 493
4147 7,300
(b) Accrued charges and other payables (b) EtERRHEMESRE
Accrued charges and other payables mainly consist of salaries EstERRHMENREBETEZESR
payable and other accrued expenses. EREFeREMEAE -
(c) Consideration payable (c) ERKE
As at 31 March 2021 and 2020, the amount represents 20215 K2 2020F3A31H * Z 8D
the redesignation of contingent consideration payable as FIEEREBEZHERE 220204F
consideration payable (Note 32) based on the audited results K2019F12A31H IE FERM KT i% %
of Italiving for the years ended 31 December 2020 and 2019, BRENKARBENEEAEN
respectively. Such consideration payable remained unpaid as at RAB (M 7E32) - ZE R RE 2021
31 March 2021 and 2020, respectively, was included in other FR2020F3ANBINIAZA - WEE
payables. A H M FE T FRIE o
CONTRACT LIABILITIES 2. EHNEE
2021 2020
20214 2020%F
HKS$ 000 HK$ 000
FET FET
Contract liabilities arising from advance payments AW EFE R EEA BN AL
from customers afE 11,988 4,600
Contract liabilities arising from gift vouchers sold but & & 118 & §& [@ #9712 %4
not yet redeemed EENEHNERE 150 80
12,138 4,680
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ra MR

For the

22.

23.

year ended 31 March 2021 &, Z=2021F3A318 L FE

CONTRACT LIABILITIES (continued)

Contract liabilities of the Group mainly arise from the advance payments
made by customers while the underlying products or services are yet
to be provided. The significant increase of contract liabilities as at 31
March 2021 is mainly due to the growth of the business during the year.

Contract liabilities outstanding at the beginning of the year amounted to
HK$4,680,000 (2020: HK$10,592,000) have been recognised as revenue
during the year ended 31 March 2021.

BANK BORROWINGS

As at 31 March 2021 and 2020, all of the Group’s bank borrowings
contain a repayable on demand clause and are shown under current
liabilities. The carrying amounts of bank borrowings are considered to be
a reasonable approximate of their fair values. As at 31 March 2021 and
2020, the Group's bank borrowings, based on the scheduled repayment
dates set out in the loan agreements, were repayable as follows:

22.

23.

EHEBw®
FEENANABTIERATSEMS
AR 2 G Sk AR 14 SR IR 42t » 3020214838
NEWANEBEAEEN  FTELaRE
REL

F 1) & 18 8 & £04,680,0007% s (20204 :
10,592,000/ 7T) M & A BE DS R E £20214F
SAMALEFERR AW ©

IRITEE

M20214F } 2020438318 » A % B F7 A iR
TEEARSREREEMER - WE
FEETI R ROBENEESER
BERALBENAEIIUE - R20211F K&
20209F3A318 - ERE R B & ATE T E
BB AEBMERTEEAENT
fe (88 -

2021 2020
20214 2020%F
HKS$ 000 HK$'000
FET FET
Within one year FA 1,111 5,704
In the second year ¥ _F 1,040 —
8,757 5,704

At 31 March 2021 and 2020, the Group's bank borrowings were secured 20214 K% 2020F3 4318 - RAE B R THE

as follows: EMEAMR AT

2021 2020
20214 2020%F
HKS$ 000 HK$000
FET FET
Secured A # — 200
Unsecured 7 3 49 8,757 5,504
8,757 5,704

As at 31 March 2020, the bank borrowings were secured by the Group's
life insurance policy with sum insured of United States dollars (“USD")
1,000,000 (Note 17). The bank borrowings was fully repaid during the
year ended 31 March 2021.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
i a MR

For the year ended 31 March 2021 & £202143A31H It F &

LEASE LIABILITIES 2. HEEE
The analysis of the remaining contractual maturities of the Group's lease AEBHEAEH# TAVIBHBENTH
liabilities is as follows: D
2021 2020
20214 20204F
HKS$'000 HK$ 000
FETT FET
Total minimum lease payments: EBEEMRERE:
— Due within one year H—F N E 8,614 11,492
— Due in the second to fifth years RE_FEZERFHH 5,785 9,779
14,399 21,271
Future finance charges on lease liabilities HEBBENARARTEZH (594) (1,061)
Present value of lease liabilities HEABENWRE 13,805 20,210
Present value of minimum lease payments: EHEHENKHWIRE:
Due within one year »—F AR H 8,153 10,785
Due in the second to fifth years REZFEFRFIH 5,652 9,425
13,805 20,210
Less: Portion due within one year included under ~ J3l: MBI BEBE TR —F R
current liabilities E|BRE) B > (8,153) (10,785)
Portion due after one year included under non- mEBBaEE TR —F&
current liabilities EHRE B 9 5,652 9,425
Note: W&t -
As at 31 March 2021, lease liabilities amounting to HK$13,805,000 (2020: M20214 38318 + 13,805,000 st (2020 4F :
HK$20,210,000) are effectively secured by the related underlying assets as the 20,210,000/ C) W EBEMS * AR WAEE
rights to the leased asset would be reverted to the lessor in the event of default BwRER AHEEENRTEREELAA
by repayment by the Group. WER EAEBEEEFERS -
During the year ended 31 March 2021, the total net cash outflows for the leases REZ2021F3ANBLEFE AERS AL
are HK$12,831,000 (2020: HK$13,476,000). % 58 & £k 312,831,000 7T (20204 : 13,476,000
JT) °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ra MR

For the year ended 31 March 2021 & = 202143 A318 It F /€

24. LEASE LIABILITIES (continued) 2. HEEE®

Details of the lease activities HEEBFRE

As at 31 March 2021 and 2020, the Group has entered into leases for 2021 F X 2020F3A31H - AEEREE

warehouse, office, shop premises and motor vehicles as follows: WAE JEMRAETIUNTHEE:
Financial statements Range of

Types of right-of-use items of right-of-use Number of remaining lease

assets assets included in leases term Particulars
EREBERBN

EREEERE BBHRER HEHE #THENEE FB

Warehouse, office and shop ~ Property, plant and equipment ~ 5(2020: 5) 1to3years(2020: 1 o  Asat31 March 2020, one of the contracts

premises to 3 years) contains an option to renew the lease for
additional 2 years after the end of the contract by
giving a three-month notice to landlord before the
end of the contract (2021: nong)
e Some of the contracts contain additional variable
lease payments depends on the gross receipts
during the contract period

RE -BRERESR WE BERRE 5 (200% :5)  1EIF(020F: o RAWEI[NE AP -—HENEEE
123F) BE TREOAREMAMEFEN
—HEABM RENBREREERLF
(20015 : &)
o BNENEEBITERENT &8
REEHHANLBRANE
Motor vehicles Property, plant and equipment 3 (2020: 3) 210 3 years e Allof the contracts contains an option to purchase
(2020: 2 to 4 years) the motor vehicles at the end of the lease term
HE g BRERSE 3(2020F:3)  2EIFQNF: o 2HENEEREETARBEERN
2E4F) BENERE
Staff quarter Not applicable as short-term 1(2020: nil) 6.5 month e Not contain any renewal and termination options
lease recognition exemptions (2020: N/A)
under HKFRS 16 applied
BIFE® AIERBABNBREED 1 (200% &) 65EA0NE: o TEFANEEARKLERRE
ZRRT 2 EHEE TiER)
ERHEMTER
As at 31 March 2020, the Group considered that the extension option of R202063 318 - AEER AR - A —I1A
one of the leases would be exercised but no termination option would be HEMEHREESENTE EREE
exercised at the lease commencement date. FtE BB BRI B IR EITE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
i a MR

For the year ended 31 March 2021 & £202143A31H It F &

25. DEFERRED TAXATION

The movement in the deferred tax assets during the year is as follows:

25. E#EFi1E
NAERE BEEHEEENEHNT:

HK$'000

T T
At 1 April 2019 7201944 518 286
Recognised in profit or loss (Note 9) R = R 79) 130
At 31 March 2020 and 1 April 2020 FA20204E3 8318 202044 A 1R 46
Recognised in profit or loss (Note 9) RIBR R (M 19 106
At 31 March 2021 20213 A31H 522

The movement in deferred tax assets and liabilities (prior to offsetting of
balances within the same tax jurisdiction) during the year, is as follows:

FA - EER R E S RN SRR
BEEMBEEENRAGBHESHNT:

Deferred tax assets EEBREEE
Accelerated
accounting
depreciation Provision Total
mEE S
e B #@ st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAETT FET
At 1 April 2019 720194F 4818 317 — 317
Recognised in profit or loss RE=EER 34 115 149
At 31 March 2020 and 1 April 2020 7A20205F3 A31H &
202054 18 351 115 466
Recognised in profit or loss RiEmER 50 33 83
At 31 March 2021 202138318 401 148 549
Deferred tax liabilities ELXEHEEE
Accelerated tax
amortisation
3R Bt 18 8
HK$ 000
FE T
At 1 April 2019 7201954 18 (31)
Recognised in profit or loss REFER (19)
At 31 March 2020 and 1 April 2020 F20209F3 A31H 202094518 (50)
Recognised in profit or loss RIB R 23
At 31 March 2021 R2021438318 (27)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2021 & = 202143 A318 It F /€

26. SHARE CAPITAL 26. BRA
Number of
shares HKS$000
% & B FET
Authorised EE
At 1 April 2019, 31 March 2020, #201944 818 - 2020438318 -
1 April 2020 and 31 March 2021 2020 4 A1H X 202193 A31H 5,000,000,000 50,000
Issued and fully paid ERTILHE
At 1 April 2019, 31 March 2020, 7201944818 - 2020438318 -
1 April 2020 and 31 March 2021 202044515 2021463 A31 8 1,584,000,000 15,840
27. RESERVES 2]. %
(a) Share premium (@) BB EE
Under the Companies Law of the Cayman lIslands, the share BERASESRAE  ARAIHR
premium account of the Company may be applied for payment MEERIAEIIRKARARKE
of distributions or dividends to the shareholders provided that MRS - R EREEZ DRI
immediately following the date on which the distribution or BEER ARTBEBHENNRBEE
dividend is proposed to be paid, the Company is able to pay its HREBEPEEEIBHER -
debts as they fall due in the ordinary course of business.
(b) Capital reserve (b) EXREE

Capital reserve arises from capital contribution by the
shareholder of the Company.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2021

SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION
TRANSACTIONS

Pursuant to the written resolution of shareholders dated on 5 January
2018, a share option scheme was adopted by the Company and is valid
and effective for a period of 10 years from 5 January 2018 (the “Share
Option Scheme”).

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to enable the Group to
grant options to the eligible participants as incentives or rewards for
their contribution to the Group and/or to enable the Group to recruit
and retain high-calibre employees and attract human resources that are
valuable to the Group or any entity in which any member of the Group
holds any equity interest (the “Invested Entity").

The maximum number of shares which may be issued upon exercise of
all outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised under the Share
Option Scheme and any other share option schemes adopted by the
Group shall not exceed 30% of share capital in issue from time to time.

The total number of shares which may be issued upon exercise of
all options (excluding, for this purpose, options which have lapsed in
accordance with the terms of the Share Option Scheme and any other
share option schemes of the Group) to be granted under the Share
Option Scheme and any other share option schemes of the Group shall
not in aggregate exceed 10% of share capital in issue as at the date on
which dealings in the Company’s shares first commence on the Stock
Exchange, being 158,400,000 shares (the “General Scheme Limit").

Unless approved by shareholders of the Company, the total number of
shares which may be issued upon exercise of all options to be granted
under the Share Option Scheme and any other share option schemes of
the Group shall not exceed 10% of share capital in issue as at the date
of approval of the limit.

28.

A ISR M EE

HE01F3ANBIEFE

URODABERNBEERS

REABHF018F1AENRRETRZ
EARARM-EBRESE B
H1 7% 8201851 A5H A 5H104F (188 R %8 5t
8-

BEREGIEERARENAERZEE
BRHBEE  FARSHAKEELER
MRBHEE & ARAEERE RS
BRExEBYNSIHAKEXAKEE
MK B AR BB EFBRENERER (R
EERBDABENANER -

RRIEBRETE R ASEMRAME
MEMBRESECREMAFITEN
EHERTEEREETEMAEITY
ERBRNEE  TEBBTEDEITRA
#930% ©

EAREERER S R AN S B H A
B st 215 T 4% A 2 S0 08 B A (Bt i
T AREREERETERAEEEM
H b B8 AR B AT B AR SR R A BB AR )
ETEmMAETHRORE - AXTEHE
BRARARBRNEREHZFAREES
HiE 817 AR A< #910% (B1158,400,000/% A% 17)
(—RzrBIPRE]) -

BRIEERDRIBRALE - BRIERZE B
R & RS BT ] Kt B B AT 8148
FTRENZHMBRERETER AT EHITH
Bpas - TEBEAENERBEEACH
1T IR A H910% ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ra MR

For the

28.

year ended 31 March 2021 &, Z=2021F3A318 L FE

SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION
TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

The total number of shares issued and which may fall to be issued upon
exercise of the options granted under the Share Option Scheme and any
other share option schemes of the Group (including both exercised or
outstanding options) to each eligible participant who accepts the offer
for the grant of an option under the Share Option Scheme (a “grantee”)
in any 12-month period shall not exceed 1% of issued share capital for
the time being. Where any further grant of options under the Share
Option Scheme to a grantee would result in the shares issued and to be
issued upon exercise of all options granted and proposed to be granted
to such person (including exercised, cancelled and outstanding options)
under the Share Option Scheme and any other share option schemes of
the Group in the 12-month period up to and including the date of such
further grant representing in aggregate over 1% of share capital in
issue, such further grant shall be separately approved by shareholders
in general meeting with such grantee and his close associates (or his
associates if the grantee is a connected person) abstaining from voting.

The subscription price in respect of any option shall be at the discretion
of the directors, provided that it shall not be less than the highest of
(a) the closing price of the Company’s shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange's daily quotations sheet for trade in one or more board lots of
the Company’s shares on the offer date; (b) the average closing price of
the Company's shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations
sheets for trade in one or more board lots of the Company's shares for
the five business days immediately preceding the offer date; and (c) the
nominal value of the shares.

No option was granted under the Share Option Scheme as at 31 March
2021 and 2020 and during the years ended 31 March 2021 and 2020.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
i a MR

For the year ended 31 March 2021 & £202143A31H It F &

29. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE  29. 72 &) B9 Bf % ik i 3%
COMPANY

2021 2020
20214 20204
HKS$ 000 HK$ 000
FET FET
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EERAERE
Non-current assets ERBEE
Investment in a subsidiary R—EREARNIRE 20,249 20,249
Intangible assets mEEE 15 23
20,264 20,272
Current assets REBEE
Prepayments SN 233 231
Prepayment to a related company m—E QR TR KIE — 1,200
Amount due from a related company JiE Uy — ) 8 B 2 B A9 SR IE — 14
Amount due from a subsidiary JFE Wi — FEI BT /BB R B W 3R TE 14,144 16,574
14,377 18,019
Current liabilities R EE
Other payables H b fET R IE 543 604
Net current assets RBEEFRE 13,834 17,415
Net assets REE 34,098 37,687
EQUITY =
Share capital A& A 15,840 15,840
Reserves (Note) & 8 (B 7 ) 18,258 21,847
Total equity R 34,098 37,687
Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 22 June R2NFeAVZBEEZESTS M ERTET
2021, o
Tong Tang Joseph Tsui Wing Tak
B ®hAa®E
Director Director
- e
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2021 #{ £2021F3A31H tF &

29. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE

29. ARTMHMBEMRR T2

COMPANY (Continued)
Note: iz -
The movement of the Company's reserves are as follows: ARRKEEESHOT:
Share Accumulated
premium* losses Total
B Er 2 BB Mt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$ 000
FET FET FET
At 1 April 2019 M20195F4 718 51,813 (26,165) 25,648
Loss for the year FREE — (3,801) (3,801)
At 31 March 2020 and 1 April 2020 #A20204E3 4318 202044 A1H 51,813 (29,966) 21,847
Loss for the year FERNEIE — (3,589) (3,589)
At31 March 2021 M2021438318 51,813 (33,555) 18,258

Share premium represents (i) the excess of the proceeds from issuance
of the shares of the Company over its par value, net of share issuance
expenses; and (i) the difference between the carrying value of Tree
Limited acquired in prior years over the nominal value of the share capital

* B £ 34 (B 45 (i) R & 7] 8% 17 B0 /O BT A8 3R
BHBELEEEN RS R KN ETH
X)) R(BEFEWBAEBARARN
AR 1B 8 AN R R B 2 R T 31T RO R

of the Company issued in exchange thereof. AEEMNZERE -
30. LEASE COMMITMENTS 30. HE&E
As at 31 March 2021 and 2020, the lease commitments for short-term 20214 K 2020838318 - AR E MM
leases are as follows: EAENT:
2021 2020
20214 20204
HKS$ 000 HK$ 000
FETT FE T
Within one year —FR 9% —

Details of these lease are set out in note 24.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2021 & £202143A31H It F &

N BEAIXRS

In addition to the transactions/information disclosed elsewhere in these BRIt ERAVBRREMBIBERENR
consolidated financial statements, the Group had the following material 5/ ERZN REBBEEH S BHETT
transactions with related parties: NERRS:

(a)

Name and relationship with related parties (a) BABES MR BRRBE

During the year, the related parties that had transactions with

the Group were as follows:

Name of related parties

RAFE BREEETRINEG
BT

Relationship with the Group

BHEN®E &8 BEAEEANER

Mr. Han Yi Director of a subsidiary of the Group

BEEA REE-—HWNBRARINES

Ms. Haslock A former director of the Company (resigned as a non-executive
director on 1 August 2019)

Haslock 22 £ KRARATE E (R2019F8ATHB LI EHITESR)

American Tree, Ltd. (“American Tree")

American Tree, Ltd. ([American Tree])

AE Majoris Business Development Company Limited
("AE Majoris”)

AACEERERAGD(HRLE]D

Rothley Investment Limited ("Rothley”)

Rothley Investment Limited ([Rothley])

Controlled by Ms. Haslock
5% Haslock 2 1= 4%
Controlled by Mr. Tsui Wing Tak, a director of the Company

RARRERHAREEES

Controlled by Ms. Babington, a director of the Company
27K B % % Babington 2 3% &
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ra MR

For the

31.

TREEH

year ended 31 March 2021 &, Z=2021F3A318 L FE

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continved) N BEBRAIAXRZ®
(b) Transactions with related parties (b) EHEBEBINRS
During the year, the transactions with related parties of the FARAREBBERERAEER
Group carried in the ordinary course of business were as follows: BE R ETRR ST
2021 2020
20215 20204F
HKS$'000 HK$ 000
FET FHET
American Tree (Note) License fee income* Al B A
American Tree (/47 5%) — 54
AE Majoris Investor and public WEER QLB F
N1 relationship service AR &=
fee* 1,200 1,200

Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules.
Note:

longer a related party of the Group since 1 August 2019.

Pursuant to a licence agreement dated 1 June 2015 entered
among Tree Limited, American Tree and Ms. Haslock, Tree
Limited has granted American Tree a licence to use certain of the
Group's trademarks and intellectual property rights in the United
States of America and Canada for an initial period of 20 years
(the “Licence Period”) for annual revenue-based licence fee.
Pursuant to the supplemental licence deed dated 16 December
2016 entered among the same parties, the Licence Period
commenced on 1 June 2015 shall expire on one day preceding the
listing date and shall be automatically renewed for the second
term commencing on the listing date and expiring on one day
preceding the third anniversary of the listing date, which may
then be extended automatically for successive further terms of
three years each. On 30 November 2020, the Group has served

notice to American Tree to terminate the licence agreement.

OLDINGS LIMITED Z5 X2 % 5 PR 24 7 Annual Report 4F % 2021

These related party transactions constitute connected
transactions or continuing connected transactions as defined in

American Tree is controlled by Ms. Haslock, who resigned as a
non-executive director on 1 August 2019. American Tree is no a

* ZERAEE 77 22 5 1 P GEM _E 7 45 Al
FE_TEMRENBEIH LT

K74 - American Tree > Haslock 22 =45 ]

i Haslock 22 - B2 7201948 A1H
BIEIEHITE S © American Tree
B2019568 1A T B AAEE
mRAEE T o

RIERE BRAF - American Tree £
Haslock 22 o= FT 57 32 B BB &201546 A
BRI A AR AR M
American Tree 5 (1 A EFI B2 & R &
MeEXERARAEENE TEEUAR
MM EENTIE  YILZHR B2
F([HFAURER] - WA= A E
MOFEHTAIEE - REMBRTLH
J5FTET A A ER A20165F12 A16 8 &9 4
I AP Al 224 - 5 A HE IR 70201546
R1AFE - BR EmBEHI— X5
B TEBEHRE _FEBHR (KR LD
BERILS - WM ETHERBASE
“HRFH—KEE)  HEgrAgE—2
BEER  §X=F - B2020F1A
308 » ARE BT A American Tree 2% 38
AL IEF A e o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2021 & £202143A31H It F &

31. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)
(c) Amounts due from/(to) related parties

BEAIRZ e

FEW,(FE{Y) BA B 75 7K IR

2021 2020
20214 20204
HKS$ 000 HK$ 000
FAET FET
Prepayment FENRE
AE Majoris (Note) B K1 2 (Y 77) = 1,200
Other receivable H b fE U SR IE
Rothley Rothley — 14
Other payahle Hfth (S B
Mr. Han Yi FR L& (30) (96)
Note: B i -

The amount represents the prepaid investor and public relationship
service fee to AE Majoris for the period from 1 April 2018 to 31 March
2021.

Amounts due from/(to) related parties are unsecured, interest-
free and repayable on demand, except for prepayment to AE
Majoris.

The maximum outstanding of amounts due from related parties
during the year is as follows:

B S BEEMPAADSEBAMNBE2018F4A
TEBRE2021F3ANA I HENEEER
NEBERERBEE -

BRI KD ERNORIAIN - EUY
B BEB A REREER &
BRBRERERE -

i3
ROl

FRRKEE D FENRSKRE
SROT:

2021 2020

20214 20204

HKS 000 HK$000

FET F&r

AE Majoris N 1,200 2,400
Rothley Rothley 14 14
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2021 #{ £2021F3A31H tF &

31. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continueq)

(d) Key management personnel remuneration
Key management of the Group are members of the board of
directors and senior management. Key management personnel

31.

BEBMAERSE)

d ETEEE AEH
AEMNTEEREAEECRS
BEEERE - TEEEABHM

remuneration includes the following expenses: BREATEERXZ:
2021 2020
20214 20204
HKS$'000 HK$'000
FAET FET
Salaries and allowances e RoEAL 3,622 3,591
Discretionary bonus BB TEAT 127 55
Retirement benefit scheme contributions BRI R T 814 3R 54 53
3,803 3,699

32. CONTINGENT CONSIDERATION PAYABLE 32. ENFARE

On 14 December 2018, Tree Investment, a subsidiary of the Group,
Perfect Bright Management Company Limited, an independent third
party, and Mr. Han Yi, entered into a sales and purchase agreement
(the “Sales and Purchase Agreement”), pursuant to which the
Group agreed to acquire the entire share capital of Italiving (the
“Acquisition”). The Acquisition was completed on 31 December 2018
(the “Completion Date").
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2018128148 - K & B M B 2 A
Tree Investment * %8 32 % = J5 Perfect Bright
Management Company Limited £ & 3 4E 4 5757
EEpZ((EEME] Bt AEEHA
EUREAAEZTHRO2BRA((HES
B o WESEEE R2018F12A3NA (K
HED) ST ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2021

32. CONTINGENT CONSIDERATION PAYABLE

(Continued)

Pursuant to the terms of the Sales and Purchase Agreement, the total
consideration for the Acquisition (the “Purchase Consideration”)

comprised:

(a)

(b)

Cash consideration

(i)

(i)

upon completion, a sum of HK$3,000,000; and

within three months from the Completion Date, a sum of
HK$3,500,000;

Contingent consideration

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

within one month from the date of the audited account of
Italiving for the year ending 31 December 2019, provided
that the net profit before tax of Italiving for the year
ending 31 December 2019 is not less than HK$5,200,000,
a sum equals two times of the net profit before tax of
[taliving minus HK$6,500,000 paid under (a)(i) and (a)(ii)
above;

within one month from the date of the audited account of
Italiving for the year ending 31 December 2020, provided
that the net profit before tax of Italiving for the year
ending 31 December 2020 is not less than HK$6,200,000,
a sum equals 1.8 times of the net profit before tax of
Italiving; and

within one month from the date of the audited account of
Italiving for the year ending 31 December 2021, provided
that the net profit before tax of Italiving for the year
ending 31 December 2021 is not less than HK$9,300,000,
a sum equals 1.4 times of the net profit before tax of
Italiving.

Notwithstanding the aforementioned payment schedule, Tree
Investment shall not be under any obligation to pay a sum exceeding
HK$40,000,000 in aggregate as the Purchase Consideration or when the
above obligation has been discharged.

A ISR M EE

HE01F3ANBIEFE

32. ERSIARE 2

RIBEEBHENIET  WBEFENENRE
((BERKEDBHE:

@) BeMNE
(i)  RFEAEF - S2143,000,00078 T
P54

i) BEkBHEF=@EARN X
1~£3,500,0003% 7T :

b)  HARE

i) BEBEZHRHE209F12
RAIBEFEMNLEZEBR
HfRRsF—EAR  MEBEE
HREZ2019F12 8318 IEFE
79 B B AT 438 F) F 4 525,200,000
BT AIXHEEREEERE
R B B AT 48 R B 265 8 _E X
(a)li) K (a)(ii) T8 T 32 1+ #96,500,000
BT EE:

(i) BEBEZHREZ=2020F12
ANBLFEMEEZEER
HfRFF—EARN  MEBEE
HREE2020F12A3BIEFE
79 B B AT 43 R “F 2 526,200,000
B A HEEREBEE
X B AT 4L A 1815 B @
LN

(i) BEBEZHRE 2021512
RAIBEFEMNLEZEBR
s —EAR - WEEE=R
HREZ201FN2ANBLFE
9 B 5 A1 48 ) 1S 2> 529,300,000
BT AIXNIEEREEEE
R B AN AMEN 2
B o

T B REEm M EAEBERER
RIE T L il (LR - Tree Investmentff £E T
fa] & 1F 32 1+ 48 18 & $£40,000,0007% 7T ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2021 & = 202143 A318 It F /€

32.

CONTINGENT CONSIDERATION PAYABLE

(Continued)

The fair value of the contingent consideration payable represents the
present values of the Group's probability-weighted estimates of the
cash outflows. It reflects management’s estimates of the probabilities
that the net profit before income tax of Italiving for the years ending 31
December 2019, 2020 and 2021 will be achieved and the discount rates.

As at 31 March 2021, contingent consideration payable based on the
audited results of Italiving for the year ended 31 December 2020 of
approximately HK$17,304,000 was redesignated as consideration
payable and was included in other payables (note 21) and the fair value
of contingent payable based on the performance forecasts of Italiving
for the year ending 31 December 2021 of approximately HK$3,362,000
was included in non-current liabilities.

As at 31 March 2020, contingent consideration payable based on the
audited results of Italiving for the year ended 31 December 2019 of
approximately HK$12,339,000 was redesignated as consideration
payable and was included in other payables (note 21) and the fair value
of contingent payable based on the performance forecasts of Italiving
for the years ending 31 December 2020 and 2021 of approximately
HK$18,033,000 was included in non-current liabilities. The consideration
payable of HK$12,339,000 was fully settled during the year ended 31
March 2021.
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2. ERSIARE®

BNRARBARBEEAEERSRE
HEEMBEGTENRE REEEEY
BB EFZHREREE20195F - 20206 &
021F12ANAIEFEEERNRAEHATL
BB R A R AT R (G 5T o

MR2021F3A3IH  ERBEBEZHREZE
020FN2ANBEFEMNKEZEENE
B JE A sk SR (B 4917,304,0008 T EHT IE E
AEMRE Xt A H b EA ZE (5
21 MRERBEEZHRE £2021F124
N8 I F SRR ILTE B 5T & A9 e sl R 3
A A 7t (B (A 493,362,00058 7T B 5T A FE R 8
8\ -

M2020F3A31H - HBREASEZHRER
209F 12 ANALFENKEZEETEN
JEA B AR (B #912,339,000/8 TTEHHEE B
JERTARME - WET A E AR FRIE (M EE21) -
iR & & 8 B =t R & 20209 K& 20214
12A31B L FERREERTEREN K
SRFTE A ST (B 1A #718,033,0007% 7T Bl 5+ A JE
MEEE ° 12,339,000 T EMNREE R
HE201MF3RAVNBILFEEHEN -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR M EE

During the year ended 31 March 2021

, the Group entered

into certain lease contracts in which additions to right-of-use
assets and lease liabilities amounting to HK$1,542,000 (2020:
HK$18,668,000) was recognised at the lease commencement

date.

For the year ended 31 March 2021 & £202143A31H It F &
33. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT 33. MEBREHRERME
OF CASH FLOWS
(a) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from (a) METHFELEENHE
financing activities
The changes in the Group's liabilities arising from financing AEENRETHMEENARGESE
activities can be classified as follows: Fomm
Lease Bank
liabilities borrowings Total
HEAE RITEE st
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$ 000
FETT FET F&r
At 1 April 2019 R20195F4A1H 10,210 469 10,679
Cash-flows: RERE:
Proceeds Fr 8 3038 — 14,760 14,760
Repayments BR — (9,525) (9,525)
Capital element of lease liabilities HEREBEWNE $ 5 (8.668) — (8,668)
Interest element of lease liabilities HEAENT B S (645) — (645)
Interests paid BEATF & — (96) (96)
Non-cash: FBEE:
Entering into new leases FIVEHEE 18,668 — 18,668
Interests expenses F B 645 9% 741
At 31 March 2020 and 1 April 2020 A2020%3831A K&
20205 4A1H 20,210 5,704 25,914
Cash-flows: RERE:
Proceeds P15 3R IE — 39,209 39,209
Repayments B — (36,156) (36,156)
Capital element of lease liabilities HERBENERES (11,859) — (11,859)
Interest element of lease liabilities HEBENF BB (900) = (900)
Interests paid BT F & — (410) (410)
Non-cash: FEE:
Entering into new leases RN HEE 1,542 — 1,542
Modification of lease term & E 1§ 4,003 — 4,003
Interests expenses =N 900 M0 1,310
COVID-19-related rent COVID-194H 78 1 & T &k
concessions (note 7) (H1a£7) (91) — (91)
At 31 March 2021 R20215E3 8318 13,805 8,757 22,562
(b) Non-cash transactions b) FEERSH

REE2021F3ANBIFE - K& H
FINETHESRY  Hit - RNHEER
SHHIRMECTEAEEERES
B 151,542,0007% 7T (20204 : 18,668,000
ST °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ra MR

For the

34.

year ended 31 March 2021 &, Z=2021F3A318 L FE

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUE MEASUREMENTS

The Group is exposed to financial risks through its use of financial
instruments in its ordinary course of operations and in its investment
activities. The financial risks include credit risk, liquidity risk and market
risk (including interest rate risk and foreign currency risk). The Group's
overall risk management strategy seeks to minimise potential adverse
effects on the Group's financial performance. Risk management is
carried out by the senior management of the Group and approved by the
board of directors. There has been no change to the types of the Group's
exposure in respect of financial instruments or the manner in which it

4. BIBEBEERAAEBENE

AEEREARXBBREMRE ST E
AEmMTAMAEMBRR - LFHHR
REHEERR RBETRBEMSE
B (BREMEERIINERR)  NEED
BERAREEXBSLKESREHLE
BOMBERAEXNEBENNEE - &
BEBRASENSREEBETLLE
EZEHE - ARERERM T AAENAR
BRAFHEERRAERRN T ALES

manages and measures the risks.

34.1 Categories of financial assets and liabilities
The carrying amounts presented in the consolidated statement of
financial position relate to the following categories of financial

£ -

M1 ERMEERBBENER

EHRAMBRARTE2INERS
BENTEINEREELRSREAE

assets and financial liabilities: BB :
2021 2020
20215 20204
HK$ 000 HK$ 000
FET FET
Financial assets EWMEE
Financial assets at fair value through profitor BB FIRZ AL EE I RS
loss TREE
— Cash surrender value of life insurance — ANERBHBHRSEER 1,847 1,789
Financial assets at amortised cost EHENATENEREE
— Trade and other receivables — B9k HEMERKE 49,662 47,901
— Bank balances and cash —RITEHRLER S 29,140 16,773
80,649 66,463
Financial liabilities cRAaE
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit B BB IZ AR EEFIEH
or loss TRAE
— Contingent consideration payable — B RARE 3,362 18,033
Financial liabilities at amortised cost EEEKATENSREE
— Trade and other payables — B R HMEMNKIE 24,133 21,824
— Bank borrowings —RITEE 8,757 5,704
— Lease liabilities —HEasE 13,805 20,210
50,657 65,771
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
i a MR

For the year ended 31 March 2021

34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR

VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued)

34.2 Credit risk
The Group is exposed to credit risk in relation to its cash and bank
deposits and trade and other receivables. The Group’s maximum
exposure to credit risk in relation to financial assets is limited
to the carrying amount at the reporting dates as summarised in
Note 34.1.

(i)

Trade receivables

The Group's policy is to deal only with credit worthy
counterparties. Credit terms are granted to new
customers after a credit worthiness assessment made.
Payment record of customers is closely monitored. It
is not the Group's policy to request collateral from its
customers.

In addition, as set out in Note 2.10, the Group assesses
ECL under HKFRS 9 on trade receivables based on
provision matrix, the expected loss rates are based
on the payment profile as well as the corresponding
historical credit losses during that period. The historical
rates are adjusted to reflect current and forward-looking
macroeconomic factors affecting the customer’s ability
to settle the amount outstanding. At each reporting date,
the historical default rates are updated and changes in
the forward-looking estimates are analysed. However,
given the short period exposed to credit risk, the impact
of these macroeconomic factors has not been considered
significant within the reporting period.

Trade receivables are written off (i.e. derecognised) when
there is no reasonable expectation of recovery. Failure to
make payments within 365 days from the invoice date and
failure to engage with the Group on alternative payment
arrangement amongst other is considered indicators of no
reasonable expectation of recovery.

HE01F3ANBIEFE

. BBEABEERAAEBENE

(%)

2 EERM
AEEREBESRBAGIURE

5N E M R FIRAEE R R

o

AEERERMEERENRZAEE
EBRTBBARREBEMEmEE (M
B 5E 341 BT A 3l ) o

(i)

EZREWRE

AEBENBERZEREERL
MRSHFETRS - FIEP
ABBEEERNMLE A
EREEGRR - AREZYE
REPHN R - AEEH
BRI EEREFIRMEM

o
ap °

12 N s /A 0] 1 NS
B IR EE B ISR E A9
SR 4% R AR [ 5T B 5 e Wk
HWEREEEE  JEHER
KRR BRI &% BB
HERELEEBIBTE - A%
EeREFESLLLE  URB
ERFEERMNESENE D
EATRAIEERBEERE -
RERER  AEEEHESL
BHE WA NATE GBS
B RM - BREAEREFER
SRBBRE  BZSRELE
ERZRRBEHNNZEER
BIWTEK -

ERBAEMNROBEN B
55 W U 5k TE = 0 M 8 (BD 4R 1
HR) - REENBBZHHER
365H AR - A R RAEE AR E
ERERMRLZHERTE -
HWRAERBEEBEWETEHN

51Z -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ra MR

For the year ended 31 March 2021 & = 202143 A318 It F /€

34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continved)
34.2 Credit risk (continued)

(i)

(ii)

Trade receivables (Continued)

As at 31 March 2021, ECL allowance of HK$900,000
(2020: HK$700,000) was recognised for trade receivables
from the furniture agency service segment at ECL rate of
1.0% (2020: 1.0%) for trade receivables that are not yet
past due, 2.7% (2020: 2.4%) for trade receivables that
are past due within 90 days and 5.1% (2020: nil) for trade
receivables that are past due within 91 to 180 days.

As at 31 March 2021 and 2020, no ECL allowance was
recognised for trade receivables from the furniture sale
and consultancy services segment.

As at 31 March 2021, 84.3% (2020: 70.2%) of the total
gross trade receivables was due from a customer arisen
from the furniture agency service segment.

Other financial assets at amortised cost

Other financial assets at amortised cost include other
receivables and bank balances and cash. In order
to minimise the credit risk of other receivables, the
management would make periodic collective and
individual assessment of the recoverability of other
receivables based on historical settlement records and
past experience as well as current external information
and adjusted to reflect probability-weighted forward-
looking information, including the default rate where the
relevant debtors operates. Other monitoring procedures
are in place to ensure that follow-up action is taken to
recover overdue debts. In these regards, the credit risk of
other receivables is considered to be low.
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(i)

(ii)

BBEREERAAEETE

2 EERKM &)

EZEWREE)
7202138318 » R ER IE R
0 B 121.0% (20204F : 1.0%)
(REHNEZEEIIE) - 27%
(20204F : 2.4%) (38 HA90H A &Y
B SR FIE) &5.1% (20204F -
E) (B EHNETBHANE S E
WHRE)MBEBEERIEER
BORKAFERRERAEE
&5 18 45 #.900,0007% 7T (2020 4F :
700,000 JT) °

20214 } 202053 A31H » A%
B 3 & AR (E 5H S M FE AR
D E R E S E W F B R TE
EEEERE -

M2021F3A318 - 2 5 fE I
FIB 2 84.3% (20204 -
70.2%) B EWRERERS D
H—EREPHRIE -

RBHEREFENEMBER
BE

BREBHERATENEMSHE
B BAR E At B U R IR A R 3R AT
EHREEE RBEREEM
FEMFENEERR - EEE
RERBEAELHERATE
BARERINBER - ERY
H A JE WK IR B AT U [B] 1 HE AT
KR RER M - SLAERAEBNA
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
i a MR

For the year ended 31 March 2021 & £202143A31H It F &

34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 34. BIEREERAAEBEE
VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continved) (&)
34.2 Credit risk /continued) M2 ERK#)

(ii)  Other financial assets at amortised cost (Continued)

The management is of the opinion that there is no
significant increase in credit risk on other receivables
since initial recognition as the risk of default is low after
considering the factors as set out in note 2.10 and, thus,
no loss allowance provision was recognised during the
year ended 31 March 2021 (2020: nil).

The credit risks on bank balances are considered to be
insignificant because the counterparties are banks with
high credit ratings assigned by international credit-rating
agencies.

34.3 Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk relates to the risk that the Group will not be able to
meet its obligations associated with its financial liabilities that
are settled by delivering cash or another financial asset. The
Group is exposed to liquidity risk in respect of settlement of trade
payables and its financial obligations, and also in respect of its
cash flow management. The Group's policy is to regularly monitor
current and expected liquidity requirements and its compliance
with lending covenants and its relationship with its bankers to
ensure that the Group maintain sufficient reserves of cash and
cash equivalents and committed lines of funding from major
financial institutions to meet its liquidity requirements in the
short and longer term.

Analysed below is the Group’s remaining contractual maturities
for its financial liabilities as at 31 March 2021 and 2020. When
the creditor has a choice of when the liability is settled, the
liahility is included on the basis of the earliest date when the
Group can be required to pay. Where the settlement of the
liability is in instalments, each instalment is allocated to the
earliest period in which the Group is committed to pay.

(i) RBERATENHMOSHE
BE#E)
ERERA  AREESENTE
20FTEMEZR EDER R
K REMERFIENEE
B B B 9] 1A 5 DA 2R I 4% 78
EH - REZ=201F3A318
IFFEWEREREBHETEE
(2020%F : #&) o

ERUFHAEEREE TR
WG TEEETAMRT -
RITE AN ERBIEIE AL
FEX -

M3IRBESRER

mBERRBREAEEELER
RNREH AT cREEAETR
BEMETEEENEARER - A&
EEEEEZENREREYBE
T UAREREREEE T EALE
RBETRR - AKEHNRRA/E
HEREIMERRSESHTR
T E R RN R BERR
TTOVRIER  NERAEEEFFT R
RAekBAeFEVREARLEEE
TRBRBRSAERERE AR
NHERAERRANRBESZF R -

LA 93 #7 782021 4F }2. 202063 A31H -
AEBCRBENFHEOIEA -
EERAEREREEAGENREME
B AHEEBEHRASEITHESX
NRNEFAHAR HMEBFEE
BANHEER RESZEERERETE
ERBEANROFHRAAR -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ra MR

For the year ended 31 March 2021 #{ £2021F3A31H tF &

34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 3. BBEARBEERAAEBENE

VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued) (&)
34.3 Liquidity risk (continved) UITBESAMRE
Total
Within Over 1 year but undiscounted Carrying
1year within5years  Over5years amount amount
BE1F AR

MER  BRIFR BiBsE BeE RESE
HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000
FET FET FET FET FET

At 31 March 2021 R2021538318
Trade and other payables B 5 & H e
A 2,733 — — 24,733 2,133
Bank borrowings HBITIHE 8,757 — — 8,757 8,757
Lease liabilities MHEEE 8,614 5,785 — 14,399 13,805
Contingent consideration payable ~ fE{ 3 SA (L (B — 341 — 341 3,362
42,104 9,256 — 51,360 50,657
At 31 March 2020 2020537318
Trade and other payables B 5 R E e
R 21,824 — - 21,824 21,824
Bank borrowings BOEE 5,704 — — 5,704 5,704
Lease liabilities MEEE 1149 9,779 — 2.1 20210
Contingent consideration payable ~ JE{ S A (L B — 19,029 — 19,029 18,033
39,020 28,808 — 67,828 65,771
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
i a MR

For the year ended 31 March 2021

34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 34.

VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued)
34.3 Liquidity risk (Continved)

HE01F3ANBIEFE

MBRREERAAEBETE

(%)

MIRBESER &)

The following table summarises the maturity analysis of bank
borrowings with repayment on demand clause based on agreed
scheduled repayments set out in the bank loan agreements. The
amounts include interest payment computed using contractual
rates. The Group regularly monitors its compliance with the
loan covenants, is up to date with the scheduled repayments

TRIBERITE R ZANRENF
HEFERRMAHERERER
BHROBITEENIRIN - ZF
EREBRUAANNEAENT SN
Ko AEBEHRERABTERR
MEER X -EREER LR
RREBAEEBEETZERE

of the loans and does not consider it probable that the bank
will exercise its discretion to demand repayment for so long as
the Group continues to meet these requirements. The directors
believe that these bank borrowings will be repaid in accordance
with the scheduled repayment dates set out in the bank loan
agreements.

RITHEPARATREITREMIBEEEK
BR - -BEME ZFROTBES
REBEBRTERBAEAMLNGEE

HHHEE -

Over 1 year Total
Within 1 year but within undiscounted Carrying
or on demand 5 years amount amount
MER HB1F RFTR
RRER ERFER WweHE RELE
HKS$ 000 HKS 000 HKS$ 000 HK$ 000
FET FET FET FET
At 31 March 2021 R20215F3H31H
Bank borrowings RITIEE 7,191 1,063 8,854 8,757
At 31 March 2020 720209F3 A 318
Bank borrowings RITEE 5,768 — 5,768 5,704

34.4 Interest rate risk

34.4 R X b

Interest rate risk relates to the risk that the fair value or cash
flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes
in the market interest rates. The Group's interest rate risk arises
primarily from bank borrowings and lease liabilities. The Group's
borrowings bearing variable rates and fixed rates expose the
Group to cash flow interest rate risk and fair value interest rate
risk respectively. The exposure to interest rates for the Group’s
short term bank deposits is considered immaterial.

MEERIDEREBTANAREER
KB ERERTHFRE B MK S
MERER - AEENFRRRE
BRERTEERHEERE - &F
HREEMNEFENAEEEED
AIEREEAERSRENTAR
RARBEMNERR AEBEE
HIRITEFAEONETREREM -
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34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 3. BBEARBEERAAEBENE
VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continved) (%)

34.4 Interest rate risk (Continued) 34.4 R R E bz )
The effective interest rates of the Group's borrowings at the REENEERBREBNERNE

reporting date were as follows: m
2021 2020
20215 20204
Effective Effective
Interest rate HKS$ 000 Interest rate HK$ 000
B R A= FET BRI = FET
Variable rate borrowings FEREEE
— Bank borrowings —RITEE 4.5% 6,717 2.7% 200
Fixed rate borrowings EFEEE
— Bank borrowings —R1TEE 4.0% 2,040 4.5% 5,504
— Lease liabilities —HHEBaE 4.0-4.7% 13,805 4.6% 20,210
Total borrowings BEE 22,562 25,914
Fixed rate borrowings as EFEEES
percentage of total BEEBDL
borrowings M% 99%

R2021F 38318 » W ZFEFXREER

As at 31 March 2021, if interest rate for variable rate borrowings

had increased/decreased by 50 basis points with all other
variables held constant, the profit after income tax would have
been HK$28,000 (2020: HK$1,000) lower/higher and retained
profits would have been HK$28,000 (2020: HK$1,000) lower/
higher.

The assumed changes in interest rates are considered to be
reasonably possible based on observation of current market
conditions and represents management’'s assessment of a
reasonably possible change in interest rate over the next twelve
month period.

The calculations are based on a change in average market
interest rates for each period, and the financial instruments held
at each reporting date that are sensitive to changes in interest
rates. All other variables are held constant. The sensitivity
analysis included in the consolidated financial statements of the
year ended 31 March 2020 has been prepared on the same basis.
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M= T T RES0EE R - BATAH
B EBRFETE - AIBRATEHES
3R A, 1 1n28,0003% 7T (20204 :
1,00058 7T) + 1R B8 %55 F #5838 0
28,0007 7T (20204 : 1,0005 7T) °

REURTTROBE - FIEBHR
EHRAAABTRLED  LRE
FREHART—EAMEAES
A 4 5 B 0 3T 45 -
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34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR . BBEABEERAAEBENE

VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continved) ()
34.5 Hh & B

34.5 Foreign currency risk

Foreign currency risk refers to the risk that the fair value or future
cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of
changes in foreign exchange rates. The Group’s exposures to
currency risk arise from its overseas sales and purchases, which
are primarily denominated in Euro (“EUR") and USD. These
are not the functional currencies of the group entities to which
these transactions relate. The Group has bank balances and
cash, bank borrowings and cash surrender value of life insurance
denominated in foreign currencies, primarily in EUR and USD.

Foreign currency denominated financial assets and liabilities,

SRR TDESR T ANRREE
FARRRERERAINEEZTEFHM
HBNEBRER ASENEER
BRAZKBEBIIMNEERRE X
BT R ETTAE - RTRET
WHZERZMEEBEERBNINEE
B AEEBEBUIINE(ZERR
TTRETT)FHENRITERIES -
RITBERASRBOBHREE
e

MONERHEMEREE RBBIRK

translated into HK$ at the closing rates, are as follows: MEXRBERBTIT
usbD EUR
ETT BT
HKS$ 000 HKS$ 000
FET FER
As at 31 March 2021 7A202153 8318
Cash surrender value of life insurance ASRENBORSEE 1,847 —
Trade and other receivables B 5 & H b JE WG IR 78 39,223
Bank balances and cash RITHEHB LIRS 969 2,848
Trade and other payables B 5 Kk E MR FRIE — (3,307)
Bank borrowings RITIEE — (6,717)
Overall net exposure LR b R IE R 2,894 32,047
As at 31 March 2020 74202053 H31H
Cash surrender value of life insurance ASRBNBRHOESEE 1,789 —
Trade and other receivables B 5 & H W FRIE 341 41,975
Bank balances and cash RITHEHB LIRS 579 1,630
Trade and other payables B 5 K H b FETFRIE (265) (6,860)
Bank borrowings HwITEE (200) (5,504)
Overall net exposure FERE R bR A E R AR 2,244 31,241

Since HK$ is pegged to USD, the Group's exposure to foreign
currency risk is considered as minimal. The Group is mainly

exposed to the effects of fluctuation in EUR.

ERBTTEETHS  AEEEYH
MSNERBRIEE R TRE - AR

BEXr2EmHBTRBTE

H LB o
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34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continved)

34.5 Foreign currency risk (Continued)
As at 31 March 2021, if EUR had strengthened/weakened by
5% against HK$ with all other variables held constant, the
profit after income tax would have been HK$1,338,000 (2020:
HK$1,304,000) higher/lower and retained profits would have
been HK$1,308,000 (2020: HK$1,304,000) higher/lower.

34.6 Fair value measurements of financial
instruments
Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value in the
consolidated statement of financial position are grouped into
three levels of a fair value hierarchy. The three levels are defined
based on the observability and significance of inputs to the
measurements, as follows:

Level 1: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for
identical assets and liabilities.

Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included within
Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability,
either directly or indirectly and not using significant
unobservable inputs.

Level 3: significant unobservable inputs for the asset or
liability.

The level in the fair value hierarchy within which the financial
asset or liability is categorised in its entirety is based on
the lowest level of input that is significant to the fair value
measurement.
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3. BBEARBEERAAEBENE

(%)
34.5

34.6

SN R B )

MR20213A318 BT BT £
S RBS% - BT M # HRET
B RIBRATIS BL& 5 R A1 00, R A
1,338,0007% 7T (20204F : 1,304,0007% 7T) *
1R BB FI #5182 hn Rt 421,308,000 7T
(20204F : 1,304,000 JT) °

TRITANDIAEENE

REBBRARANRRIABETE
MEREERBERRARAEE
REN=FEER Z=EERHE
REAENBABEBENABEREER
BEEMRENT:

FIE: HREEMBEREZRED
BHRECRIEAR) -

F2E: BEEAHEBEUBENEE
HBBEBHABE(TEES
EFESN®RE) RAER
EATAEBEEGARE -
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R ARE -
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34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 4. BERAKBREERAAEBENE
VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continved) (%)
34.6 Fair value measurements recognised in the 306 REEHMBRRKRERZHN

consolidated statement of financial position
(Continued)

The financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value in the
consolidated statement of financial position on a recurring basis
are grouped into the fair value hierarchy as follows:

AREEFTE®)

REAMBRARAREEEELE
NARBEFENEREENAR
EAREEREBTRYBENT:

> o I

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
F1E EE E3E @5t

Notes  HK$'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000
Wi  FEx  FExT  FExT  TFER

At 31 March 2021 M202153H31H
Financial assets at fair value through profit ZEBEFE ARBE
or loss NEREMNERMEE
— Cash surrender value of life — ASRENEBY (2
insurance HeER — 1,847 — 1,847

BRERRANEE
JIRE &M AGE

Financial liabilities at fair value through
profit or loss

— Contingent consideration payable — BN ARE (b) — — (3.362) (3,362)
At 31 March 2020 202063 A31H
Financial assets at fair value through profit & BB 253 AR A BE
or loss IR ERmEE
— Cash surrender value of life — AEREHED (5
insurance HeEE — 1,789 — 1,789

BRBERRANEE
JIRM &R AE
—ENEARE

Financial liabilities at fair value through
profit or loss

— Contingent consideration payable (b) — — (18,033) (18,033)

H = 2021F K 20205F3A3NH IEFE -

During the years ended 31 March 2021 and 2020, there were no
transfers of fair value measurements between Level 1, Level 2
and Level 3.

The methods and valuation techniques used for the purpose
of measuring fair values categorised in Levels 2 and 3 are
unchanged compared to the previous reporting periods and are
described below.

(a)  Cash surrender value of life insurance
The fair value of the cash surrender value of life insurance
was determined based on the valuation provided by the
counterparty financial institution by reference to the
quoted price of the underlying units held.

FIE F2ERFIBZELEAR
BEFENEE-

ARAEFRIERFIEBAALBED
7778 R A B Bl B2 38 1 e o5 5 A
b3 AL R R Al -

(a) ERBOBINREER
ABRBOBORSEBENR
REENRBESBEEY T
REMME L2 EMFHER
BUMREMET -
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34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 3. BBEARBEERAAEBENE

VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continved) (%)

34.6 Fair value measurements recognised in the 346 NEEMBMRRKREZHN

consolidated statement of financial position

(Continued)

(b)  Contingent consideration payable
The valuation technique and significant unobservable
inputs of the fair value of contingent consideration
payable are as follows:

Valuation technique Significant unobservable inputs

il B 2 97 EXTUBERARE

AREEFTE®E)

(b)) ENHARKE

ENHAREAREBEENGE
Rtk BRI B REABE
LI

Sensitivity relationship of
unobservable inputs to fair value
RABEHRTEEGABRED

Probability-weighted payout Probability of achieving the projected

approach revenue and net profit before tax of
Italiving for the year ending 31 December
2021 (2020: years ending 31 December
2020 and 2021)

1B N i SR B Z2021%12 8318 1k F [Z (2020
F o BE 20205 R 2021512 A31B 1E
FE)EABREZHRERBT K=
Ko F 150 B 4 N ) 48 =

Discount rate
R %
The reconciliation of the carrying amounts of the Group's

contingent consideration payable classified within Level 3
of the fair value hierarchy is as follows:

The higher of the probability, the higher of
the fair value, and vice versa

T RZIR

S ®
g
[
an
)
3
W
i
[
ot

The higher of the discount rate, the lower
of the fair value, and vice versa

FREMS  RABERE Rz

FEESBREAABEEES
SEMENIKARENEE S
RE R

Contingent

consideration

payable

ENSARE

HK$ 000

FHET

At 1 April 2019 720194 A1 26,987
Fair value change recognised in profit or loss RIEZEIANAAEBEE 3,385
Reclassification (Note 21(b)) EH DB F210) (12,339)
At 31 March 2020 and 1 April 2020 7R2020F3 A318 20204 A1H 18,033
Fair value change recognised in profit or loss RIEZEIZNAAEBESE 2,633
Reclassification (Note 21(b)) =D (M i 21(b)) (17,304)
At 31 March 2021 20213 A831H 3,362

Fair value change on contingent consideration payable is
recognised in profit or loss.
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For the year ended 31 March 2021

A ISR M EE

HE01F3ANBIEFE

CAPITAL MANAGEMENT 5. EXAEE
The objectives of the Group when managing capital are to safeguard the AEEEREANBERARERNEBEFE
ability of the Group in continuing as a going concern in order to provide LEMEE N B ARRTREHREAE
returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and to MmFENERENSE  THEFREERRE
maintain an optimal capital structure to enhance shareholders’ value in BUARAKRRRREE -
the long term.
The Group actively and regularly reviews its capital structure and makes NEBEESRTEHRTERERE  WHEEL
adjustments in light of changes in economic conditions. The Group EMRAE(IELAE AEBRBFE
monitors its capital structure on the basis of the net debt to equity ratio. EHE R RERENER - FEEREY
The net debt to equity ratio is calculated based on total borrowings R EEXNEREANBREE(REM
(including lease liabilities), divided by the total equity at each reporting EEE) BINAERTE ABELHA
date. In order to maintain or adjust the ratio, the Group may adjust the BZEE  AEBEEAERRKRRIRSH
amount of dividends paid to shareholders, issue new shares, raise new RESE BITHRGOD HEEHEBR
debt financing or sell assets to reduce debt. B HEBEURDER -
The net debt to equity ratio at each reporting date was: REREANFEBLHERL XA
2021 2020
20215 20204F
HKS$'000 HK$ 000
FET FET
Bank borrowings RITEE 8,757 5,704
Lease liabilities HE&E 13,805 20,210
Total borrowings BIEE 22,562 25914
Total Equity R 70,395 55,545
Gross gearing ratio (%) FEEYEREE (%) 321% 46.7%

TREE HOLDINGS LIMITED 25 R#Z R BBR 2 & Annual Report £ 3R 2021



196

FINANCIAL SUMMARY
MR

FINANCIAL SUMMARY MEBE
A summary of results, and assets and liabilities of the Group for the last five @~ANEERBERETREENEEUAREER
financial years, as extracted from the audited consolidated financial statements B EM Z S EEEZ S A M B R K - 5

is set out below: (N
RESULTS E
2021 2020 2019 2018 2017
20215 20205 2019F 20184 201746
HKS 000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$ 000 HKS 000
FAET FET FET FET FET
Revenue g 120,551 91,103 85,408 79,073 77,316
Cost of sales HWEKA (46,330) (25,842) (27,497) (25,515) (26,303)
Gross profit EF 74221 65,261 57911 53,558 51,013
Other income Hep g A 4,538 155 204 134 286
Selling and marketing expenses HERMEHERS (37,7191) (33,652) (36,982) (34,128) (32,806)
Administrative expenses THHEZ (18,921) (19,361) (18,821) 11,597) (12,118
Fair value change on contingent ERIAREBORAEES
consideration payable (2,633) (3,385) - - -
Provision for impairment of trade B oW TIBRERE
receivables (200) (700) - - -
Listing-related expenses TmiEBERY - - - 15,747) 10,066)
Share-based compensation expense DRDAEROBERS - - - (656) (2331)
Finance costs HBAA (1,310) (741) 269) 316) (140)
Profit /(Loss) before income tax BRATEHARR(HR) 17,904 71577 2,043 (8,752) 6,162)
Income tax expense FERAX (3,345) (2,361) (951) (1,350) (986)
Profit /(Loss) for the year attributable FAXATEZEFA
to equity holders of the Company EEER (H8) 14,559 5,216 1092 (10,102) (7,148)
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BEENRBE
2021 2020 2019 2018 2017
20215 20205 2019F 20184 20174
HKS 000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000
FAET FET FET FET FET
Total assets BEE 138,210 129,128 101,703 64,716 29,836
Total liabilities BEE (67,875) (73,583) (51,296 (15,401) (18.479)
Total equity BED 70,395 55,545 50,407 49,315 11,357
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